
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 06, 2023 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of January 17, 2023. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Presentations 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 
business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public Hearing on the proposed plans, specifications and forms of contract & estimate of cost for the 
Hudson Road & West Ridgeway Avenue Intersection Improvements Project. 

a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 01/23/2023) 

b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 

c) Staff comments. 

d) Public comments. 

e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the Hudson Road & West Ridgeway Avenue Intersection Improvements Project. 

3. Public Hearing on the proposed plans, specifications and forms of contract & estimate of cost for the 
Oak Park Boulevard Sanitary Sewer Replacement Project. 

a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 01/23/2023) 

b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 

c) Staff comments. 

d) Public comments. 

e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the Oak Park Boulevard Sanitary Sewer Replacement Project. 

Old Business 

1



Page 2 of 3 

4. Pass Ordinance #3023, amending the Zoning Map by placing property located on Lots 5 and 6 of the 
Midway Business Park in the R-4, Multiple Unit Residentail Zoning District, pursuant to provisions of 
a Zoning Agreement, upon its second consideration. 

5. Pass Ordinance #3024, amending the Zoning Map by removing property generally described as Lots 
1-4 of Midway Second Addition from the R-4, Multiple Unit Residential Zoning District, to the R-1, 
One & Two Unit Residential Zoning District, upon its second consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

6. Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of January 17, 2023 relative to the 
following item: 
a) FY2023-FY2028 Capital Improvements Program (CIP). 

7. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions:  
a) Julie Etheredge, Historic Preservation Commission, term ending 03/31/26. 
b) Sally Timmer, Historic Preservation Commission, term ending 03/31/26. 

8. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of December 2022. 

9. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Asian Fusion Vietnamese and Thai Cuisine, 5725 University Avenue, Special Class C retail 
alcohol - renewal  
b) Cottonwood Canyon, 419 Washington Street, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
c) Chad's Pizza and Restaurant, 909 West 23rd Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
d) Sakura Japanese Steakhouse & Sushi Bar, 5719 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
e) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
f) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class C beer & Class B wine – change in ownership. 
g) Kwik Star, 4515 Coneflower Parkway, Class C beer & Class B wine – change in ownership. 
h) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B wine – change in ownership. 
i) Kwik Spirits, 4116 University Avenue, Class E retail alcohol – change in ownership. 
j) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service – 
8-month permit. 
k) Great Walls, 2125 College Street, Class B retail alcohol - new. 
l) Hy-Vee Fast and Fresh, 6527 University Avenue, Class B retail alcohol – new. 
m) Pheasant Ridge Golf Course, 3205 West 12th Street, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service - new. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

10. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

11. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Terminal Leave of Absence, Resignation, and 
Mutual Release Agreement with John Bostwick relative to employment with the City. 

12. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Advertising Agreement with Lee Enterprises, 
Incorporated, d/b/a Courier Communications, relative to recruitment advertising. 

13. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a First Amendment to Professional Services 
Agreement with Berry, Dunn, McNeil & Parker, LLC relative to replacement of the City's financial 
system. 

14. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with OPN 
Architects, Inc. relative to the Hearst 2.0 Master Plan Project. 

2



Page 3 of 3 

15. Resolution approving a PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District site plan for construction of a 
retail building at 930 Viking Road. 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of one Owner Purchase Agreement and one 
Amended and Substituted Owner Purchase Agreement, in conjunction with the Main Street 
Reconstruction Project. 

17. Resolution approving and accepting a Warranty Deed, in conjunction with the Main Street 
Reconstruction Project. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a License Agreement with Aureon Network 
Services relative to installing a fiber optic telecommunications system within the public right-of-way of 
West 27th Street near the Greenhill Road intersection. 

19. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Municipal Pipe Tool 
Company, LLC for the 2022 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 4C to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for platting and engineering services 
relative to West Viking Road Industrial Park - Phase VI. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 10B to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for design services relative to the 
West Viking Road Reconstruction and Recreational Trail Infill Project.  

22. Resolution receiving and filing, and approving the plans, specifications and estimate of cost for the 
Highway 58 & Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction Project. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

23. Allow Bills and Claims for February 6, 2023. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

24. Refer to the Public Works Committee a request for no parking on Bluebell Road. 

25. Refer to the Public Works Committee a request to review snow removal practices and policies. 

26. Refer to the Public Works Committee a request for a four-way stop at Lone Tree Road and Center 
Street intersection. 

27. Refer to the Public Works Committee a request to review pedestrian crosswalks for University 
Avenue and Center Street. 

28. Refer to the Public Works Committee a request to review traffic patterns for student pick-up/drop-off 
at North Cedar, Aldrich, Orchard Hill and Southdale elementary schools. 

Adjournment 

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, JANUARY 17, 2023 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 8:03 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Green led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

54116 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that the minutes of the Regular 
Meeting of January 3, 2023 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54117 - Public Safety Captain Zolondek announced formalized CPR/AED training to be 

held at the Public Safety Building at 9AM the first Sunday of every month. 
  
54118 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of January 6, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed FY2023-
FY2028 Capital Improvements Program (CIP). It was then moved by Ganfield 
and seconded by Dunn that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be 
received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54119 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed CIP. Upon being advised that there was one written communication on 
file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Finance & Business Operations 
Director Rodenbeck provided a summary of the proposed CIP as amended in the 
Committee Meeting held prior to this meeting. Following comments by UNI 
President Mark Nook, Sara Miller,1626 Mandalay Drive, and Black Hawk Area 
Swim Team (BLST) Coach Melissa Woltz, 3222 Pendleton Drive, the Mayor 
declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
54120 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #23,034, 

approving and adopting the FY2023-FY2028 Capital Improvements Program 
(CIP) as amended in the Committee Meeting, be adopted. Following a question 
by Councilmember deBuhr and response by Finance & Business Operations 
Director Rodenbeck, it was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Harding to 
amend the motion to change the source of funding for item #71 from $110,000 
from GO fund to $100,000 from GFS and $10,000 from GO. Motion carried 
unanimously. Following comments by Councilmember Sires, deBuhr, and Dunn, 
and UNI Student Liaison Hackbart, and responses by Rodenbeck, City 
Administrator Gaines and Mayor Green, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion as amended and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Dunn, Schultz. 
Nay: Sires. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,034 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

54121 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Harding that Resolution #23,035, 
declaring an official intent under Treasury Regulation 1.150-2 to issue debt to 
reimburse the City for certain original expenditures paid in connection with 
specified projects, be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, 
Dunn, Schultz. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#23,035 duly passed and adopted. 

54122 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of January 6, 
2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed rezoning 
to R-4, Multiple Unit Residential Zoning District, pursuant to a Zoning Agreement, 
for property located on Lots 5 and 6, Midway Business Park. It was then moved 
by deBuhr and seconded by Kruse that the proof of publication of notice of 
hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54123 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed rezoning. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planning & 
Community Services Manager Howard provided a brief summary of the proposal. 
There being no one else present wishing to speak about the rezoning, the Mayor 
declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
54124 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3023, 

amending the Zoning Map by placing property located on Lots 5 and 6 of the 
Midway Business Park in the R-4, Multiple Unit Residential Zoning District, 
pursuant to provisions of a Zoning Agreement, be passed upon its first 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, 
Schultz. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54125 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of January 6, 

2023, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed rezoning 
from R-4, Multiple Unit Residential, to R-1, One & Two Unit Residential, for Lots 
1-4 of Midway Second Addition. It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by 
Schultz that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed 
on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54126 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed rezoning. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planning & 
Community Services Manager Howard provided a brief summary of the proposal. 
There being no one else present wishing to speak about the rezoning, the Mayor 
declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
54127 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3024, 

amending the Zoning Map by removing property generally described as Lots 1-4 
of Midway Second Addition from the R-4, Multiple Unit Residential Zoning 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

District, to the R-1, One & Two Unit Residential Zoning District, be passed upon 
its first consideration. Following questions by Mayor Green and Councilmembers 
deBuhr and Ganfield, and responses by Planning & Community Services 
Manager Howard, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the 
roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, Schultz. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54128 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Ganfield that the following items on 

the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of January 3, 2023 
relative to the following items: 
a) Council Policy Development. 

Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of January 3, 
2023 relative to the following items: 
a) Annual Report of Library. 
b) RETF items implemented by Public Safety. 

Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C retail 
alcohol - renewal. 
b) Fraternal Order of Eagles, 2125 West Lone Tree Road, Class C retail alcohol 
& outdoor service - renewal. 
c) Kwik Spirits, 4116 University Avenue, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

 Motion carried unanimously. 

54129 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Dunn to approve the following 
recommendation of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to Boards 
and Commissions:  
a) Shirley Merner, Health Trust Fund Board of Trustees, term ending 12/31/28. 

 
Following comments by Councilmember Ganfield and response by Mayor Green, 
the motion carried 6-1, with deBuhr voting Nay. 

 
54130 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that the following resolutions 

be introduced and adopted: 
 

 Resolution #23,036, approving and adopting amendments to the City's 
Accounting Policies and Procedures and Purchasing Manual. 

 Resolution #23,037, approving and authorizing execution of a Contract with 
Exceptional Persons, Inc. (EPI) relative to Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funding for service agencies. 

Resolution #23,038, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of ultraviolet (UV) disinfection lamps for the Water Reclamation facility. 

 Resolution #23,039, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

work of Aspro, Inc. for the College Hill Parking Lot Improvements Project. 

 Resolution #23,040, approving and authorizing execution of a License 
Agreement with Aureon Network Services relative to installing a fiber optic 
telecommunications system within the West 2nd Street public right-of-way. 

 Resolution #23,041, approving and authorizing execution of a License 
Agreement with Windstream Intellectual Property Services, LLC relative to 
installing a fiber optic telecommunications system within the West 12th Street 
and Union Road public right-of-way. 

 Resolution #23,042, approving and authorizing execution of an Owner Purchase 
Agreement; and approving and accepting one Temporary Construction 
Easement, in conjunction with the Oak Park Sanitary Sewer Repair Project. 

 Resolution #23,043, approving and accepting completion of public improvements 
in Wild Horse Ridge Fifth Addition. 

 Resolution #23,044, approving and accepting completion of public improvements 
in Wild Horse Ridge Sixth Addition. 

 Resolution #23,045, approving and accepting a Warranty Deed, in conjunction 
with the Main Street Reconstruction Project. 

 Resolution #23,046, receiving and filing, and setting February 6, 2023 as the 
date of public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & 
estimate of cost for the Hudson Road & West Ridgeway Avenue Intersection 
Improvements Project. 

 Resolution #23,047, receiving and filing, and setting February 6, 2023 as the 
date of public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & 
estimate of cost for the Oak Park Boulevard Sanitary Sewer Replacement 
Project.  

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, Schultz. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,036 through #23,047 duly 
passed and adopted. 

54131 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #23,048, 
approving the final plat of Wild Horse Ridge Sixth Addition, be adopted. Following 
questions by Councilmembers Ganfield and Harding, and responses by 
Community Development Director Sheetz, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, Schultz. Nay: None. Motion 
Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,048 duly passed and adopted. 

54132 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the bills and claims of 
January 17, 2022 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, 
Schultz. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

     
54133 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield to refer to the Community 

Development Committee review of a potential change order to the Main Street 
Reconstruction Project to include a mini round-a-bout at the 6th and Main Street 
intersection and other potential cost savings. Following comments by 
Councilmembers Dunn, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Schultz and deBuhr, and 
Mayor Green, and responses by Public Works Director Schrage and City 
Administrator Gaines, the motion carried 4-3, with deBuhr, Harding and Dunn 
voting Nay. 

   
  It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse to refer to the Community 

Development Committee review of green space policies within the subdivision 
ordinance. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54134 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Hardin that the meeting be adjourned at 

9:05 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
    ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

8

Item 1.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
  
 FROM: Luke Andreasen, PE 
 
 DATE: January 27, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Various Intersection Improvements  
  City Project Number: TS-000-3294  
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the Various Intersection Improvements. 
 
This project consists of improvements at three city intersections. A new traffic signal at 
Hudson/Ridgeway, and landscaping improvements in the roundabout intersections at 
Prairie Parkway/Prairie View Road and Prairie Parkway/Brandilynn Boulevard. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $724,625.00. There is a 
$40,000 private contribution for the roundabout landscaping in this project. The 
remaining funds will be provided by General Obligation Bonds, Local Sales Tax, Street 
Construction Fund, and Tax increment Financing. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving the 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the Various Intersection 
Improvements. 
 
xc: David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

9

Item 2.



HUDSON ROAD & W RIDGEWAY AVENUE INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS - FINAL 01/04/2023

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

Division 1: INT-1 & INT 2 ROUNDABOUT LANDSCAPING TS-000-3294

Division 2: RIDGEWAY & HUDSON ROAD TRAFFIC SIGNALS 121.1031.08

DIV 1 DIV 2 DIV 1 DIV 2

Roundabouts

Traffic 

Signal Roundabouts Traffic Signal

1 2010-D-3 Topsoil, Off-site CY 674 0 35.00$          23,590.00$         -$                 23,590.00$            

2 2010-E Excavation, Class 10 CY 2199 0 35.00$          76,965.00$         -$                 76,965.00$            

3 8010-A Traffic Signal LS 0 1 286,000.00$ -$                   286,000.00$     286,000.00$          

4 8020-B Painted Pavement Markings, Waterborne STA 0 5.77 450.00$        -$                   2,596.50$        2,596.50$              

5 8020-G Painted Symbols and Legends EA 0 4 150.00$        -$                   600.00$           600.00$                 

6 8030-A Temporary Traffic Control LS 0.5 0.5 15,000.00$   7,500.00$           7,500.00$        15,000.00$            

7 8940-A Sign Panels SF 32.0 6.3 60.00$          1,920.00$           378.00$           2,298.00$              

8 8940-B Sign Posts LF 88 0 90.00$          7,920.00$           -$                 7,920.00$              

9 8940-C Removal of Sign EA 4 0 150.00$        600.00$              -$                 600.00$                 

10 8940-D Removal and Reinstallation of Sign EA 4 0 500.00$        2,000.00$           -$                 2,000.00$              

11 9010-A Convetional Seeding, Fertlizing, and Mulching, Native Seed AC 0.08 0 34,000.00$   2,720.00$           -$                 2,720.00$              

12 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, Type 1 Seed Mixture AC 0.41 0 5,000.00$     2,050.00$           -$                 2,050.00$              

13 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, Type 2 Seed Mixture AC 0 0.21 4,000.00$     -$                   840.00$           840.00$                 

14 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, Type 4 Seed Mixture AC 0 0.21 3,500.00$     -$                   735.00$           735.00$                 

15 9030-B Plants, Lump Sum, With Warranty LS 1 0 41,000.00$   41,000.00$         -$                 41,000.00$            

16 9030-999-A Mulch, Shredded Bark CY 40 0 270.00$        10,800.00$         -$                 10,800.00$            

17 9030-999-B Mulch, Rock CY 8 0 432.00$        3,456.00$           -$                 3,456.00$              

18 9040-A-2 SWPPP Management LS 0.55 0.45 4,000.00$     2,200.00$           1,800.00$        4,000.00$              

19 9040-D-1 Filter Sock, 12" LF 792 54 4.00$            3,168.00$           216.00$           3,384.00$              

20 9040-D-2 Filter Sock, Removal LF 792 54 1.25$            990.00$              67.50$             1,057.50$              

21 9040-E-0 Temporary RECP, Type 2C SY 403 0 5.00$            2,015.00$           -$                 2,015.00$              

22 9040-N-1 Silt Fence LF 0 285 3.00$            -$                   855.00$           855.00$                 

23 9040-N-2 Silt Fence Removal of Sediment LF 0 285 0.60$            -$                   171.00$           171.00$                 

24 9040-N-3 Silt Fence Removal of Device LF 0 285 1.20$            -$                   342.00$           342.00$                 

25 11010-A Monument Preservation and Replacement LS 0 1 2,500.00$     -$                   2,500.00$        2,500.00$              

26 11020-A Mobilization LS 0.55 0.45 50,000.00$   27,500.00$         22,500.00$      50,000.00$            

27 11050-A Concrete Washout LS 1 0 2,000.00$     2,000.00$           -$                 2,000.00$              

28 000-9999-A Monument EA 8 0 18,000.00$   144,000.00$       -$                 144,000.00$          

29 000-9999-B Limestone Edging, 6" WIDE TON 22 0 915.00$        20,130.00$         -$                 20,130.00$            

30 000-9999-C Electrical & Lighting LS 1 0 15,000.00$   15,000.00$         -$                 15,000.00$            

397,524.00$    327,101.00$  724,625.00$       CONSTRUCTION TOTAL:

 TOTAL COST 

OPINION OF PROBABLE PROJECT COSTS

ITEM 

#
ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT

QUANTITY

UNIT PRICE

EXTENDED PRICE

10

Item 2.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Oak Park Sanitary Sewer Repair Project 
  City Project Number: SA-002-3182 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the Oak Park Sanitary Sewer Repair Project. 
 
This project involves the installation of a lift station on Minnetonka Drive in Cedar Falls, 
IA, installation of 498 linear feet of force main, 166 linear feet of gravity sewer, and 66 
linear feet of water main. The project also includes replacement of storm sewer and 
subdrain, PCC pavement and sidewalks, landscaping, electrical work, erosion control, 
seeding, and other miscellaneous items required to complete the work. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $442,200.00. The City will 
use Sanitary Sewer Revenue Bonds for the design, right of way, and construction of this 
project. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving the 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the Oak Park Sanitary 
Sewer Repair Project. 
 
xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 

11

Item 3.



1/6/2023

1 2010-C Clearing and Grubbing LS 1 5,000.00$              5,000.00$              
2 2010-D-1 Topsoil, On-site CY 190 13.00$                   2,470.00$              
3 2010-G Subgrade Preparation SY 276 2.00$                     552.00$                 
4 2010-I Subbase, 12" Modified SY 191 16.00$                   3,056.00$              
5 2010-J-1 Removal of Structure LS 1 20,000.00$            20,000.00$            
6 2010-L Compaction Testing LS 1 6,000.00$              6,000.00$              
7 3010-C Trench Foundation TON 18 26.00$                   468.00$                 
8 3010-D Replacement of Unsuitable Backfill Material CY 119 31.00$                   3,689.00$              
9 3010-F Trench Compaction Testing LS 1 3,000.00$              3,000.00$              

10 4010-A-1 Sanitary Sewer Gravity Main, Trenched, PVC, LF 166 70.00$                   11,620.00$            
11 4010-C-1 Sanitary Sewer Force Main, Trenched, HDPE, 2" LF 156 30.00$                   4,680.00$              
12 4010-C-2 Sanitary Sewer Force Main, Trenchless, HDPE, 2" LF 300 75.00$                   22,500.00$            
13 4010-D-1 Sanitary Sewer Force Main with Casing Pipe, LF 42 120.00$                 5,040.00$              
14 4010-E Sanitary Sewer Service Stub, PVC, SDR 23.5, 4" LF 24 100.00$                 2,400.00$              
15 4010-H Removal of Sanitary Sewer, All Types and Sizes LF 277 10.00$                   2,770.00$              
16 4010-I Sanitary Sewer Cleanout EA 2 2,400.00$              4,800.00$              
17 4010-L Sanitary Sewer Abandonment, Fill and Plug LF 50 50.00$                   2,500.00$              
18 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, RCP, 15" LF 20 80.00$                   1,600.00$              
19 4020-D Removal of Storm Sewer, RCP, 15" LF 20 60.00$                   1,200.00$              
20 4040-A Subdrain, Type 1, 6" LF 50 16.00$                   800.00$                 
21 5010-A-1 Water Main, Trenched, DIP, 6" LF 66 40.00$                   2,640.00$              
22 5010-C-1 Water Main Fittings, 6" EA 4 400.00$                 1,600.00$              
23 5010-H Water Main Removal, 6" LF 51 51.00$                   2,601.00$              
24 6010-A Manhole, SW-303, 48" EA 1 5,000.00$              5,000.00$              
25 6010-C-1 Internal Drop Connection EA 1 1,000.00$              1,000.00$              
26 6010-C-2 External Drop Connection EA 1 1,000.00$              1,000.00$              
27 6010-G Connection to Existing Manhole EA 1 1,500.00$              1,500.00$              
28 6010-H Remove Manhole EA 2 2,000.00$              4,000.00$              
29 7010-A Pavement, PCC,  7" SY 171 100.00$                 17,100.00$            
30 7021-A-0 HMA Overlay TON 28.1 120.00$                 3,372.00$              
31 7030-A Removal of Sidewalk SY 61 10.00$                   610.00$                 
32 7030-E Sidewalk, PCC, 4" SY 61 80.00$                   4,880.00$              
33 7030-H-1 Driveway, Paved, PCC, 6" SY 46 60.00$                   2,760.00$              
34 7040-H Pavement Removal SY 216 20.00$                   4,320.00$              
35 8030-A Temporary Traffic Control LS 1 3,000.00$              3,000.00$              
36 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and AC 0.24 5,000.00$              1,200.00$              
37 9020-A Sod SQ 42 75.00$                   3,150.00$              
38 9030-D Plants with Warranty LS 1 2,945.00$              2,945.00$              
39 9030-999-A Mulch, Shredded Bark SF 635 2.50$                     1,587.50$              
40 9030-999-B Landscape Boulders EA 5 350.00$                 1,750.00$              
41 9040-A-2 SWPPP Management LS 1 2,000.00$              2,000.00$              
42 9040-D-1 Filter Sock, 12" LF 1,560 3.00$                     4,680.00$              
43 9040-D-2 Filter Sock, Removal LF 1,560 1.00$                     1,560.00$              
44 9040-E-0 Temporary RECP, Type 4 SY 245 2.50$                     612.50$                 
45 9040-O-1 Stabilized Construction Entrance SY 94 9.00$                     846.00$                 
46 9040-T-1 Inlet Protection Device, Filter Sock EA 2 70.00$                   140.00$                 
47 9040-T-2 Inlet Protection Device, Maintenance EA 2 70.00$                   140.00$                 
48 9999-A Lift Station Column LS 1 25,000.00$            25,000.00$            
49 11,020-A Mobilization LS 1 36,512.00$            36,512.00$            
50 11,050-A Concrete Washout LS 1 1,000.00$              1,000.00$              
51 260000-01 Electrical LS 1 10,000.00$            10,000.00$            
52 333200-01 Lift Station, Complete LS 1 148,981.00$          148,981.00$          

SUBTOTAL (ROUNDED): 402,000.00$          
CONTINGENCY 10% 40,200.00$            

TOTAL 442,200.00$          

UNIT PRICE

OPINION OF PROBABLE PROJECT COSTS

ITEM 

NO.
ITEM CODE ITEM UNIT

OAK PARK BLVD SEWER REPLACEMENT

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

119.0115.08

QUANTITY EXTENDED PRICE

\\Gemini\Volume\Projects\2019\119.0115.08\CADD\EstRefInfo_OakParkBlvd.xlsm
1 of 1

1/6/2023
12

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Chris Sevy, Planner I 

 DATE: January 17, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Zoning Agreement – Midway Business Park 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

New Zoning Agreement - Midway Business Park 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Lucas Moore, Oak District LLC 

LOCATION: 
 

Lots 5 & 6 Midway Business Park: Greenhill Circle 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant submitted a request to amend the zoning restriction placed on Lots 5 and 6 of the 
Midway Business Park subdivision. This restriction only allows for the construction of 
professional service office buildings and the applicant wishes to establish a nursing home/senior 
assisted living facility on said lots. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In the process of preparing an amendment to the zoning agreement it was discovered that there 
was an error in the legal description included in the original zoning agreement from 1994 so it 
did not accurately describe the same properties that were rezoned to R-4 at the time. Since this 
error nullifies that rezoning, the agreement, and any subsequent amendments, it is best to 
rescind the original agreement and draft a new one that includes the conditions that remain 
relevant today, specifically the use restrictions in the Midway Business Park. It is also necessary 
to properly rezone to R-4 as the original resolution to rezone used the same legal description as 
the agreement.  
  
The other two conditions of the original 1994 agreement have already been accomplished. 
Namely, Lovejoy Drive ends in a cul-de-sac, and four single family homes have been 
constructed on the four lots at the end of Lovejoy.  This effectively separates the residential 
neighborhood from the Midway Business Park, so no commercial traffic can flow through the 
neighborhood (see aerial image below). For reference, the minutes from the previous meeting 
are noted below. 
 

13

Item 4.



 
 
Aside from the issue of the legal description of the land this would apply to, no material facts 
regarding the request and staff’s analysis have changed. It should be noted that an amendment 
to the 1994 agreement was approved in 2018 which provided for a nursing home/senior 
assisted living use on lots 7 and 8. With the success of the initial facility, Oak District, the 
applicant would like to take the necessary steps with a new zoning agreement to allow a second 
similar assisted living facility on Lots 5 & 6. If this request is approved, only two lots within the 
Midway Business Park Subdivision will remain undeveloped. 
 
One important issue is that there are four single-family homes at the end of Lovejoy Drive (cul-
de-sac abutting the business park) that were zoned R-4 and were included in the 1994 
agreement to be restricted to single-family use. Since the conditions of the original 1994 
agreement have already been accomplished and the legal description did not entirely 
encompass those lots, the use restrictions may not be enforceable. The property is currently 
zoned R-4, High Density Residential. To ensure that multifamily and non-residential uses are 
not established in that single-family neighborhood counter to the intent of the original agreement 
(however unlikely), staff will be recommending rezoning these properties to R-1 to be consistent 
with the rest of the residential neighborhood.  Staff has reached out to these property owners to 
explain the situation and proposes to rezone their properties to R-1, so staff is bringing that 
forward as a separate rezoning case before Council. 
  

14

Item 4.



ANALYSIS 
To the north, the property abuts a City-owned lot that is used as a stormwater detention basin, 
to the east is the Oak District assisted living facility, to the south is First Security State Bank and 
to the west is an undeveloped lot currently owned by First Security State Bank. 
 
This request is unlike a typical rezoning request because the initial request restricted the usage 
of these two lots to professional office uses. The proposal is to execute a new zoning agreement 
to allow a use that is generally permitted in the R-4 district. All basic utility accommodations 
serve the property including sanitary sewer and a water main to each lot. The developer would 
utilize one connection and the other service connections will need to be abandoned at the 
developers cost. Vehicular access to the property is from Greenhill Circle.  
 
The two lots in question are 1.09 acres in area. The site plan submitted mirrors the previous 
development showing a 9,813 square foot building with 16 units and 11 parking spaces to serve 
the staff and visitors, as most residents are unable to drive. 
 
Based on the proposed development of Lots 5 and 6 in the Midway Business Park addition, staff 
supports this request to allow nursing homes and assisted living facilities in addition to 
professional offices by executing a new zoning agreement. The proposed use, assisted living, is 
allowed in the R-4 zoning district. Reviewing the case history of this zoning agreement and 
subsequent platting of the property, staff finds that this change to the zoning restrictions will be 
compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. The one-story building is similar in height to 
nearby homes and subject to similar building setbacks. Use of the property for supportive 
housing is consistent with the intended purpose of the zone. The traffic to the subject properties 
will not affect the surrounding residential properties because the only access to these lots is 
from Greenhill Circle via Greenhill Road.  
 
The zoning agreement approved in 1994 and revised in 2018 will need to be rescinded and 
replaced by a new zoning agreement which accommodates the proposed assisted living facility. 
The new zoning agreement will only encompass the lots within the Midway Business Park and 
not the four single family lots at the end of Lovejoy. 
 
Two notices were mailed to the adjoining property owners regarding this zoning district 
amendment. Notice of these rezone considerations was published in the WCF Courier on 
December 7, 2022 and notice of Council’s hearing was published in the WCF Courier on 
January 6, 2023. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
At their December 14 meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously 
recommended approval of RZ22-003, a new zoning agreement that encompasses the Midway 
Business Park and restricts the uses to professional offices, nursing homes, and assisted living 
facilities. As part of this action, the resolutions approving the 1994 agreement and the 2018 
amendment will be rescinded. 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission also recommends approval of a proper rezoning of the 
Midway Business Park to R-4 utilizing the correct legal description. 
 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

15

Item 4.



Introduction  
11/22/2022 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a request to rezone 
property in Midway Business Park to R-4 with a new Zoning Agreement. Acting 
Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided background information. 
He explained that staff brought forward a zoning agreement in September for this 
request and it was discovered through that process that there were some errors in 
the original legal description from the 1994 agreement. This consideration is more 
of a formality at this point since the commission previously voted in favor of the 
changes that the applicant has requested. At this time, staff proposes to replace the 
agreement as opposed to amending it, cleaning up provisions that have been 
fulfilled. Staff recommends setting a public hearing to consider a new zoning 
agreement that will encompass the Midway Business Park and restrict the uses to 
professional offices, nursing homes and assisted living facilities. The resolutions 
approving the 1994 agreement and the 2018 amendment will be rescinded. The 
new agreement will be brought forward at the public hearing. Staff also 
recommends setting a public hearing to consider a proper rezoning of the Midway 
Business Park to R-4 utilizing the correct legal description. 
 
Ms. Crisman made a motion to approve move the item forward for public hearing. 
Mr. Larson seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 
ayes (Crisman, Grybovych, Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 
 

Public Hearing 
12/14/2022 

The first item of business was a public hearing for a new zoning agreement 
in Midway Business Park. Acting Chair Lynch introduced the item and Mr. 
Sevy provided background information. He explained that the property sits 
east of Cedar Heights Drive and north of Greenhill Road and the applicant 
would like to build an assisted living facility on Lots 5 and 6 which isn’t 
permitted by the current zoning agreement. It is appropriate to execute a 
new zoning agreement and rezone to R-4 to update the zoning restriction 
and correct the legal description error discussed at the previous meeting. 
Staff recommends approval of the rezoning and the new zoning agreement.  
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Grybovych seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, 
Grybovych, Larson, Lynch and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
Attachments: Location map 
  Lots where assisted living facility is proposed 
  Request Letter 
  Original Zoning Agreement 
  New Agreement 
  Rezone Ordinance 
   

16

Item 4.



Valley
High Park

Greenhill Trail

Ce
da

r H
eig

hts
 Dr

 Tr
ail

â

â

â
â

â

â

â

Greenhill Dr

Mark Dr

Jodi Dr

Sager Ave

Scenic Dr

Valley High Dr

Cardinal Ct

Lovejoy Dr

Greenhill Cir

Cardinal Dr

Cal
lumCt

Greenhill Rd

Ce
da

r H
eig

hts
 Dr

E Greenhill Rd

C-1 R-4

C-2

R-1

R-2

RP

Cedar Falls City Council
January 17, 2023

Zoning Agreement update & Rezone to R-4
Midway Business Park
All properties on Greenhill Circle

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

CenterS t

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

17

Item 4.



18

Item 4.



19

Item 4.



20

Item 4.



21

Item 4.



22

Item 4.



23

Item 4.



24

Item 4.



25

Item 4.



26

Item 4.



27

Item 4.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Chris Sevy, Planner I, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3023 

 

AN ORDINANCE CONDITIONALLY REZONING APPROXIMATELY 7.49 ACRES OF LAND 

DESCRIBED HEREIN TO THE R-4 MULTIPLE RESIDENCE DISTRICT, AMENDING THE 

ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA ACCORDINGLY, AND ADOPTING THE 

CONDITIONAL ZONING AGREEMENT ATTACHED HERETO AND INCORPORATED HEREIN 

 
WHEREAS, a rezoning from the R-1, Residential Zoning District to the R-4, Multiple 

Residence District was approved by City Ordinance No. 2080 on January 9, 1995, which 

ordinance contained a legal description that contained errors, such that the ordinance was 

not indicative of the property that was originally intended to be rezoned as per City records; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, a Zoning Agreement was adopted by City Resolution No. 9798 on 

December 12, 1994 (hereinafter the “Previous Agreement”) which cited the same property legal 

description containing errors; and 

 

WHEREAS, an amendment to the Previous Agreement was approved by City Council 

Resolution No. 21,212 on August 6, 2018 (hereinafter the “Amendment”), which cited the same 

property description as in the Previous Agreement and amended the Previous Agreement to restrict 

the uses on Lots 7 and 8 of the Midway Business Park to professional offices, nursing homes, and 

senior assisted living facilities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Owners of all property intended to be subject to the Previous Agreement are 

requesting another change to allow nursing homes and assisted living facilities, in addition to 

professional offices, on Lots 5 & 6 of the Midway Business Park; and 
 

WHEREAS, Iowa Code 414.5, as amended, provides that a City Council may impose 

reasonable conditions on granting an applicant's rezoning request, over and above existing regulations, 

in order to satisfy public needs directly caused by the requested change; and 

 

WHEREAS, Owners all agree that a New Zoning Agreement, to replace the Previous Agreement 

and the Amendment, be executed which reflects the intent of the Owners to restrict the uses on properties 

within the Midway Business Park to nursing homes, assisted living facilities and professional offices only, 

and that all other provisions of the Previous Agreement and Amendment have been satisfied; and  

 

WHEREAS, under case number RZ22-003, the City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has recommended approval of a rezoning of the property described below to R-4 

Multiple Residence District, subject to the New Zoning Agreement that restricts use of the properties to 

28

Item 4.



professional offices, nursing homes, and assisted living facilities, to ensure compatibility with the 

adjacent residential neighborhood (hereinafter the “New Zoning Agreement”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds it in the best interest of the City to rezone the property 

described below to R-4, Multiple Residence District, pursuant to the New Zoning Agreement 

attached hereto, and by this reference incorporated herein as fully as though set out in this ordinance, 

which conditions are hereby imposed upon the property owners, their successors and assigns, and 

upon the real estate described below, and shall run with the land; and 

  

WHEREAS, the said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III, 

Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is incorporated 

into and made a part of said Ordinance; and 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such hearing 

held on the proposed amendment.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate, be and the same is hereby added to the R-4, 

Multiple Residence District: 

 

Legal Description: 

MIDWAY BUSINESS PARK, CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA 

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the R-4, Multiple Residence 

District, pursuant to a New Zoning Agreement that has been made a part of this ordinance, and the 

amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

Section 3. That City Council Resolution No. 9798 and City Council Resolution No. 

21,212 are hereby rescinded.  

  

INTRODUCED:    January 17, 2023  

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  January 17, 2023  

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

         _________________________ 

         Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

29

Item 4.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Chris Sevy, Planner I 

 DATE: January 17, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Rezone Midway 2nd Addition 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone from R-4 to R-1 

PETITIONER: 
 

City of Cedar Falls 

LOCATION: 
 

Lots 1-4 of Midway 2nd Addition (3019-3028 Lovejoy Dr) (RZ22-005) 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The zoning agreement that restricts the use of these lots to single family in the R-4 District is in 
the process of being rescinded and replaced as errors were discovered in the legal description 
while updating the restrictions in that agreement. The agreement has served its purpose in the 
establishment of single-family uses, and it makes more sense at this time to regulate these lots 
the same as the rest of the residential neighborhood. To ensure that the use of these lots 
remains consistent with the residential neighborhood, staff proposes that they be rezoned from 
R-4 to R-1. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In the process of preparing an amendment to the zoning agreement it was discovered that there 
was an error in the legal description included in the original zoning agreement from 1994 so it 
did not accurately describe the same properties that were rezoned to R-4 at the time. Since this 
error nullifies the agreement and any subsequent amendments, it is best to rescind the original 
agreement and draft a new one that includes the conditions that remain relevant today, 
specifically the use restrictions in the Midway Business Park. 
  
The other two conditions of the original 1994 agreement have already been accomplished. 
Namely, Lovejoy Drive ends in a cul-de-sac, and four single family homes have been 
constructed on the four lots at the end of Lovejoy.  This effectively separates the residential 
neighborhood from the Midway Business Park, so no commercial traffic can flow through the 
neighborhood (see aerial image below).  
 

30

Item 5.



 
 
The four residential properties at the end of Lovejoy Drive are currently zoned R-4, High Density 
Residential. To ensure that multifamily and non-residential uses are not established in that 
single-family neighborhood counter to the intent of the original agreement (however unlikely), 
staff is recommending rezoning these properties to R-1 to be consistent with the rest of the 
residential neighborhood.  Staff has reached out to these property owners to explain the 
situation and discuss rezoning their properties to R-1. 
 
ANALYSIS 
By virtue of the errors in the legal description of the original zoning agreement, the enforceability 
of that agreement is in question. The city is in the process of rescinding and replacing the 
agreement which leaves two options: 

1. Include the residences in the new zoning agreement and continue to regulate the 
residences in that way, or 

2. Rezone the residences to R-1 and regulate them the same as the adjacent homes in the 
neighborhood, which is zoned R-1. 

 
Since, for some time these have not been considered part of the Midway Business Park but an 
addition to the Midway Subdivision, the latter option appears to be more appropriate. Also, 
rezoning to R-1 better defines the rights of the property owners. 
 
Worth noting is that there are platted 20-foot front setbacks that will continue to apply to these 
properties. All other aspects of R-1 District standards will apply.  
 
MINIMUM CRITERIA FOR REZONE 
The following criteria are the minimum consideration for a rezone: 
 

31

Item 5.



1) Is the rezoning request consistent with the Future Land Use Map and the Comprehensive 
Plan? 

Yes, these residences are slated for Low Density Residential on the Future Land Use Map 
 

2) Is the property readily accessible to sanitary sewer service?  
Yes, these are developed lots and each residence is connected to utilities. 

 
3) Does the property have adequate roadway access?  
Yes, the lots are on a cul-de-sac at the end of Lovejoy Drive.    

 
Notice was mailed to the adjoining property owners on September 6, 2022 regarding the zoning 
agreement amendment. Additional notice was mailed on November 4, 2022 regarding the 
change of course to rescind and replace the agreement. Lastly, notice was mailed on November 
16th, 2022 regarding this rezone from R-4 to R-1. 
 
Notice of public hearing regarding these rezone considerations was published in the WCF 
Courier on December 7, 2022 and notice of Council’s hearing was published in the WCF Courier 
on January 6, 2023. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed this proposal and unanimously recommends 
approval of a rezoning of the subject properties from R-4 to R-1.  
 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Introduction  
11/22/2022 

The next item for consideration a rezoning request for Lots 1-4 of Midway 2nd 
Addition. Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided 
background information. He explained that Lots 1-4 were part of the original 
agreement discussed in the previous item. One of the stipulations was that both 
streets would end in a cul-de-sac and these lots would be restricted to residential 
uses and be zoned R-4. Because R-4 has several other uses that are not 
considered residential, the zoning would need to be changed to R-1 for these lots 
so as to be regulated the same as the other residential parcels in the neighborhood. 
Staff recommends setting a public hearing to consider rezoning the subject 
properties from R-4 to R-1.  
 
 Mr. Larson thanked the developer for bringing a great project to the area and 
apologized for any unplanned delays. 
 
Mr. Larson made a motion to move the item to public hearing. Ms. Moser seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, 
Grybovych, Hartley, Larson and Moser), and 0 nays. 
 

32

Item 5.



Public Hearing 
12/14/2022 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a public hearing 
regarding a rezoning of Lots 1-4 in the Midway 2nd Addition. Acting Chair 
Lynch introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided background information. 
He explained that the previous rezoning to R-4 with an associated zoning 
agreement was intended to encompass a larger area that included the 
Lovejoy cul-de-sac. However, the legal description in the previous zoning 
action years ago has an error, so the properties need to be rezoned with the 
correct legal description. Since these four lots are at the end of a cul-de-sac 
that does not connect to the Midway Business Park and have already been 
developed with single family homes, the City is proposing to rezone these 
lots to R-1, so the zoning is consistent with the rest of the residential 
neighborhood.  
 
Ms. Moser made a motion to approve the item. Mr. Larson seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Crisman, 
Grybovych, Larson, Lynch and Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
Attachments: Location map 
  Rezoning Ordinance 
   
   

33

Item 5.



Gree
n

Cr
ee

k

Valley
High Park

Greenhill Trail

Ce
da

r H
eig

hts
 Dr

 Tr
ail

â

â
â

â

â

â

â

â

Ch
ad

wic
k R

d

Cardinal Ct

Leg
acy

 Ln

Lovejoy Dr

Valley High Dr
Cardinal Dr

Cal
lumCt

Greenhill Dr

Ce
da

r H
eig

hts
 Dr

E Greenhill Rd

C-1

R-4

R-1

C-2

R-1

R-2
MU

A-1

RP

Cedar Falls City Council
January 17, 2023

Rezone from R-4 to R-1
Lots 1 through 4, Midway 2nd Addition
3019, 3020, 3027, 3028 Lovejoy Dr.

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

CenterS t

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

34

Item 5.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Chris Sevy, Planner I, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 3024 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA FOR APPROXIMATELY 1.44 ACRES OF LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN, 

REMOVING SAID AREA FROM THE R-4, MULTIPLE RESIDENCE DISTRICT AND 

ADDING IT TO THE R-1, RESIDENCE DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to rezone approximately 1.44 acres of property from R-4, Multiple Residence 

District to R-1, Residence District, more specifically described below; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

finds that the rezoning (Case #RZ22-005) is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Cedar Falls and therefore has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that the property described below shall be removed from the R-4, Multiple Residence District 

and placed in the R-1, Residence District; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best 

interests of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that said proposal be made and approved; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article 

III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance; 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate, be and the same is hereby removed from 

the R-4, Multiple Residence District and added to the R-1, Residence District: 
 

Legal Description 

MIDWAY SECOND ADDITION, CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the R-1, Residence 

35

Item 5.



District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, as amended. 

 

  

INTRODUCED:     January 17, 2023   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   January 17, 2023   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

         _________________________ 

ATTEST:        Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

36

Item 5.



  
 
 

 
MEETING OF STANDING COMMITTEES 

City Hall, 220 Clay Street 
January 17, 2023 

 
The meeting of Standing Committees met at City Hall at 5:45 p.m. on January 17, 2023, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance: Councilmembers Gil Schultz, Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, 
Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Dustin Ganfield, and Dave Sires. Staff members from all City 
Departments and members of the community attended in person.   
 
Finance & Business Operations Committee: 
Chair Dunn called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the Finance & Business 
Operations Committee Agenda, Capital Improvements Program (CIP) and introduced City 
Administrator Ron Gaines. Mr. Gaines gave a brief introduction to establish proposed changes.  Mr. 
Gaines introduced Director of Finance and Business Operations, Jennifer Rodenbeck.  Ms. 
Rodenbeck referenced slides outlining the proposed changes and gave a brief overview of each item:  
#35 – Downtown Parking Ramp Study; #36 – Downtown Parking Structure; #53 – UNI Dome 
Renovation; #70 – High School Pool; #57 – Cedar Valley Placemaking; #59 – Comp Plan and Zoning 
Code Updates; #64 – Resilience Initiatives; and #204 – SCBA Replacement.  Ms. Rodenbeck provided 
clarification for items:  #56 – Cedar River Recreation Project; #119 – Aldrich School Connections; 
#121 – Annual Street Repair; and #135 – Union Road.   
 
Chair Dunn opened for Council discussion on Item #35 – Downtown Parking Ramp Study.  
Councilmembers discussed the need for a parking structure, and should the need be determined by a 
study.  Councilmember Ganfield motioned to move $100,000 funding for the study from FY23 to FY24; 
Councilmember deBuhr seconded.  Chair Dunn asked for public comment; there was none.  Chair 
Dunn called for a vote on the motion to move the funding for the study from FY23 to FY24; Aye:  
Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn; Nay:  none; motion passed.    
 
Chair Dunn opened for Council discussion on Item #36 – Downtown Parking Structure.  
Councilmembers discussed moving the item to the “unfunded” list or pushing the item back to a later 
fiscal year; the need for a study before discussing funding for the structure; that leaving it in the CIP 
shows that Council is looking toward the future of downtown; how moving it from the budget to the 
unfunded list affects the budget by subtracting that amount from the total.  Ms. Rodenbeck and Mr. 
Gaines clarified moving the funds to a different fiscal year versus the unfunded list.  Councilmember 
Harding motioned to move the item to the unfunded list; Councilmember Kruse seconded.  Chair Dunn 
opened for public comment.  Jim Brown, on behalf of the Cedar Falls Economic Development 
Corporation at 200 State Street, spoke in favor of the feasibility study and the future structure as a 
sign of growth and it should be left in the plan.  Kim Bear, on behalf of Community Main Street, spoke 
in favor of the feasibility study and that leaving it in the CIP, not unfunded, shows Council is looking 
toward the future vision of downtown.  Rosemary Beach, 5018 Sage Road, spoke in favor of adding 
public restrooms and the parking ramp.  Councilmembers further discussed moving funding to a 
different fiscal year versus the unfunded list; the importance of doing the feasibility study first.  Chair 
Dunn called for a vote on the motion to move the project to the Unfunded List:  Aye:  deBuhr, Harding, 
Kruse, Ganfield, Sires; Nay:  Dunn, Schultz; motion passed. 
 
Chair Dunn opened for Council discussion in Item #53 – UNI Dome Renovation.  Councilmembers 
discussed reducing the funding by $500,000 to $1,000,000; the potential of a 28E agreement with UNI 
for public utilization of facilities; the revenue currently brought to the community by events held at UNI.  
Councilmember Ganfield moved to reduce EDF by $1,000,000; Councilmember deBuhr asked if that 
included the 28E agreement; yes; Councilmember deBuhr seconded.  Chair Dunn opened for public 
comment.  Mark Nook, President of UNI, spoke regarding UNI’s history in the community, the revenue 
generated in the community by events held there, and the importance of renovation to continue to 
bring events to the Dome in the future; UNI is raising funds privately.  David Harris, UNI Athletic 
Director, spoke to the Dome’s history in the community, what modernizing it will mean for the facility 
and community, and asks Council to show support with the investment.  Councilmembers asked Mr. 
Nook and Mr. Harris about the community revenue generated by Dome events and what could be 
offered in the 28E agreement; community revenue numbers are solely revenue in community, not 
revenue generated by UNI events, and the 28E agreement will need more discussion but the facility 

37

Item 6.



is currently open to the public.  Councilmembers further discussed the impact on the tax rate increase 
for GO funding with the change.  Chair Dunn called for a vote on the motion to decrease funding from 
$3,000,000 to $2,000,000; Aye:  deBuhr, Ganfield, Sires; Nay:  Schultz, Kruse, Harding, Dunn; motion 
failed.  Councilmember deBuhr motioned to reduce funding from $3,000,000 to $2,500,000; 
Councilmember Kruse seconded.  Jim Jermier, VP of University Advancement, 4329 Wild Horse Drive, 
asked Council to consider the full $3,000,000 and to think ahead to what that investment would mean 
for the community in the future.  Chair Dunn called for a vote on the motion to reduce the EDF funding 
for the UNI Dome from $3,000,000 to $2,500,000 including a 28E agreement:  Aye:  Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield; Nay:  Sires, Dunn; motion passed.   
 
Chair Dunn opened for Council discussion on item #70 – High School Pool.  Councilmember Harding 
motioned to take the $500,000 EDF now available and shift to the Pool funding in place of $500,000 
of GO funding; Councilmember Ganfield seconded.  Councilmember deBuhr asked if the remaining 
$200,000 of GO funding could be replaced by a different type of funding; after responses by Ms. 
Rodenbeck and discussion from Council about remaining funding from the previous year’s general 
fund savings, it was determined there are sufficient funds to replace this year’s remaining $200,000 
with the balance from last year.  Councilmember Harding motioned and amendment to his previous 
motion to add replacing $200,000 of this year’s GO funding with $200,000 of last year’s remaining 
general fund savings; Councilmember Kruse seconded; Aye:  Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Ganfield, Sires, Dunn; Nay:  none; motion to amend passed.  Chair Dunn opened for public comment.  
Mike Molero, on behalf of Jump In, 1007 Carriage Lane, stated the two current school pools are in 
disrepair and a pool is needed in the community; he praised the collaboration between the community, 
City, and school district; he thanked Council for their support of the project.  Laura Wilson, 2604 Covey 
Court, spoke in support of the natatorium and emphasized the importance of water safety/swim 
lessons; she stated the new pool will allow larger meets and events to be hosted.  Councilmember 
deBuhr clarified that the 28E agreement will be in effect with the motion on the table; Councilmember 
Harding stated yes.  Chair Dunn spoke in support of the pool and importance of water safety.  Chair 
Dunn called for a vote on the motion to allocate the now available $500,000 in EDF funding to the Pool 
and to allocate $200,000 of the previous year’s general fund savings to replace $700,000 of the current 
year’s GO funding, bringing current year GO funding to $0 including a 28E agreement; Aye:  Schultz, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn; Nay:  none; motion passed. 
 
Chair Dunn opened for Council discussion on Item #57 – Cedar Valley Placemaking.  There was no 
Council discussion.  Councilmember Harding moved to remove $191,510 in GO funding from the 
project; Councilmember Ganfield seconded.  Chair Dunn opened to public comments.  Jim Brown, for 
Cedar Valley Economic Development Corporation, 200 State Street, spoke about different types of 
funding, specifically GO (tax) funding; spoke in favor of funding this and other projects that will bring 
revenue in to the City.  Chair Dunn called for a vote on the motion to remove $191,510 in GO funding 
from the project; Aye:  Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn; Nay:  none; motion 
passed. 
 
Chair Dunn opened for Council discussion on Item #59 – Comp Plan and Zoning Code Updates.  
Councilmember Harding motioned to lower funding to $75,000/year for FY24-28; Chair Dunn 
seconded.  Councilmembers discussed redoing the comp plan; ability to address amount of funding 
needed after the comp plan is completed; internal ordinance drafting ability versus outside consulting, 
considering staff resources; other funding sources; and removing the College Hill TIF as it would 
require funds utilized specifically for the College Hill district.  Councilmember Ganfield motioned to 
amend FY26-FY28 from $75,000/year to $25,000/year; Chair Dunn seconded.  Chair Dunn opened 
for public discussion; there was none.  Chair Dunn called for a vote on the amendment to the motion 
to lower funding from $75,000/year to $25,000/year for FY26-28; Aye:  Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Ganfield, Sires; Nay:  Harding, Dunn.  Chair Dunn called for a vote on the amended motion to lower 
funding to $75,000/year for FY24-25 and $25,000/year for FY26-28; Aye:  Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn; Nay:  none; motion passed. 
 
Chair Dunn opened for Council discussion on Item #64 – Resilience Initiatives.  Councilmembers 
asked why some projects were listed as separate line items and what money is being saved; Director 
of Public Works Chase Schrage and Ms. Rodenbeck responded that some items were bigger, planned, 
and required specific funding and this item is more general as needed, and that numbers on specific 
rebate or savings would need to be reviewed.  Councilmember deBuhr motioned to change the name 
to Energy Efficiency Projects; Councilmember Harding seconded.  Chair Dunn opened for public 
comment; there was none.  Chair Dunn called for a vote on the motion to change the name from 38

Item 6.



Resilience Initiatives to Energy Efficiency Projects; Aye:  Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn; Nay:  none; motion passed. 
 
Chair Dunn opened for Council discussion on Item #204 – SCBA Replacement.  Ms. Rodenbeck noted 
that this was a staff proposed change based on the 15-year life of the equipment. Councilmember 
Ganfield motioned to move the funding from FY24 GO bonds to FY26 GO bonds in FY27; 
Councilmember Kruse seconded.  Chair Dunn opened for public comment; there was none.  Chair 
Dunn called for a vote on the motion to move the funding from FY24 GO bonds to FY26 GO bonds in 
FY27; Aye:  Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn; Nay:  none; motion passed. 
 
Ms. Rodenbeck provided a brief summary:  GO funding will be reduced by just under $900,000; GR 
funding will be reduced by $500,000.  She stated the next step is for Council to motion to put forward 
before Council for approval as amended today.  Councilmember Ganfield motioned to recommend to 
Council the CIP be approved as amended today; Councilmember Schultz seconded.  Councilmember 
Kruse asked about Main Street project funding; Chair Dunn and Mr. Gaines advised that topic would 
require a Council referral as it isn’t a change to the CIP but an already established project.  Chair Dunn 
called for a vote on the motion to recommend to Council approval of the CIP as amended tonight; Aye:  
Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Dunn; Nay:  Sires; motion passed.   
 
Councilmember Kruse asked what the next step after approving the CIP will be.  Ms. Rodenbeck 
stated that the column for FY24 will be placed in the budget under appropriate categories; the CIP 
gives a starting point but the numbers will be reviewed and discussed again during budget discussions.  
Mr. Gaines reminded Council there are four meetings, and two public hearings must be held, between 
now and when the budget is due, so scheduling is tight.   
 
Councilmember Kruse motioned to adjourn; Councilmember Ganfield seconded; motion carried 
unanimously.  Meeting adjourned at 7:47 p.m. 
 
Minutes by Katie Terhune, Administrative Assistant 

39

Item 6.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  

  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 

 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

 PHONE 319-273-8600 

 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 

  

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 TO: City Council 

 DATE: January 28, 2023 

 

 SUBJECT: Historic Preservation Commission Reappointments 

 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §2-343: Historic Preservation 

  (b) CFD 1201.22d – Appointment Process for Boards and Commissions 

 

1. In accordance with the candidacy and qualification requirements of reference 

(a) and the process described in reference (b) I hereby nominate the following 

members for re-appointment to the Historic Preservation Commission to 

terms ending on March 31, 2026.  

a. Ms. Julie Etheredge – began service on June 10, 2014 

b. Ms. Sally Timmer – began service on March 2, 2020 

2. As noted by the staff liaison, both members have had satisfactory meeting 

attendance, and actively participate in the deliberations of the committee. 

3. Please contact me with any questions about these reappointments, which 

require the consent of the City Council. 

XC: City Administrator 

Director, Community Development 

 Staff Liaison, Historic Preservation Commission 

 

### 

 

 
 
 

40

Item 7.



 
 
 

41

Item 7.



42

Item 8.



43

Item 8.



44

Item 8.



45

Item 8.



46

Item 8.



47

Item 8.



48

Item 8.



49

Item 8.



50

Item 8.



51

Item 8.



52

Item 8.



53

Item 8.



54

Item 8.



55

Item 8.



56

Item 8.



57

Item 8.



58

Item 8.



59

Item 8.



60

Item 8.



61

Item 8.



62

Item 8.



63

Item 8.



64

Item 8.



65

Item 8.



66

Item 8.



67

Item 8.



68

Item 8.



69

Item 8.



70

Item 8.



71

Item 8.



72

Item 8.



73

Item 8.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  January 30, 2023 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Asian Fusion Vietnamese and Thai Cuisine, 5725 University Avenue, Special Class C retail 
alcohol - renewal  

b) Cottonwood Canyon, 419 Washington Street, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

c) Chad's Pizza and Restaurant, 909 West 23rd Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

d) Sakura Japanese Steakhouse & Sushi Bar, 5719 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 

e) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

f) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class C beer & Class B wine – change in ownership. 

g) Kwik Star, 4515 Coneflower Parkway, Class C beer & Class B wine – change in ownership. 

h) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B wine – change in ownership. 

i) Kwik Spirits, 4116 University Avenue, Class E retail alcohol – change in ownership. 

j) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service 
– 8-month permit. 

k) Great Walls, 2125 College Street, Class B retail alcohol - new. 

l) Hy-Vee Fast and Fresh, 6527 University Avenue, Class B retail alcohol – new. 

m) Pheasant Ridge Golf Course, 3205 West 12th Street, Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service - new. 

74

Item 9.



75

Item 11.



76

Item 11.



77

Item 11.



78

Item 11.



79

Item 11.



80

Item 11.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE &  
BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126     M E M O R A N D U M

Human Resources Division

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Brenda Balvanz, Human Resources Specialist 

 DATE: January 30, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Courier Advertising Agreement Renewal 

 
Attached is an Advertising Agreement renewal for your review and approval to continue 
to minimize advertising dollars spent by the City for recruitment with The Courier. 
 
If you have questions regarding the attached, feel free to contact me at 319-268-5112, 
Bailey Schindel at 319-268-5531, or Jennifer Rodenbeck at 319-268-5108. 
 
 
Attachment 

81

Item 12.



82

Item 12.



83

Item 12.



84

Item 12.



85

Item 12.



86

Item 12.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

Information Systems Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Rob Green and City Council Members  

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

  Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 

 DATE: January 30, 2023 

 SUBJECT: Amendment to Professional Services Contract for New Financial System RFP  

 
 

As you may remember back in September 2021 you approved a Contract with Berry Dunn for assistance 
with the RFP and procurement process for a new Financial System.  With their assistance we published 
an RFP in March of 2022.  This RFP had requirements for Finance, Payroll and Community Development 
software.  Vendors could bid on the RFP as an entire ERP suite of software or just the Finance and 
Payroll separately from the Community Development software.   
 
The initial released RFP had only one response for Financial Software.  After vendor demonstration was 
completed, we felt it best to explore other options for financial software.  We asked Berry Dunn to conduct 
vendor outreach demonstrations and help to rewrite the RFP with an emphasis on Payroll and Finance 
requirements that have been trimmed in hopes of getting a better response rate.  In the process, of 
rewriting the RFP and conducting the vendor outreach demonstrations Berry Dunn used the remaining 
funds from the original contract.   
 
With activities left to do before we procure the new software.  We asked Berry Dunn to please estimate 
their remaining activities so that we could amend the original contract.  They have estimated a remaining 
$21,350 to assist with the system selection activities as well as the contract negotiation assistance.  I’ve 
included the amendment to the contract with an amended Exhibit A to show the additional expenditure for 
the remaining activities.   
 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this contract, please feel free to contact me at 268-5111 
or Jennifer Rodenbeck at 268-5108. 
 

87

Item 13.



1 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

Between 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA AND BERRY, DUNN, MCNEIL & PARKER, LLC 

 

       This First Amendment to Professional Services Agreement is made and entered into this _6th____ day of 

__February___________, 2023, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, an Iowa municipality (hereinafter 

“City”) whose address is 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa  50613, and Berry, Dunn, McNeil & Parker, LLC 

(hereinafter “Contractor”) whose address is 2211 Congress Street, Portland, ME  04102. 

       WHEREAS, the City and the Contractor entered into a certain Professional Services Agreement dated October 

6, 2021, which form of agreement was approved by the City Council of the City via Resolution No. 22,563, on 

October 4, 2021, which established the terms and conditions whereby the Contractor would provide consulting 

services to the City relative to the selection process for replacement of the City’s financial software (“Agreement”); 

and 

       WHEREAS, because the initial RFP resulted in minimal proposals the City is developing a second request for 

proposals for dissemination, thus expanding the scope of services necessary from the Contractor that was stated in 

the Agreement; and 

       WHEREAS, Section 23.2 of the Agreement allows for amendment; and 

       WHEREAS, the City and the Contractor have reached agreement on the terms of an amendment to an 

additional $21350 expenditure for remaining system selection activities which include Proposal Executive 

Summary memo, Vendor Short List, Demonstration Facilitation, and Contract Negotiation stated in the Agreement. 

       NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements set forth herein, and 

for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the 

parties hereby agree as follows: 

       1.  Exhibit A of the Agreement is hereby amended by adding lines D10 and D11 in Exhibit A Paragraph A – Fee 

Schedule for additional activities.  

       2.     The City and Contractor hereby acknowledge and agree that all of the terms and conditions of the 

Agreement, including Exhibits, remain the same and are hereby ratified and confirmed, except as otherwise 

expressly amended in this First Amendment to Professional Services Agreement. 

       IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City and Contractor have executed this First Amendment to Professional Services 

Agreement effective as of the date first stated above.   

 

 

 

88

Item 13.



2 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  

By_________________________        

     Robert M. Green, Mayor             

ATTEST: 

_________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss:   

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on this ____ day of ______________ 2023, by Robert M. 

Green as Mayor and Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, as City Clerk, both of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

__________________________________                                              ____________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa                                                   Commission Expires 
 

BERRY, DUNN, MCNEIL & PARKER, LLC 

By:  _______________________ 

Its: ________________________  

 

STATE OF _________________) 

       )  ss: 

COUNTY OF ________________) 

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on this ____ day of ______________ 2023, by 

_______________________ as ________________________ of Berry, Dunn, McNeil & Parker, LLC. 

 

______________________________                                                           __________________ 

Notary Public in such County and State                                                         Commission Expires  

 

89

Item 13.



BerryDunn 

City of Cedar Falls, IA (City) 

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System Assessment Scope of Services 

 

Exhibit A - Scope of Services and Fee Schedule 

Below we present our detailed work plan to complete the City’s requested scope of services.  

 

Phase I. Project Coordination and Initiation 

 1.1 Conduct initial project planning. We will conduct an initial project planning teleconference 

with the City’s project team to introduce key team members, clarify goals and objectives, 

identify known project constraints, and refine dates and/or tasks, as appropriate. We will 

discuss our approach for managing communications, scope, risks, and resources. We will also 

request names and contact information for the appropriate City staff members involved in the 

project. 

 1.2 Develop a Project Work Plan and Schedule. Based on the information gathered from our 

initial project planning teleconference, we will develop the Project Work Plan and Schedule. In 

addition to the components gathered from Task 1.1, the Project Work Plan and Schedule will 

address our approach to providing the services requested by the City, the agreed-upon time 

frame for each task, and agreed-upon procedures between our project team and the City’s 

related to project control, including quality management and deliverable submission/acceptance 

management. 

 » Deliverable 1 – Project Work Plan and Schedule 

 1.3 Develop Biweekly Status Updates. Throughout the project, we will provide Biweekly 

Status Updates that describe the activities and accomplishments for the reporting period, plans 

for the upcoming month, risks or issues encountered during the reporting period, and 

anticipated problems that might impact any project deliverable. We will meet with the City’s 

project manager to review the status updates. 

 » Deliverable 2 – Biweekly Status Updates 

 

 

Phase II. Needs Assessment 

 2.1 Develop an information request and review the resulting documentation. We will 

develop and administer a web survey to City staff to understand issues and challenges with 

current business processes. We anticipate that this survey will be issued to the core department 

stakeholders and used to help determine the current challenges and areas for improvement. 

Prior to issuing the web survey, we will review the questions with the City’s project team to 

solicit feedback before finalizing. We will use the survey results as one of many data points in 

developing our evaluation of the current environment. 

Prior to conducting our work, we will provide the City’s project team with an information request 

sheet to help gather available documentation to support the work effort (e.g. organizational 

90

Item 13.



 

Phase II. Needs Assessment 

charts, documentation on existing systems, and policy documentation). We will respectfully 

request that the City’s project team provide the documentation prior to the project kickoff 

presentation, as reviewing this information in advance of our work will enable us to be more 

efficient, become more knowledgeable of the current environment, and make best use of City 

personnel’s time. 

 2.2 Facilitate a kickoff presentation. We will conduct a project kickoff presentation with the 

City’s project stakeholders that will serve as an opportunity to introduce our project team 

members, discuss goals, present our project approach and methodology, review the schedule 

of key project dates, and answer questions. As part of this presentation, the City’s project 

sponsor is expected to participate and speak to the goals and objectives of the initiative. 

 2.3 Facilitate fact-finding meetings. Following the project kickoff presentation, we will conduct 

fact-finding meetings by functional area. We will explore their experiences in daily interaction 

with the City’s system(s), along with any additional areas we identify prior to or during the 

kickoff presentation. The purpose of these meetings is to review, evaluate, and document the 

City’s existing and future processes. Where appropriate, we will also observe these processes 

firsthand. We anticipate these fact-finding interviews will take place over three days, with up to 

four of our project team members facilitating these meetings. 

 2.4 Develop a Needs Assessment Memo. Drawing on the information gathered through our 

review of documentation, web survey results, fact-finding meetings, and the kickoff 

presentation, we will prepare a Needs Assessment Memo. This memo will contain key themes, 

such as: 

• A high-level summary of findings and the current environment 

• Areas of focus for future process improvement 

• Anticipated needs of a future system 

We will provide the Needs Assessment Memo to the City for review and facilitate a work 

session to explain our findings, gain feedback, and build consensus related to the decision 

points. We believe it is important to obtain the City’s validation and approval of these findings, 

as this information will serve as the basis for future requirements. We will revise the memo with 

the City’s feedback before updating to final. 

 » Deliverable 3 – Needs Assessment Memo 

 

 

Phase III. RFP Development 

 3.1 Develop Preliminary Functional and Technical Requirements. BerryDunn has 

developed a database of technical and functional requirements based on our experience with 

other governmental agencies and our knowledge of software system functionality and best 

practices. Drawing from this database, we will make refinements for those processes that are 

critical or unique to the City. 

91

Item 13.



 

Phase III. RFP Development 

These requirements will support supplemental functionality requirements with key reporting, 

interface, and conversion enhancements. In our recent experience, those areas have 

significantly differentiated vendors’ solutions and required a specific focus in the selection 

activities. Our analysis typically results in about 75% of the requirements being defined upfront 

for most of our clients. 

 » Deliverable 4 – Preliminary Functional and Technical Requirements 

 3.2 Facilitate joint requirements planning (JRP) work sessions. We will facilitate a series of 

JRP work sessions with the City’s stakeholders and our project team members to review the 

preliminary requirements by functional area. These sessions will also include one focused on 

the technical aspects involved with the City’s project. Using the preliminary list, we will review 

and confirm each item and assign a relative criticality to communicate to vendors responding to 

the list as part of their RFP responses. We will also facilitate similar meetings to review potential 

interfaces and data conversion objects. Once these have been reviewed, we will update the list 

to final. 

Our role in facilitating the JRP work sessions is to contribute our focused knowledge of the 

vendor marketplace and align the items requested in the list with the goals and objectives of the 

project. For example, we might comment that functionality being requested is beyond the core 

capabilities of vendors and might represent a cost increase. Conversely, we can help 

recommend requirements to include that might be commonplace today, but beyond the 

familiarity of all City stakeholders. We anticipate these work sessions taking place over three 

days remotely with up to four of our project team members involved. 

 » Deliverable 5 – Final Functional and Technical Requirements 

 3.3 Develop an RFP Package. We will develop an RFP Package using a proven format that 

incorporates information pertaining to the history of the project, a high-level description of the 

City’s current environment, desired approach to implementing a new ERP solution, Final 

Functional and Technical Requirements, and a structured list of points for vendors to address in 

their responses. Our project team will also work with the City to develop objective evaluation 

criteria to include in the RFP. We will then prepare a scoring matrix to track significant strengths 

and limitations of each proposal reviewed. 

Upon completion, we will coordinate a work session with the City’s project team to review the 

draft RFP Package and collect any feedback or additional terms for inclusion before updating to 

final. We will provide the final RFP to the City’s project team for distribution through standard 

channels. For added guidance in distribution, we will provide a list that includes most of the 

major ERP solution vendors in the market. 

 » Deliverable 6 – RFP Package 

 

92

Item 13.



 

Phase IV. Proposal Evaluations 

 4.1 Assist with responding to vendor questions and developing addenda. Our project 

team will assist the City’s project team in responding to vendor questions and developing 

corresponding addenda. 

 4.2 Assist with facilitating a vendor pre-proposal conference. Our project team will 

coordinate, plan, and lead a pre-proposal teleconference for interested vendors, facilitating the 

question-and-answer portion of the meeting. We will compile a list of questions raised and 

prepare suggested responses. These will be provided in a format that the City’s project team 

can review, revise, and publish as an addendum to the RFP, as determined by procurement 

staff. 

 4.3 Perform an initial completion review of vendor proposals received, identify items for 

clarification, and develop a Proposal Executive Summary Memo. We will facilitate the 

proposal review process to identify issues, risks, exceptions, omissions, and objections, 

compiling them into a single Proposal Executive Summary Memo. The memo will identify key 

areas for consideration by the City’s evaluation team related to each vendor’s ability to meet 

minimum requirements, and their alignment with the evaluation criteria within the RFP. This 

memo will also include a comparison of vendor responses to the Final Functional and Technical 

Requirements. 

 4.4 Facilitate a Round 1 scoring meeting. We will meet with the evaluation team to review the 

proposal summaries, discuss each proposal received, assist in the scoring process, and collect 

scores to identify the top two preferred vendors to invite for demonstrations. We will clarify any 

open items with these short-list vendors before issuing invitations for demonstrations. 

 » Deliverable 7 – Proposal Executive Summary Memo and Vendor Short List 

 4.5 Assist with planning for demonstrations and writing demonstration scripts. We will 

meet with the City’s project team to discuss the format of vendor demonstration scripts. We will 

develop a draft demonstration script template and provide it to the City’s project team for 

review. After finalizing an approved version, we will provide the appropriate scripts to each 

vendor in advance of their demonstrations. 

 4.6 Facilitate pre-demonstration conference calls. We will facilitate pre-demonstration 

conference calls with up to three of the City’s short-listed vendors. Our project team will lead 

these calls, which will allow each vendor an hour to ask questions about the demonstration 

scripts. 

 4.7 Facilitate vendor demonstrations. One of our project team members will attend 

demonstrations and assist the City’s project team with facilitation for a period of five days. Our 

project team’s extensive background in the demonstration process will provide the City’s project 

team with a unique perspective on how to score, prepare, evaluate, and participate in vendor 

demonstrations. 

 4.8 Facilitate a Round 2 scoring meeting. We will participate in the second round of vendor 

scoring following the final demonstration to identify the vendor or vendors that the City’s project 

team should perform its reference checks on. 

 4.9 Assist with planning for reference checks and site visits. We will assist the City’s 

project team with identifying tasks that should be accomplished prior to meeting at each site 

93

Item 13.



 

Phase IV. Proposal Evaluations 

visit. We will also coordinate with the City’s project team to discuss the suggested approach for 

the reference checks. 

 4.10 Facilitate a Final Scoring meeting. We will participate in the Final Scoring meeting 

following the completion of reference checks and site visits. The objective will be to identify a 

preferred vendor and a second-choice vendor should contract negotiations with the first be 

unsuccessful. 

 » Deliverable 8 – Demonstration Facilitation and Preferred Vendor Identification 

 4.11 Support the City in the contract negotiations process. Once a preferred vendor is 

selected, our project team will support the City in the contract negotiations process. We have 

been involved in contract negotiations from the client, vendor, and independent consultant 

perspectives, and understand how the contract impacts the implementation process. In 

conducting contract negotiations, we will draw on these experiences to help ensure the City’s 

best interests are being met. 

We will also work with the City’s project team and legal counsel, as well as the preferred 

vendor, to develop a draft contract, using the City’s contracting procedures and the vendor’s 

proposal as starting points. We will review the contract documents with the City’s project team 

to help ensure that requirements are clearly defined and to establish that the City agrees to the 

schedule, implementation process, fee arrangement, scope of services, vendor resources, 

deliverables, costs, acceptance criteria, and terms and conditions. We will also be present 

during negotiations with the preferred vendor. Should it become clear at any point during 

negotiations that the preferred vendor’s solution or contract terms will not meet the needs of the 

City, we might recommend halting negotiations with that vendor and commencing negotiations 

with the alternate vendor. 

In recognition of the many variables not yet known related to the contract negotiation timeline 

and work effort, we plan to commit up to 30 hours, billed as incurred. 

 » Deliverable 9 – Contract Negotiations Assistance 

 

  

94

Item 13.



 

 

 

 

A. Fee Schedule 

The following table contains the fees for services by phase, on a fixed-fee basis. Also included is a not to 

exceed travel expense estimate. We will submit monthly progress invoices based on the progress towards 

the completion of each deliverable and any actual travel expense incurred. We will not submit a final invoice 

for a deliverable without signed acceptance from the City.  

System Selection Phases and Deliverables Fees 

Phase I. Project Coordination and Initiation 

D01. Project Work Plan and Schedule $2,950 

D02. Biweekly Status Updates $3,950 

Phase 1 Sub-Total $6,900 

Phase II. Needs Assessment 

D03. Needs Assessment Memo $25,350 

Phase 2 Sub-Total $25,350 

 Phase III. RFP Development 

D04. Preliminary Functional and Technical Requirements $3,450 

D05. Final Functional and Technical Requirements $11,250 

D06. RFP Package $2,800 

Phase 3 Sub-Total $17,500 

 Phase IV. Proposal Evaluations 

D07. Proposal Executive Summary Memo and Vendor Short List  $8,200 

D08. Demonstration Facilitation and Preferred Vendor Identification  $12,500 

D09. Contract Negotiation Assistance  $8,850 

  

  

Phase 4 Sub-Total $29,550 

Travel Expense Sub-Total $9,350 

System Selection Total $88,650 

Amended Activities  

D10. Demonstration Facilitation and Preferred Vendor Identification for Second RFP 
Release 

$12,500 

D11. Contract Negotiation Assistance for Second RFP Release $8,850 

Total Amendment $21,350 

Amended System Selection Total $110,000 

 

95

Item 13.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

VISITORS, TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH:    319-268-4266 

       FAX: 319-277-9707 
MEMORANDUM 

 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Cory Hurless, Cultural Programs Supervisor 
 
 DATE: January 30, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: OPN Architects   
  Professional Design Services Agreement 
  Hearst 2.0 Master Plan 
 
Attached you will find the Professional Services Agreement with OPN Architects and 
insurance documentation for design services for the Hearst 2.0 Master Plan Project.   
 
From 2018-2022 the Art and Culture Board has worked with city staff to develop 
information to help move forward a project related to the Hearst Center for the Arts. In 
2018 a Building Visioning Committee was convened to examine space deficits at the 
Hearst Center, to review building usage, and to envision the next step forward for the 
facility. By 2021, the pandemic had demonstrated how valuable the current grounds, 
especially the Hearst gardens and patio, are to its success. In 2022, the Art and Culture 
Board and City Council agreed a Master Plan for an improved Hearst Center for the Arts 
facility should move forward. While there is support for a new building at the current site, 
evaluating the cost feasibility of new construction or a remodel/expansion with this 
Master Plan is desired. 
 
The proposed Professional Services Agreement with OPN Architects will provide 
architectural design services, master plan development with phasing and cost estimate 
information, and community engagement services. The compensation for this 
agreement will be a fixed fee of $24,000. Project #70 in the FY22-FY27 CIP, planned up 
to $65,000 in FY22 & FY23 with funding sources including Art & Culture Board (38%), 
Cultural Improvement Fund (38%), and Friends of the Hearst (23%).  $55,000 it is in the 
FY23 budget. 
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval 
of the Professional Services Agreement with OPN Architects for design services of the 
Hearst 2.0 Master Plan. If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
      Jennifer Pickar, V&T and Cultural Programs Manager 
   

 

96

Item 14.



97

Item 14.



98

Item 14.



99

Item 14.



100

Item 14.



101

Item 14.



102

Item 14.



103

Item 14.



104

Item 14.



105

Item 14.



106

Item 14.



107

Item 14.



108

Item 14.



109

Item 14.



110

Item 14.



111

Item 14.



112

Item 14.



113

Item 14.



114

Item 14.



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 
Hearst Center for the Arts 
Master Plan – Insurance Requirements 

 

1 
 

10/12/22 

EXHIBIT 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

FOR GOODS & SERVICES 

FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 

 

 

*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who perform work for the City of 

Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this document shall be defined as any person or entity that 

will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract.   

 

 

1. All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer authorized by law to do 
business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be issued by companies satisfactory to the City and 
have a rating of A-, VII or better in the current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   

 

2. The Contractor shall obtain and maintain through the term of the Agreement, insurance with the 
terms set forth in this Exhibit and with limits of coverage equal to or in excess of those set forth on 
Pages 2-3 of this Exhibit.  By requiring the insurance as set forth in this Exhibit the City does not 
represent that coverage or limits will necessarily be adequate to protect Contractor’s interests and 
such coverage and limits shall not be deemed a limitation on Contractor’s liability under the 
Agreement or under the indemnity provisions of this Exhibit.  The City shall have the right at any 
time to require liability insurance with greater coverage than that otherwise specified herein.   

 

3. Coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. All deviations or exclusions 
from the standard ISO commercial general liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and 
shall be subject to the review and approval of the City. 

 

4. Contractor shall maintain ongoing Commercial General Liability coverage for at least 2 years 
following substantial completion of the work, under the Agreement, to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an insured contract. 

 

5. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not contain the standard ISO 
separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to 
provide cross-liability coverage. 
 

6. Certificate of Insurance: Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance, with 
accompanying endorsements, to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required herein. 
See Pages 4-5 of this Exhibit.  

 

A. Upon request by the City, Contractor shall provide Certificates of Insurance for all 
subcontractors and sub-sub-contractors who perform work or services pursuant to the 
provisions of the Agreement. 

 

B. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the Cancellation & Material 
Changes Endorsement.   

 

7. Termination: Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of these 
requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure of the Contractor to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of the Agreement, and at City’s option, 
shall allow City to terminate the Agreement for cause and/or purchase said insurance at 
Contractor’s expense. 

115

Item 14.



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 
Hearst Center for the Arts 
Master Plan – Insurance Requirements 

   

2 
 

Insurance Limits 

 

A. Commercial General Liability 
 

The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a primary and non-contributory 

basis.  The policy will include waiver of subrogation endorsement in favor of the City 

of Cedar Falls. 

 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  

Fire Damage (any one occurrence) $100,000  

Medical Payments $5,000  

Personal & Advertising Injury $1,000,000  

General Aggregate $2,000,000  

Products-Completed Operations Aggregate $2,000,000  

 

Required Endorsements - sample endorsements Pages 4-5 of this Exhibit 

Blanket or Scheduled Additional Insured  

Owners, Lessees or Contractors - Scheduled Person or 

Organization 

CG 20 10 12 19         

or Equivalent 

Additional Insured - Owners, Lessees or Contractors - 

Completed Operations 

CG 20 37 12 19           

or Equivalent 

Governmental Immunity                                     

(Nonwaiver of Government Immunity -                    

Code of Iowa §670.4) 

Equivalent to sample 

on Page 4 of this 

Exhibit. 

Designated Construction Project(S) General Aggregate 

Limit (if applicable) 

CG 25 03 05 09         

or Equivalent 

 

 

B. Automobile Liability 
 

Coverage is required for non-owned and hired vehicles, if the Contractor does not 

own any vehicles.  The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a primary and 

non-contributory basis.  The policy will include waiver of subrogation endorsement in 

favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 

 

Bodily Injury & Property Damage (each accident) $1,000,000  (CSL) 

Hired & Non-Owned Autos  If required 

 

 

 

 

 

 

116

Item 14.



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 
Hearst Center for the Arts 
Master Plan – Insurance Requirements 

   

3 
 

 

 

C. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability  
 

As required by any applicable law or regulation.  The policy will include waiver of 

subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 

 

Workers' Compensation Statutory Limits 

Bodily Injury Each Accident $500,000  

Bodily Injury by Disease Policy Limit $500,000  

Bodily Injury by Disease Each Employee $500,000  

 

 

D. Umbrella/Excess Liability 
 

If the umbrella/excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 

endorsement as required of the primary policies including but not limited to additional 

insured on a primary and non-contributory, and waiver of subrogation endorsement 

in favor of the City of Cedar Falls.   

 

Each Occurrence $3,000,000  

Aggregate $3,000,000  

 

 

E. Errors & Omissions/Professional Liability 
 

If the Agreement’s scope of services includes design work or other professional 

consultation services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance coverage for errors, 

omissions and other negligent acts or omissions (except for intentional acts or 

omissions), arising out of the professional services performed by Contractor. 

Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions coverage for a period 

commencing no later than the date of the Agreement, and continuing for a period of 

no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all work completed or services 

performed under the Agreement. 

 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

117

Item 14.



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 
Hearst Center for the Arts 
Master Plan – Insurance Requirements 

   

4 
 

ENDORSEMENTS 

 

 

ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its 
employees, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, are 
included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 20 10 12 19 or 
equivalent, and completed operations CG 20 37 12 19 or equivalent. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing with any 
other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, whether other 
available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 

_______________________________ 

 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 

(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees and 
states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of governmental immunity 
available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now 
exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 

2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of insurance shall 

cover only those claims not subject to the defense of governmental immunity under the Code of 

Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 

 

3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be responsible 

for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at any time and shall do so 

upon the timely written request of the insurance carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement 

shall prevent the carrier from asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage under this policy 

and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and benefits accruing to the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of governmental immunity unless and until a 

court of competent jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity 

asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall not otherwise change or 

alter the coverage available under the policy. 

118

Item 14.



REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 
Hearst Center for the Arts 
Master Plan – Insurance Requirements 

   

5 
 

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 

 

Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, Reduction in coverage 

and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk 

Management Office, City of Cedar Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. 

This endorsement supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of 

Insurance to which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 

days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage and/or limits, 

and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 

 

________________________________ 

 

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS 

OF RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US  

(Waiver of Subrogation Endorsement) 

 

To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its 

elected and appointed officials, its directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the Contractor 

or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of subrogation or otherwise, for any 

loss or damage to property caused by fire or any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily 

injury to Contractor’s employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect 

only with respect to loss or damage occurring during the time of the Agreement or arising out of 

the work performed under the Agreement. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for 

Professional Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall 

not adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to recover 

thereunder. 

 

119

Item 14.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

12/19/2022

TrueNorth
PO Box 1863
500 First Street SE
Cedar Rapids IA 52406-1863

TrueNorth Risk Management
319-366-2723

certs@truenorthcompanies.com

Cincinnati Casualty Company 28665
OPNARCH-01 Global Aerospace

OPN Architects, Inc.
200 Fifth Ave SE, Suite 201
Cedar Rapids IA 52401

SFM Select Insurance Company 27049

362127613

A X 1,000,000
X 500,000

10,000

1,000,000

2,000,000
X X

Y Y EPP 0502684 9/1/2022 9/1/2023

2,000,000

A 1,000,000

X X

Y Y EPP 0502684 9/1/2022 9/1/2023

A X X 5,000,000Y EPP 0502684 9/1/2022Y 9/1/2023

5,000,000
X 0

C X

N

Y 153962.101 9/1/2022 9/1/2023

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000
B Aviation Liability-Drones 9006938 2/15/2022 2/15/2023 Single Limit BI & PD 1,000,000

If there is a "Y" in the box for Additional Insured under General Liability, Form GA472 applies on a primary basis. Also, Form GA233 applies with regards to
additional insured on a primary basis and waiver of subrogation is provided, if required by written contract. If there is a "Y" in the box for Additional Insured &
Waiver of Subrogation under Auto Liability, form AA 288 applies. If there is a "Y" in the box for Additional insured under Umbrella/Excess Liability following form
applies on a primary basis and waiver of subrogation is provided, if required by written contract. If there is a "Y" in the box for Waiver of Subrogation under the
Workers Comp then form WC000313 applies. If there is a Y in the box for Additional Insured under Aviation Liability then form UASA121 applies.

Master Plan for a new Hearst Center for the Arts building to be located at 224-304 West Seerley Boulevard.
The following forms are currently active and will be endorsed to reflect Cedar Falls
See Attached...

City of Cedar Falls
Department of Community Development
Tourism & Cultural Programs
304 West Seerley Boulevard
Cedar Falls IA 50613
United States

120

Item 14.



ACORD 101 (2008/01)
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

© 2008 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,
FORM NUMBER: FORM TITLE:

ADDITIONAL REMARKS

ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE Page           of

AGENCY CUSTOMER ID:
LOC #:

AGENCY

CARRIER NAIC CODE

POLICY NUMBER

NAMED INSURED

EFFECTIVE DATE:

OPNARCH-01

1 1

TrueNorth OPN Architects, Inc.
200 Fifth Ave SE, Suite 201
Cedar Rapids IA 52401

25 CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

GL - CIC
separate Construction Project General Aggregate Limit of Insurance, equal to the amount of the General Aggregate Limit shown in the Declarations
-Automatic AI/PNC if required by contract - Contractors Additional Insured - GA472 Attached
-Automatic Waiver of Subrogation GA455 Attached
-By Endorsement Governmental Immunity GA4217IA

Auto CIC
Blanket WOS & AI by written contract AA288

Umbrella - CIC
Follow form

WC - CIC
Blanket WOS WC000313
- By Endorsement 30 Day NOC

121

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 1 of 17

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

CONTRACTORS' COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
BROADENED ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

A. Endorsement - Table of Contents:

Coverage: Begins on Page:

1. Employee Benefit Liability Coverage.......................................................................................3
2. Unintentional Failure To Disclose Hazards .............................................................................9
3. Damage To Premises Rented To You ......................................................................................9
4. Supplementary Payments ...................................................................................................... 10
5. Medical Payments ................................................................................................................... 10
6. 180 Day Coverage For Newly Formed Or Acquired Organizations ................................... 10
7. Waiver Of Subrogation ........................................................................................................... 11
8. Automatic Additional Insured - Specified Relationships: .................................................. 11

• Managers Or Lessors Of Premises;
• Lessor Of Leased Equipment;
• Vendors;
• State Or Governmental Agency Or Subdivision Or Political Subdivision - Permits

Or Authorizations Relating To Premises; and
• Mortgagee, Assignee Or Receiver

9. Property Damage To Borrowed Equipment ......................................................................... 14
10. Employees As Insureds - Specified Health Care Services And Good Samaritan 

Services ................................................................................................................................... 15
11. Broadened Notice Of Occurrence ......................................................................................... 15
12. Nonowned Aircraft .................................................................................................................. 15
13. Bodily Injury Redefined .......................................................................................................... 15
14. Expected Or Intended Injury Redefined ............................................................................... 15
15. Former Employees As Insureds ............................................................................................ 15
16. Voluntary Property Damage Coverage And Care, Custody Or Control Liability

Coverage .................................................................................................................................. 16
17. Broadened Contractual Liability - Work Within 50' Of Railroad Property......................... 17
18. Alienated Premises ................................................................................................................. 17

B. Limits Of Insurance:

The Commercial General Liability Limits of Insurance apply to the insurance provided by this endorse-
ment, except as provided below:

1. Employee Benefit Liability Coverage

Each Employee Limit: $1,000,000
Aggregate Limit: $3,000,000
Deductible Amount: $ 1,000

3. Damage To Premises Rented To You

The lesser of:

a. The Each Occurrence Limit shown in the Declarations; or

b. $500,000 unless otherwise stated $

4. Supplementary Payments

a. Bail Bonds: $ 2,500

122

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 2 of 17

b. Loss Of Earnings: $ 500

5. Medical Payments

Medical Expense Limit: $ 10,000

9. Property Damage To Borrowed Equipment

Each Occurrence Limit: $10,000
Deductible Amount: $ 250

16. Voluntary Property Damage Coverage (Coverage a.) And Care, Custody Or Control Liability 
Coverage (Coverage b.)

Limits Of Insurance
Coverage a.
$1,000 Each Occurrence
$5,000 Aggregate
Coverage b. $5,000 Each Occurrence unless otherwise stated $

Deductible Amount (Each Occurrence)
Coverage a. $250
Coverage b. $250 unless otherwise stated $

COVERAGE PREMIUM BASIS
(a) Area
(b) Payroll
(c) Gross Sales
(d) Units
(e) Other

RATE

(For Limits in Excess of
$5,000)

ADVANCE PREMIUM

(For Limits in Excess of
$5,000)

b. Care, Custody Or 
Control $

TOTAL ANNUAL PREMIUM $

123

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 3 of 17

C. Coverages

1. Employee Benefit Liability Coverage

a. The following is added to Section I -
Coverages:

Employee Benefit Liability Cover-
age

(1) Insuring Agreement

(a) We will pay those sums that
the insured becomes legally 
obligated to pay as damag-
es caused by any act, error
or omission of the insured, 
or of any other person for
whose acts the insured is
legally liable, to which this
insurance applies. We will 
have the right and duty to
defend the insured against
any "suit" seeking those
damages. However, we will 
have no duty to defend
against any "suit" seeking
damages to which this in-
surance does not apply. We 
may, at our discretion, in-
vestigate any report of an 
act, error or omission and
settle any claim or "suit" that
may result. But:

1) The amount we will pay 
for damages is limited 
as described in Section
III - Limits Of Insur-
ance; and

2) Our right and duty to 
defend ends when we 
have used up the appli-
cable limit of insurance
in the payment of judg-
ments or settlements. 

No other obligation or liabil-
ity to pay sums or perform 
acts or services is covered 
unless explicitly provided for
under Supplementary
Payments.

(b) This insurance applies to
damages only if the act, er-
ror or omission, is negligent-
ly committed in the "admin-
istration" of your "employee 
benefit program"; and

1) Occurs during the policy 
period; or

2) Occurred prior to the 
"first effective date" of

this endorsement pro-
vided:

a) You did not have 
knowledge of a 
claim or "suit" on or
before the "first ef-
fective date" of this
endorsement.

You will be
deemed to have
knowledge of a
claim or "suit"
when any "author-
ized representa-
tive";

i) Reports all, or 
any part, of the
act, error or
omission to us
or any other 
insurer;

ii) Receives a
written or ver-
bal demand or 
claim for dam-
ages because
of the act, er-
ror or omis-
sion; and

b) There is no other
applicable insur-
ance.

(2) Exclusions

This insurance does not apply to:

(a) Bodily Injury, Property 
Damage Or Personal And
Advertising Injury

"Bodily injury", "property 
damage" or "personal and 
advertising injury".

(b) Dishonest, Fraudulent,
Criminal Or Malicious Act

Damages arising out of any
intentional, dishonest,
fraudulent, criminal or mali-
cious act, error or omission,
committed by any insured,
including the willful or reck-
less violation of any statute.

(c) Failure To Perform A Con-
tract

Damages arising out of fail-
ure of performance of con-
tract by any insurer.

124

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 4 of 17

(d) Insufficiency Of Funds

Damages arising out of an
insufficiency of funds to
meet any obligations under
any plan included in the
"employee benefit program".

(e) Inadequacy Of Perfor-
mance Of Invest-
ment/Advice Given With 
Respect To Participation

Any claim based upon:

1) Failure of any invest-
ment to perform;

2) Errors in providing in-
formation on past per-
formance of investment 
vehicles; or

3) Advice given to any 
person with respect to 
that person's decision to 
participate or not to par-
ticipate in any plan in-
cluded in the "employee
benefit program".

(f) Workers' Compensation
And Similar Laws

Any claim arising out of your
failure to comply with the
mandatory provisions of any
workers' compensation, un-
employment compensation
insurance, social security or
disability benefits law or any
similar law.

(g) ERISA

Damages for which any in-
sured is liable because of li-
ability imposed on a fiduci-
ary by the Employee Re-
tirement Income Security 
Act of 1974, as now or 
hereafter amended, or by
any similar federal, state or
local laws.

(h) Available Benefits

Any claim for benefits to the
extent that such benefits are 
available, with reasonable
effort and cooperation of the
insured, from the applicable
funds accrued or other col-
lectible insurance.

(i) Taxes, Fines Or Penalties

Taxes, fines or penalties, in-
cluding those imposed un-
der the Internal Revenue
Code or any similar state or
local law.

(j) Employment-Related Prac-
tices

Any liability arising out of
any:

(1) Refusal to employ;

(2) Termination of employ-
ment;

(3) Coercion, demotion, 
evaluation, reassign-
ment, discipline, defa-
mation, harassment, 
humiliation, discrimina-
tion or other employ-
ment - related practices,
acts or omissions; or

(4) Consequential liability 
as a result of (1), (2) or
(3) above.

This exclusion applies
whether the insured may be
held liable as an employer 
or in any other capacity and 
to any obligation to share 
damages with or repay
someone else who must pay
damages because of the in-
jury.

(3) Supplementary Payments

Section I - Coverages, Sup-
plementary Payments - Cover-
ages A And B also apply to this
Coverage.

b. Who Is An Insured

As respects Employee Benefit Lia-
bility Coverage, Section II - Who Is 
An Insured is replaced by the follow-
ing:

(1) If you are designated in the Dec-
larations as:

(a) An individual, you and your
spouse are insureds, but on-
ly with respect to the con-
duct of a business of which
you are the sole owner.

(b) A partnership or joint ven-
ture, you are an insured. 
Your members, your part-

125

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 5 of 17

ners, and their spouses are
also insureds but only with 
respect to the conduct of 
your business.

(c) A limited liability company,
you are an insured. Your 
members are also insureds,
but only with respect to the 
conduct of your business. 
Your managers are in-
sureds, but only with respect 
to their duties as your man-
agers.

(d) An organization other than a
partnership, joint venture or
limited liability company, you 
are an insured. Your "execu-
tive officers" and directors
are insureds, but only with
respect to their duties as
your officers or directors. 
Your stockholders are also 
insureds, but only with re-
spect to their liability as
stockholders.

(e) A trust, you are an insured. 
Your trustees are also in-
sureds, but only with respect
to their duties as trustees.

(2) Each of the following is also an
insured:

(a) Each of your "employees"
who is or was authorized to
administer your "employee
benefit program";

(b) Any persons, organizations 
or "employees" having prop-
er temporary authorization
to administer your "employ-
ee benefit program" if you 
die, but only until your legal
representative is appointed; 
or

(c) Your legal representative if
you die, but only with re-
spect to duties as such. That 
representative will have all
your rights and duties under
this Coverage Part.

(3) Any organization you newly ac-
quire or form, other than a part-
nership, joint venture or limited
liability company, and over which
you maintain ownership or major-
ity interest, will qualify as a
Named Insured if no other similar 
insurance applies to that organi-

zation. However, coverage under
this provision:

(a) Is afforded only until the
180th day after you acquire 
or form the organization or 
the end of the policy period,
whichever is earlier; and

(b) Does not apply to any act,
error or omission that was
committed before you ac-
quired or formed the organi-
zation.

c. Limits Of Insurance

As respects Employee Benefit Lia-
bility Coverage, Section III - Limits
Of Insurance is replaced by the fol-
lowing:

(1) The Limits of Insurance shown in
Section B. Limits Of Insurance,
1. Employee Benefit Liability 
Coverage and the rules below fix
the most we will pay regardless
of the number of:

(a) Insureds;

(b) Claims made or "suits"
brought;

(c) Persons or organizations
making claims or bringing
"suits";

(d) Acts, errors or omissions; or

(e) Benefits included in your
"employee benefit program".

(2) The Aggregate Limit shown in
Section B. Limits Of Insurance, 
1. Employee Benefit Liability 
Coverage of this endorsement is 
the most we will pay for all dam-
ages because of acts, errors or
omissions negligently committed 
in the "administration" of your
"employee benefit program". 

(3) Subject to the limit described in
(2) above, the Each Employee
Limit shown in Section B. Limits
Of Insurance, 1. Employee
Benefit Liability Coverage of
this endorsement is the most we 
will pay for all damages sus-
tained by any one "employee", 
including damages sustained by 
such "employee's" dependents
and beneficiaries, as a result of:

(a) An act, error or omission; or

126

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 6 of 17

(b) A series of related acts, er-
rors or omissions, regard-
less of the amount of time
that lapses between such
acts, errors or omissions;

negligently committed in the
"administration" of your "employ-
ee benefit program".

However, the amount paid under
this endorsement shall not ex-
ceed, and will be subject to the
limits and restrictions that apply 
to the payment of benefits in any
plan included in the "employee
benefit program."

(4) Deductible Amount

(a) Our obligation to pay dam-
ages on behalf of the in-
sured applies only to the
amount of damages in ex-
cess of the Deductible 
Amount stated in the Decla-
rations as applicable to
Each Employee. The limits
of insurance shall not be re-
duced by the amount of this
deductible. 

(b) The Deductible Amount 
stated in the Declarations
applies to all damages sus-
tained by any one "employ-
ee", including such "employ-
ee's" dependents and bene-
ficiaries, because of all acts, 
errors or omissions to which
this insurance applies.

(c) The terms of this insurance, 
including those with respect
to:

1) Our right and duty to 
defend the insured
against any "suits"
seeking those damag-
es; and

2) Your duties, and the du-
ties of any other in-
volved insured, in the 
event of an act, error or 
omission, or claim;

apply irrespective of the ap-
plication of the Deductible 
Amount.

(d) We may pay any part or all 
of the Deductible Amount to 
effect settlement of any 
claim or "suit" and, upon no-

tification of the action taken,
you shall promptly reim-
burse us for such part of the
Deductible Amount as we
have paid.

d. Additional Conditions

As respects Employee Benefit Lia-
bility Coverage, Section IV - Com-
mercial General Liability Condi-
tions is amended as follows:

(1) Item 2. Duties In The Event Of 
Occurrence, Offense, Claim Or 
Suit is replaced by the following:

2. Duties In The Event Of An
Act, Error Or Omission, Or 
Claim Or Suit

a. You must see to it that 
we are notified as soon 
as practicable of an act, 
error or omission which
may result in a claim.
To the extent possible,
notice should include:

(1) What the act, error 
or omission was
and when it oc-
curred; and

(2) The names and 
addresses of any-
one who may suf-
fer damages as a 
result of the act, 
error or omission. 

b. If a claim is made or 
"suit" is brought against
any insured, you must: 

(1) Immediately record
the specifics of the 
claim or "suit" and
the date received;
and

(2) Notify us as soon 
as practicable.

You must see to it that 
we receive written no-
tice of the claim or "suit"
as soon as practicable.

c. You and any other in-
volved insured must:

(1) Immediately send 
us copies of any 
demands, notices, 
summonses or le-
gal papers re-

127

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 7 of 17

ceived in connec-
tion with the claim 
or "suit";

(2) Authorize us to ob-
tain records and 
other information;

(3) Cooperate with us
in the investigation
or settlement of the
claim or defense 
against the "suit"; 
and

(4) Assist us, upon our 
request, in the en-
forcement of any 
right against any 
person or organi-
zation which may 
be liable to the in-
sured because of 
an act, error or 
omission to which 
this insurance may 
also apply.

d. No insured will, except
at that insured's own
cost, voluntarily make a 
payment, assume any
obligation, or incur any
expense without our 
consent.

(2) Item 5. Other Insurance is re-
placed by the following:

5. Other Insurance

If other valid and collectible 
insurance is available to the
insured for a loss we cover
under this Coverage Part, 
our obligations are limited as
follows:

a. Primary Insurance

This insurance is prima-
ry except when c. below 
applies. If this insurance
is primary, our obliga-
tions are not affected 
unless any of the other 
insurance is also prima-
ry. Then, we will share
with all that other insur-
ance by the method de-
scribed in b. below.

b. Method Of Sharing

If all of the other insur-
ance permits contribu-

tion by equal shares, 
we will follow this meth-
od also. Under this ap-
proach each insurer 
contributes equal
amounts until it has
paid its applicable limit 
of insurance or none of 
the loss remains, 
whichever comes first.

If any of the other in-
surance does not permit 
contribution by equal 
shares, we will contrib-
ute by limits. Under this
method, each insurer's 
share is based on the
ratio of its applicable 
limit of insurance to the 
total applicable limits of 
insurance of all insur-
ers.

c. No Coverage

This insurance shall not 
cover any loss for which 
the insured is entitled to 
recovery under any 
other insurance in force 
previous to the effective
date of this Coverage 
Part.

e. Additional Definitions

As respects Employee Benefit Lia-
bility Coverage, Section V - Defini-
tions is amended as follows:

(1) The following definitions are
added:

1. "Administration" means:

a. Providing information to
"employees", including
their dependents and 
beneficiaries, with re-
spect to eligibility for or 
scope of "employee 
benefit programs";

b. Interpreting the "em-
ployee benefit pro-
grams";

c. Handling records in 
connection with the 
"employee benefit pro-
grams"; or

d. Effecting, continuing or 
terminating any "em-
ployee's" participation in

128

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 8 of 17

any benefit included in 
the "employee benefit
program".

However, "administration"
does not include:

a. Handling payroll deduc-
tions; or

b. The failure to effect or
maintain any insurance
or adequate limits of 
coverage of insurance,
including but not limited 
to unemployment insur-
ance, social security 
benefits, workers' com-
pensation and disability 
benefits.

2. "Cafeteria plans" means
plans authorized by applica-
ble law to allow "employees"
to elect to pay for certain
benefits with pre-tax dollars.

3. "Employee benefit pro-
grams" means a program 
providing some of all of the
following benefits to "em-
ployees", whether provided 
through a "cafeteria plan" or 
otherwise:

a. Group life insurance;
group accident or health 
insurance; dental, vision 
and hearing plans; and 
flexible spending ac-
counts; provided that no 
one other than an "em-
ployee" may subscribe
to such benefits and 
such benefits are made 
generally available to
those "employees" who
satisfy the plan's eligibil-
ity requirements;

b. Profit sharing plans, 
employee savings
plans, employee stock 
ownership plans, pen-
sion plans and stock 
subscription plans, pro-
vided that no one other 
than an "employee"
may subscribe to such 
benefits and such bene-
fits are made generally 
available to all "employ-
ees" who are eligible
under the plan for such 
benefits;

c. Unemployment insur-
ance, social security 
benefits, workers' com-
pensation and disability 
benefits; and

d. Vacation plans, includ-
ing buy and sell pro-
grams; leave of ab-
sence programs, includ-
ing military, maternity, 
family, and civil leave; 
tuition assistance plans; 
transportation and 
health club subsidies.

4. "First effective date" means
the date upon which cover-
age was first effected in a
series of uninterrupted re-
newals of insurance cover-
age.

(2) The following definitions are de-
leted in their entirety and re-
placed by the following:

8. "Employee" means a person
actively employed, formerly
employed, on leave of ab-
sence or disabled, or retired.
"Employee" includes a 
"leased worker". "Employee"
does not include a "tempo-
rary worker".

21. "Suit" means a civil proceed-
ing in which money damag-
es because of an act, error
or omission to which this in-
surance applies are alleged. 
"Suit" includes:

a. An arbitration proceed-
ing in which such dam-
ages are claimed and to 
which the insured must
submit or does submit 
with our consent;

b. Any other alternative 
dispute resolution pro-
ceeding in which such 
damages are claimed 
and to which the in-
sured submits with our 
consent; or

c. An appeal of a civil pro-
ceeding.

129

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 9 of 17

2. Unintentional Failure To Disclose Haz-
ards

Section IV - Commercial General Liabil-
ity Conditions, 7. Representations is
amended by the addition of the following:

Based on our dependence upon your rep-
resentations as to existing hazards, if un-
intentionally you should fail to disclose all 
such hazards at the inception date of your 
policy, we will not reject coverage under 
this Coverage Part based solely on such
failure.

3. Damage To Premises Rented To You

a. The last Paragraph of 2. Exclusions
under Section I - Coverage A - Bod-
ily Injury And Property Damage Li-
ability is replaced by the following:

Exclusions c. through q. do not apply
to "property damage" by fire, explo-
sion, lightning, smoke or soot to
premises while rented to you or tem-
porarily occupied by you with permis-
sion of the owner, for which the
amount we will pay is limited to the
Damage To Premises Rented To 
You Limit as described in Section III
- Limits Of Insurance.

b. The insurance provided under Sec-
tion I - Coverage A - Bodily Injury
And Property Damage Liability ap-
plies to "property damage" arising out
of water damage to premises that are 
both rented to and occupied by you.

(1) As respects Water Damage Le-
gal Liability, as provided in Para-
graph 3.b. above:

The exclusions under Section I -
Coverage A - Bodily Injury And
Property Damage Liability, 2.
Exclusions, other than i. War
and the Nuclear Energy Liabil-
ity Exclusion (Broad Form), are
deleted and the following are 
added:

This insurance does not apply to:

(a) "Property damage":

(i) Assumed in any con-
tract or agreement; or

(ii) Caused by or resulting
from any of the follow-
ing:

1) Wear and tear;

2) Rust or other cor-
rosion, decay, de-
terioration, hidden 
or latent defect or 
any quality in 
property that caus-
es it to damage or 
destroy itself;

3) Smog;

4) Mechanical break-
down, including
rupture or bursting 
caused by centrif-
ugal force;

5) Settling, cracking,
shrinking or ex-
pansion; 

6) Nesting or infesta-
tion, or discharge
or release of waste 
products or secre-
tions, by insects, 
birds, rodents or 
other animals; or

7) Presence, growth, 
proliferation, 
spread or any ac-
tivity of fungus, in-
cluding mold or 
mildew, and any 
mycotoxins, 
spores, scents or
byproducts pro-
duced or released 
by fungi.

(b) "Property damage" caused 
directly or indirectly by any
of the following:

(i) Earthquake, volcanic
eruption, landslide or 
any other earth move-
ment;

(ii) Water that backs up or 
overflows or is other-
wise discharged from a 
sewer, drain, sump, 
sump pump or related 
equipment;

(iii) Water under the ground
surface pressing on, or 
flowing or seeping
through:

1) Foundations, walls, 
floors or paved 
surfaces;

130

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 10 of 17

2) Basements,
whether paved or 
not; or

3) Doors, windows or
other openings.

(c) "Property damage" caused 
by or resulting from water 
that leaks or flows from 
plumbing, heating, air condi-
tioning, fire protection sys-
tems, or other equipment,
caused by or resulting from 
freezing, unless:

(i) You did your best to 
maintain heat in the
building or structure; or

(ii) You drained the equip-
ment and shut off the
water supply if the heat 
was not maintained.

(d) "Property damage" to:

(i) Plumbing, heating, air 
conditioning, fire protec-
tion systems, or other
equipment or applianc-
es; or

(ii) The interior of any 
building or structure, or 
to personal property in
the building or structure,
caused by or resulting
from rain, snow, sleet or 
ice, whether driven by 
wind or not.

c. Limit Of Insurance

With respect to the insurance afford-
ed in Paragraphs 3.a. and 3.b. above,
the Damage To Premises Rented 
To You Limit as shown in the Decla-
rations is amended as follows:

(1) Paragraph 6. of Section III -
Limits Of Insurance is replaced
by the following:

6. Subject to Paragraph 5.
above, the Damage To
Premises Rented To You
Limit is the most we will pay
under Coverage A - Bodily
Injury And Property Dam-
age Liability for damages 
because of "property dam-
age" to any one premises:

a. While rented to you, or
temporarily occupied by 

you with permission of
the owner;

b. In the case of damage
by fire, explosion, light-
ning, smoke or soot,
while rented to you; or

c. In the case of damage
by water, while rented
to and occupied by you.

(2) The most we will pay is limited as
described in Section B. Limits
Of Insurance, 3. Damage To 
Premises Rented To You of this
endorsement.

4. Supplementary Payments

Under Section I - Supplementary Pay-
ments - Coverages A And B:

a. Paragraph 2. is replaced by the fol-
lowing:

Up to the limit shown in Section B.
Limits Of Insurance, 4.a. Bail Bonds
of this endorsement for cost of bail
bonds required because of accidents
or traffic law violations arising out of
the use of any vehicle to which the
Bodily Injury Liability Coverage ap-
plies. We do not have to furnish these
bonds.

b. Paragraph 4. is replaced by the fol-
lowing:

All reasonable expenses incurred by 
the insured at our request to assist us
in the investigation or defense of the
claim or "suit", including actual loss of
earnings up to the limit shown in Sec-
tion B. Limits Of Insurance, 4.b.
Loss Of Earnings of this endorsement 
per day because of time off from
work.

5. Medical Payments

The Medical Expense Limit of Any One
Person as stated in the Declarations is
amended to the limit shown in Section B. 
Limits Of Insurance, 5. Medical Pay-
ments of this endorsement.

6. 180 Day Coverage For Newly Formed
Or Acquired Organizations

Section II - Who Is An Insured is
amended as follows:

Subparagraph a. of Paragraph 3. is re-
placed by the following:

a. Insurance under this provision is af-
forded only until the 180th day after 

131

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 11 of 17

you acquire or form the organization
or the end of the policy period, 
whichever is earlier;

7. Waiver Of Subrogation

Section IV - Commercial General Liabil-
ity Conditions, 9. Transfer Of Rights Of
Recovery Against Others To Us is
amended by the addition of the following:

We waive any right of recovery we may 
have against any person or organization
against whom you have agreed to waive
such right of recovery in a written contract 
or agreement because of payments we 
make for injury or damage arising out of 
your ongoing operations or "your work"
done under a written contract or agree-
ment with that person or organization and
included in the "products-completed oper-
ations hazard". However, our rights may 
only be waived prior to the "occurrence"
giving rise to the injury or damage for 
which we make payment under this Cov-
erage Part. The insured must do nothing
after a loss to impair our rights. At our re-
quest, the insured will bring "suit" or trans-
fer those rights to us and help us enforce 
those rights.

8. Automatic Additional Insured - Speci-
fied Relationships

a. The following is added to Section II -
Who Is An Insured:

(1) Any person(s) or organization(s)
described in Paragraph 8.a.(2) of 
this endorsement (hereinafter re-
ferred to as additional insured) 
whom you are required to add as
an additional insured under this
Coverage Part by reason of a 
written contract, written agree-
ment, written permit or written 
authorization.

(2) Only the following persons or or-
ganizations are additional in-
sureds under this endorsement, 
and insurance coverage provided
to such additional insureds is lim-
ited as provided herein:

(a) Managers Or Lessors Of
Premises

The manager or lessor of a
premises leased to you with
whom you have agreed per
Paragraph 8.a.(1) of this en-
dorsement to provide insur-
ance, but only with respect
to liability arising out of the 
ownership, maintenance or

use of that part of the prem-
ises leased to you, subject
to the following additional
exclusions:

This insurance does not ap-
ply to:

(i) Any "occurrence" which
takes place after you 
cease to be a tenant in 
that premises;

(ii) Structural alterations, 
new construction or 
demolition operations
performed by or on be-
half of such additional
insured.

(b) Lessor Of Leased Equip-
ment

Any person or organization
from whom you lease 
equipment when you and
such person(s) or organiza-
tion(s) have agreed per Par-
agraph 8.a.(1) of this en-
dorsement to provide insur-
ance. Such person(s) or or-
ganization(s) are insureds
only with respect to liability 
for "bodily injury", "property 
damage" or "personal and 
advertising injury" caused, in
whole or in part, by your
maintenance, operation or
use of equipment leased to
you by such person(s) or or-
ganization(s). A person's or 
organization's status as an 
additional insured under this
endorsement ends when
their contract or agreement
with you for such leased
equipment ends. However, 
this insurance does not ap-
ply to any "occurrence"
which takes place after the
equipment lease expires.

(c) Vendors

Any person or organization
(referred to below as ven-
dor) with whom you have
agreed per Paragraph 
8.a.(1) of this endorsement 
to provide insurance, but on-
ly with respect to "bodily in-
jury" or "property damage"
arising out of "your products"
which are distributed or sold 
in the regular course of the 

132

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 12 of 17

vendor's business, subject
to the following additional
exclusions:

(i) The insurance afforded 
the vendor does not 
apply to:

1) "Bodily injury" or
"property damage"
for which the ven-
dor is obligated to
pay damages by 
reason of the as-
sumption of liability 
in a contract or 
agreement. This
exclusion does not 
apply to liability for 
damages that the
vendor would have 
in the absence of
the contract or 
agreement;

2) Any express war-
ranty unauthorized
by you;

3) Any physical or 
chemical change in 
the product made 
intentionally by the
vendor;

4) Repackaging, ex-
cept when un-
packed solely for 
the purpose of in-
spection, demon-
stration, testing, or 
the substitution of 
parts under in-
structions from the 
manufacturer, and 
then repackaged in
the original con-
tainer;

5) Any failure to make 
such inspections,
adjustments, tests
or servicing as the 
vendor has agreed
to make or normal-
ly undertakes to 
make in the usual 
course of busi-
ness, in connection
with the distribution 
or sale of the 
products;

6) Demonstration, in-
stallation, servicing

or repair opera-
tions, except such 
operations per-
formed at the ven-
dor's premises in 
connection with the
sale of the product;

7) Products which, af-
ter distribution or 
sale by you, have 
been labeled or re-
labeled or used as
a container, part or 
ingredient of any 
other thing or sub-
stance by or for the 
vendor; or

8) "Bodily injury" or 
"property damage"
arising out of the 
sole negligence of
the vendor for its
own acts or omis-
sions or those of 
its employees or 
anyone else acting
on its behalf. How-
ever, this exclusion 
does not apply to:

a) The excep-
tions contained
in Paragraphs
(c) (i) 4) or 6)
of this en-
dorsement; or

b) Such inspec-
tions, adjust-
ments, tests or
servicing as
the vendor has
agreed to 
make or nor-
mally under-
takes to make 
in the usual 
course of 
business, in 
connection 
with the distri-
bution or sale 
of the prod-
ucts. 

(ii) This insurance does not
apply to any insured
person or organization:

1) From whom you 
have acquired 
such products, or 
any ingredient, part 

133

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 13 of 17

or container, enter-
ing into, accompa-
nying or containing 
such products; or

2) When liability in-
cluded within the 
"products-
completed opera-
tions hazard" has
been excluded un-
der this Coverage
Part with respect to 
such products.

(d) State Or Governmental 
Agency Or Subdivision Or
Political Subdivision -
Permits Or Authorizations 
Relating To Premises

Any state or governmental
agency or subdivision or po-
litical subdivision with which
you have agreed per Para-
graph 8.a.(1) of this en-
dorsement to provide insur-
ance, subject to the follow-
ing additional provision:

This insurance applies only
with respect to the following
hazards for which the state
or governmental agency or 
subdivision or political sub-
division has issued a permit
or authorization in connec-
tion with premises you own,
rent or control and to which
this insurance applies:

(i) The existence, mainte-
nance, repair, construc-
tion, erection or removal 
of advertising signs,
awnings, canopies, cel-
lar entrances, coal
holes, driveways, man-
holes, marquees, hoist 
away openings, side-
walk vaults, street ban-
ners or decorations and 
similar exposures; or

(ii) The construction, erec-
tion or removal of eleva-
tors; or

(iii) The ownership, mainte-
nance or use of any el-
evators covered by this
insurance.

(e) Mortgagee, Assignee Or 
Receiver

Any person or organization
with whom you have agreed
per Paragraph 8.a.(1) of this
endorsement to provide in-
surance, but only with re-
spect to their liability as
mortgagee, assignee, or re-
ceiver and arising out of the 
ownership, maintenance, or 
use of the premises by you.
However, this insurance 
does not apply to structural
alterations, new construction
and demolition operations
performed by or for that per-
son or organization.

(3) The insurance afforded to addi-
tional insureds described in Par-
agraph 8.a.(1) of this endorse-
ment:

(a) Only applies to the extent
permitted by law; and

(b) Will not be broader than that
which you are required by
the written contract, written
agreement, written permit or 
written authorization to pro-
vide for such additional in-
sured; and

(c) Does not apply to any per-
son, organization, vendor, 
state, governmental agency
or subdivision or political
subdivision, specifically 
named as an additional in-
sured under any other provi-
sion of, or endorsement
added to, this Coverage
Part, provided such other 
provision or endorsement 
covers the injury or damage
for which this insurance ap-
plies.

b. With respect to the insurance afford-
ed to the additional insureds de-
scribed in Paragraph 8.a.(1) of this 
endorsement, the following is added
to Section III - Limits Of Insurance:

The most we will pay on behalf of the 
additional insured is the amount of in-
surance:

(1) Required by the written contract,
written agreement, written permit 
or written authorization described 

134

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 14 of 17

in Paragraph 8.a.(1) of this en-
dorsement; or

(2) Available under the applicable 
Limits of Insurance shown in the
Declarations;

whichever is less.

This endorsement shall not increase
the applicable Limits of Insurance
shown in the Declarations.

c. Section IV - Commercial General 
Liability Conditions is amended to 
include the following:

Automatic Additional Insured Pro-
vision

This insurance applies only if the 
"bodily injury" or "property damage"
occurs, or the "personal and advertis-
ing injury" offense is committed:

(1) During the policy period; and

(2) Subsequent to your execution of
the written contract or written
agreement, or the issuance of a
written permit or written authori-
zation, described in Paragraph
8.a.(1).

d. Section IV - Commercial General 
Liability Conditions is amended as
follows:

Condition 5. Other Insurance is
amended to include:

Primary And Noncontributory In-
surance

This insurance is primary to and will
not seek contribution from any other
insurance available to an additional
insured per Paragraph 8.a.(1) of this 
endorsement provided that:

(1) The additional insured is a
Named Insured under such other 
insurance; and

(2) You have agreed in writing in a
contract, agreement, permit or 
authorization described in 8.a.(2)
of this endorsement that this in-
surance would be primary and
would not seek contribution from 
any other insurance available to
the additional insured.

9. Property Damage To Borrowed Equip-
ment

a. The following is added to Exclusion
2.j. Damage To Property under Sec-

tion I - Coverage A - Bodily Injury 
And Property Damage Liability:

Paragraphs (3) and (4) of this exclu-
sion do not apply to tools or equip-
ment loaned to you, provided they are
not being used to perform operations
at the time of loss.

b. With respect to the insurance provid-
ed by this section of the endorse-
ment, the following additional provi-
sions apply:

(1) The Limits of Insurance shown in
the Declarations are replaced by
the limits designated in Section
B. Limits Of Insurance, 9.
Property Damage To Borrowed 
Equipment of this endorsement 
with respect to coverage provid-
ed by this endorsement. These 
limits are inclusive of and not in
addition to the limits being re-
placed. The Limits of Insurance
shown in Section B. Limits Of
Insurance, 9. Property Damage
To Borrowed Equipment of this 
endorsement fix the most we will
pay in any one "occurrence" re-
gardless of the number of:

(a) Insureds;

(b) Claims made or "suits"
brought; or

(c) Persons or organizations
making claims or bringing
"suits".

(2) Deductible Clause

(a) Our obligation to pay dam-
ages on your behalf applies
only to the amount of dam-
ages for each "occurrence"
which are in excess of the 
Deductible Amount stated in 
Section B. Limits Of Insur-
ance, 9. Property Damage 
To Borrowed Equipment of 
this endorsement. The limits
of insurance will not be re-
duced by the application of
such deductible amount.

(b) Section IV - Commercial
General Liability Condi-
tions, 2. Duties In The 
Event Of Occurrence, Of-
fense, Claim Or Suit, ap-
plies to each claim or "suit"
irrespective of the amount.

135

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 15 of 17

(c) We may pay any part or all
of the deductible amount to
effect settlement of any 
claim or "suit" and, upon no-
tification of the action taken,
you shall promptly reim-
burse us for such part of the
deductible amount as has 
been paid by us.

10. Employees As Insureds - Specified
Health Care Services And Good Samar-
itan Services

Paragraph 2.a.(1)(d) under Section II -
Who Is An Insured does not apply to:

a. Your "employees" who provide pro-
fessional health care services on your
behalf as a duly licensed nurse, 
emergency medical technician or 
paramedic in the jurisdiction where an
"occurrence" or offense to which this
insurance applies takes place; or

b. Your "employees" or "volunteer work-
ers", other than an employed or vol-
unteer doctor, providing first aid or 
good samaritan services during their
work hours for you will be deemed to
be acting within the scope of their 
employment by you or performing du-
ties related to the conduct of your 
business. 

11. Broadened Notice Of Occurrence

Paragraph a. of Condition 2. Duties In 
The Event Of Occurrence, Offense, 
Claim Or Suit under Section IV - Com-
mercial General Liability Conditions is
replaced by the following:

a. You must see to it that we are notified 
as soon as practicable of an "occur-
rence" or an offense which may result 
in a claim. To the extent possible, no-
tice should include:

(1) How, when and where the "oc-
currence" or offense took place;

(2) The names and addresses of 
any injured persons and wit-
nesses; and

(3) The nature and location of any 
injury or damage arising out of 
the "occurrence" or offense.

This requirement applies only when
the "occurrence" or offense is known
to an "authorized representative".

12. Nonowned Aircraft

The following is added to Exclusion 2.g.
Aircraft, Auto Or Watercraft under Sec-
tion I - Coverage A - Bodily Injury And
Property Damage Liability:

This exclusion does not apply to an air-
craft you do not own, provided that:

a. The pilot in command holds a current
effective certificate, issued by a duly 
constituted authority of the United 
States of America or Canada, desig-
nating that person as a commercial or 
airline transport pilot;

b. The aircraft is rented with a trained, 
paid crew; and

c. The aircraft does not transport per-
sons or cargo for a charge.

13. Bodily Injury Redefined

Section V - Definitions, 4. "Bodily injury"
is replaced by the following:

4. "Bodily injury" means bodily harm or 
injury, sickness, disease, disability,
humiliation, shock, fright, mental an-
guish or mental injury, including care,
loss of services or death resulting
from any of these at any time.

14. Expected Or Intended Injury Redefined

The last sentence of Exclusion 2.a. Ex-
pected Or Intended Injury under Sec-
tion I - Coverage A - Bodily Injury And
Property Damage Liability is replaced by 
the following:

This exclusion does not apply to "bodily 
injury" or "property damage" resulting from 
the use of reasonable force to protect per-
sons or property. 

15. Former Employees As Insureds

The following is added to Paragraph 2.
under Section II - Who Is An Insured:

2. Each of the following is also an in-
sured:

Any of your former "employees", di-
rectors, managers, members, part-
ners or "executive officers", including
but not limited to retired, disabled or 
those on leave of absence, but only 
for acts within the scope of their em-
ployment by you or for duties related
to the conduct of your business.

136

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 16 of 17

16. Voluntary Property Damage Coverage

a. Coverage D - Voluntary Property
Damage Coverage

Section I - Coverages is amended to
include the following:

(1) Insuring Agreement

(a) We will pay the cost to re-
pair or replace "property 
damage" to property of oth-
ers arising out of operations
incidental to your business
when:

1) Damage is caused by 
you; or

2) Damage occurs while in
your possession.

At your written request, we
will make this payment re-
gardless of whether you are
at fault for the "property 
damage".

If you, at our request, re-
place, or make any repairs
to, damaged property of
others, the amount we will
pay under Voluntary Prop-
erty Damage Coverage will
be determined by your actu-
al cost to replace or repair
the damaged property, ex-
cluding any profit or over-
head. 

Any payment we make un-
der Voluntary Property 
Damage Coverage shall not 
be interpreted as an admis-
sion of liability by you or by
us.

It shall be your duty, not our
duty, to defend any claim or
"suit" to which this insurance 
applies.

No other obligation or liabil-
ity to pay sums or perform 
acts or services is covered.

(b) This insurance applies to
"property damage" only if:

1) The "property damage"
takes place in the "cov-
erage territory"; and

2) The "property damage"
occurs during the policy 
period.

(2) Exclusions

This insurance does not apply to
"property damage" that would be
excluded by Coverage A - Bodi-
ly Injury And Property Damage
Liability, 2. Exclusions, except
for j. Damage To Property, par-
agraphs (3), (4), (5) and (6), k.
Damage To Your Product, and 
l. Damage To Your Work.

(3) Definitions

For purposes of Voluntary 
Property Damage Coverage
only, the following definitions un-
der Section V - Definitions are
replaced by the following:

16. "Occurrence" means an in-
cident, including continuous
or repeated exposure to
substantially the same gen-
eral harmful conditions that
result in "property damage".

20. "Property damage" means
physical injury to tangible
property. "Electronic data" is
not tangible property, and
"property damage" does not 
include disappearance, ab-
straction or theft.

b. Care, Custody Or Control Liability 
Coverage

For purposes of the coverage provid-
ed by Care, Custody Or Control Li-
ability Coverage in this endorsement 
only:

(1) Section I - Coverage A - Bodily
Injury And Property Damage
Liability, 2. Exclusions, j.
Damage To Property, Subpara-
graphs (3), (4) and (5) do not ap-
ply to "property damage" to the 
property of others described
therein.

(2) It shall be your duty, not our duty,
to defend any claim or "suit" to
which this insurance applies.

No other obligation or liability to
pay sums or perform acts or ser-
vices is covered.

This Paragraph (2) supersedes
any provision in the Coverage
Part to the contrary.

(3) "Property damage" for which
Care, Custody Or Control Lia-
bility Coverage provides cover-

137

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 233 09 17 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 17 of 17

age shall be deemed to be
caused by an "occurrence" but 
shall not serve to limit or restrict 
the applicability of any exclusion
for "property damage" under this
Coverage Part.

c. Limits Of Insurance And Deducti-
bles

For purposes of the coverage provid-
ed by Voluntary Property Damage
Coverage and Care, Custody Or
Control Liability Coverage, Section
III - Limits Of Insurance is amended
to include the following:

(1) The Limits of Insurance shown in
the Declarations are replaced by
the limits designated in Section
B. Limits Of Insurance, 16. 
Voluntary Property Damage
Coverage And Care, Custody
Or Control Liability Coverage,
in this endorsement. These limits
are inclusive of, and not in addi-
tion to, the limits being replaced. 
The Limits of Insurance shown in
the Schedule fix the most we will
pay regardless of the number of:

(a) Insureds;

(b) Claims made or "suits"
brought; or

(c) Persons or organizations
making claims or bringing
"suits".

(2) (a) Subject to (3) below, the
Voluntary Property Dam-
age Coverage, Each Occur-
rence Limit Of Insurance is
the most we will pay for the
sum of damages under Vol-
untary Property Damage
Coverage;

(b) The Care, Custody Or Con-
trol Liability Coverage,
Each Occurrence Limit Of 
Insurance is the most we will
pay for the sum of damages
under Care, Custody Or 
Control Liability Coverage;

because of all "property damage"
arising out of any one "occur-
rence".

(3) The Voluntary Property Dam-
age Coverage, Aggregate Limit 
Of Insurance is the most we will
pay for the sum of all damages
under Voluntary Property 
Damage Coverage. This limit 
applies separately to each "cov-
erage term".

(4) Deductible Clause

(a) Our obligation to pay dam-
ages on your behalf applies
only to the amount of dam-
ages for each "occurrence"
which are in excess of the
Deductible Amount stated
for the applicable coverage
in the Schedule. The limits
of insurance will not be re-
duced by the application of 
such Deductible Amount.

(b) Section IV - Commercial 
General Liability Condi-
tions, 2. Duties In The 
Event Of Occurrence, Of-
fense, Claim Or Suit, ap-
plies to each claim or "suit"
irrespective of the amount.

(c) We may pay any part or all
of the Deductible Amount to 
effect settlement of any
claim or "suit" and, upon no-
tification of the action taken,
you shall promptly reim-
burse us for such part of the
Deductible Amount as has
been paid by us.

17. Broadened Contractual Liability - Work
Within 50' Of Railroad Property

Section V - Definitions, 12. "Insured con-
tract" is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph c. is replaced by the fol-
lowing:

c. Any easement or license agree-
ment;

b. Paragraph f.(1) is deleted in its entire-
ty. 

18. Alienated Premises

Exclusion 2.j. Damage to Property, 
Paragraph (2) under Section I - Cover-
age A - Bodily Injury And Property 
Damage Liability does not apply if the
premises are "your work".

138

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 472 09 18 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 1 of 3

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

CONTRACTORS ADDITIONAL INSURED - AUTOMATIC STATUS
AND AUTOMATIC WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

WHEN REQUIRED IN WRITTEN CONTRACT, AGREEMENT,
PERMIT OR AUTHORIZATION

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

A. Additional Insured - Owners, Lessees Or
Contractors - Automatic Status For Other
Parties When Required In Written Contract
Or Agreement With You

1. Section II - Who Is An Insured is
amended to include as an additional in-
sured any person or organization you
have agreed in writing in a contract or 
agreement to add as an additional in-
sured on this Coverage Part. Such per-
son(s) or organization(s) is an additional 
insured only with respect to liability for:

a. "Bodily injury", "property damage" or
"personal and advertising injury"
caused, in whole or in part, by the
performance of your ongoing opera-
tions by you or on your behalf, under 
that written contract or written 
agreement. Ongoing operations does 
not apply to "bodily injury" or "proper-
ty damage" occurring after:

(1) All work, including materials,
parts or equipment furnished in
connection with such work, on 
the project (other than service,
maintenance or repairs) to be
performed by or on behalf of the
additional insured(s) at the loca-
tion of the covered operations
has been completed; or

(2) That portion of "your work" out of 
which the injury or damage aris-
es has been put to its intended
use by any person or organiza-
tion other than another contrac-
tor or subcontractor engaged in
performing operations for a prin-
cipal as a part of the same pro-
ject; and

b. "Bodily injury" or "property damage"
caused, in whole or in part, by "your 
work" performed under that written 
contract or written agreement and in

cluded in the "products-completed
operations hazard", but only if:

(1) The Coverage Part to which this
endorsement is attached pro-
vides coverage for "bodily injury"
or "property damage" included
within the "products-completed
operations hazard"; and

(2) The written contract or written
agreement requires you to pro-
vide additional insured coverage
included within the "products-
completed operations hazard"
for that person or organization.

If the written contract or written
agreement requires you to provide
additional insured coverage included
within the "products-completed oper-
ations hazard" for a specified length
of time for that person or organiza-
tion, the "bodily injury" or "property 
damage" must occur prior to the ex-
piration of that period of time in order 
for this insurance to apply.

If the written contract or written
agreement requires you to provide
additional insured coverage for a
person or organization per only ISO
additional insured endorsement form 
number CG 20 10, without specifying 
an edition date, and without specifi-
cally requiring additional insured
coverage included within the “prod-
ucts-completed operations hazard”,
this Paragraph b. does not apply to
that person or organization.

2. If the written contract or written agree-
ment described in Paragraph 1. above 
specifically requires you to provide addi-
tional insured coverage to that person or 
organization:

a. Arising out of your ongoing opera-
tions or arising out of "your work"; or

139

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 472 09 18 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 2 of 3

b. By way of an edition of an ISO addi-
tional insured endorsement that in-
cludes arising out of your ongoing 
operations or arising out of "your 
work";

then the phrase caused, in whole or in
part, by in Paragraph A.1.a. and/or Para-
graph A.1.b. above, whichever applies, is
replaced by the phrase arising out of.

3. With respect to the insurance afforded to 
the additional insureds described in Para-
graph A.1., the following additional exclu-
sion applies:

This insurance does not apply to "bodily
injury", "property damage" or "personal
and advertising injury" arising out of the 
rendering of, or the failure to render, any 
professional architectural, engineering or 
surveying services, including:

a. The preparing, approving or failing to
prepare or approve, maps, shop
drawings, opinions, reports, surveys,
field orders, change orders or draw-
ings and specifications; or

b. Supervisory, inspection, architectural 
or engineering activities.

This exclusion applies even if the claims 
against any insured allege negligence or 
other wrongdoing in the supervision, hir-
ing, employment, training or monitoring of
others by that insured, if the "occurrence"
which caused the "bodily injury" or "prop-
erty damage", or the offense which
caused the "personal and advertising inju-
ry", involved the rendering of, or the fail-
ure to render, any professional architec-
tural, engineering or surveying services.

4. This Paragraph A. does not apply to addi-
tional insureds described in Paragraph B.

B. Additional Insured - State Or Governmental 
Agency Or Subdivision Or Political Subdi-
vision - Automatic Status When Required
In Written Permits Or Authorizations

1. Section II - Who Is An Insured is
amended to include as an additional in-
sured any state or governmental agency 
or subdivision or political subdivision you 
have agreed in writing in a contract, 
agreement, permit or authorization to add 
as an additional insured on this Coverage
Part. Such state or governmental agency 
or subdivision or political subdivision is an 
additional insured only with respect to op-
erations performed by you or on your be-
half for which the state or governmental 
agency or subdivision or political subdivi-
sion issued, in writing, a contract, agree-
ment, permit or authorization.

2. With respect to the insurance afforded to 
the additional insureds described in Para-
graph B.1., the following additional exclu-
sions apply:

This insurance does not apply to:

a. "Bodily injury", "property damage" or
"personal and advertising injury" aris-
ing out of operations performed for 
the federal government, state or mu-
nicipality; or

b. "Bodily injury" or "property damage"
included within the "products-
completed operations hazard."

C. The insurance afforded to additional insureds
described in Paragraphs A. and B.:

1. Only applies to the extent permitted by 
law; and

2. Will not be broader than that which you
are required by the written contract, writ-
ten agreement, written permit or written 
authorization to provide for such addition-
al insured; and

3. Does not apply to any person, organiza-
tion, state, governmental agency or sub-
division or political subdivision specifically 
named as an additional insured for the
same project in the schedule of an en-
dorsement added to this Coverage Part.

D. With respect to the insurance afforded to the 
additional insureds described in Paragraphs 
A. and B., the following is added to Section III
- Limits Of Insurance:

The most we will pay on behalf of the addi-
tional insured is the amount of insurance:

1. Required by the written contract, written 
agreement, written permit or written au-
thorization described in Paragraphs A.
and B.; or

2. Available under the applicable Limits of 
Insurance shown in the Declarations;

whichever is less.

This endorsement shall not increase the appli-
cable Limits of Insurance shown in the Decla-
rations.

E. Section IV - Commercial General Liability
Conditions is amended to add the following:

Automatic Additional Insured Provision

This insurance applies only if the "bodily inju-
ry" or "property damage" occurs, or the "per-
sonal and advertising injury" offense is com-
mitted:

1. During the policy period; and

140

Item 14.



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance
GA 472 09 18 Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 3 of 3

2. Subsequent to your execution of the writ-
ten contract or written agreement, or the
issuance of a written permit or written au-
thorization, described in Paragraphs A.
and B.

F. Except when G. below applies, the following is
added to Section IV - Commercial General
Liability Conditions, 5. Other Insurance,
and supersedes any provision to the contrary:

When Other Additional Insured Coverage 
Applies On An Excess Basis

This insurance is primary to other insurance 
available to the additional insured described in 
Paragraphs A. and B. except:

1. As otherwise provided in Section IV -
Commercial General Liability Condi-
tions, 5. Other Insurance, b. Excess In-
surance; or

2. For any other valid and collectible insur-
ance available to the additional insured as
an additional insured by attachment of an 
endorsement to another insurance policy 
that is written on an excess basis. In such
case, this insurance is also excess.

G. The following is added to Section IV - Com-
mercial General Liability Conditions, 5.
Other Insurance, and supersedes any provi-
sion to the contrary:

Primary Insurance When Required By Writ-
ten Contract, Agreement, Permit Or Au-
thorization

Except when wrap-up insurance applies to the
claim or "suit" on behalf of the additional in-
sured, this insurance is primary to any other 
insurance available to the additional insured
described in Paragraphs A. and B. provided
that:

1. The additional insured is a Named In-
sured under such other insurance; and

2. You have agreed in writing in a contract, 
agreement, permit or authorization de-
scribed in Paragraph A. or B. that this in-
surance would be primary to any other in-
surance available to the additional in-
sured.

As used in this endorsement, wrap-up insur-
ance means any insurance provided by a con-
solidated (wrap-up) insurance program.

Primary And Noncontributory Insurance
When Required By Written Contract, 
Agreement, Permit Or Authorization

Except when wrap-up insurance applies to the
claim or "suit" on behalf of the additional in-
sured, this insurance is primary to and will not 
seek contribution from any other insurance
available to the additional insured described in 
Paragraphs A. and B. provided that:

1. The additional insured is a Named In-
sured under such other insurance; and

2. You have agreed in writing in a contract, 
agreement, permit or authorization de-
scribed in Paragraph A. or B. that this in-
surance would be primary and would not 
seek contribution from any other insur-
ance available to the additional insured.

As used in this endorsement, wrap-up insur-
ance means any insurance provided by a con-
solidated (wrap-up) insurance program.

H. Section IV - Commercial General Liability 
Conditions, 9. Transfer Of Rights Of Re-
covery Against Others To Us is amended by 
the addition of the following:

We waive any right of recovery we may have 
against any additional insured under this en-
dorsement against whom you have agreed to
waive such right of recovery in a written con-
tract, written agreement, written permit or writ-
ten authorization because of payments we
make for injury or damage arising out of your 
ongoing operations or "your work" done under
a written contract, written agreement, written
permit or written authorization. However, our
rights may only be waived prior to the "occur-
rence" giving rise to the injury or damage for
which we make payment under this Coverage
Part. The insured must do nothing after a loss
to impair our rights. At our request, the insured 
will bring "suit" or transfer those rights to us
and help us enforce those rights.

141

Item 14.



142

Item 14.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

67303842

67303842

24856

Tourism & Cultural Programs

Re: Hearst Center for the Arts Facility Master Plan

5,000,000

5,000,000

Cedar Falls, IA 50613
USA

A

Holmes Murphy & Associates - CR

mwilkscr

Claims Made

ADMIRAL INS CO

Professional Liability

816 857-7820

12/14/2022

09/01/23EO00004740205

304 West Seerley Boulevard

OPN Inc. dba OPN Architects, Inc.

1-800-300-0325

Aggregate

Per Claim

Department of Community  Development
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

201 First Street SE, Suite 700

09/01/22

200 Fifth Ave. SE Suite 201

Monica Wilks

mwilks@holmesmurphy.com

143

Item 14.



144

Item 14.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

  Matthew Tolan, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: January 30, 2023 

 SUBJECT: PC-2 District Site Plan Review – 930 Viking Road, outbuilding #2 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Request to approve a PC-2 Planned Commercial District Site Plan for a new 
6,050 square foot retail building. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

HI YIELD LLC, Owner 
 

LOCATION: 
 

930 Viking Road 
 

 

  
PROPOSAL 
It is proposed to construct a 6,050-
square-foot commercial building 
(in red outline to the right) which 
will provide room for three tenants. 
The overall development plan for 
the property includes a 55,000-
square-foot gym/retail building, 
and four commercial buildings 
totaling approximately 30,000 
square feet.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
The property was rezoned by the City Council from A-1 Agricultural District to PC-2 Planned 
Commercial District on September 19, 2016. A site plan for just the gymnasium/retail building 
was approved by the City Council on December 15, 2016, after a unanimous recommendation 
of approval from the Planning & Zoning Commission. During the review of the gymnasium/retail 
building site plan in 2016, a general design of the 4 outbuildings was presented, however, those 
buildings were not part of the original site plan approval. A site plan was presented for 

145

Item 15.



Outbuilding #3 at the northeast corner of the property and was approved by the City Council on 
August 21, 2017. Then, on October 16, 2017, a revised site plan for the gymnasium/retail 
building was approved by the City Council, which added approximately 10,000 square feet of 
building area and added a parking area behind the building (101 stalls). A site plan was 
presented for Outbuilding #1 at the northwest corner of the property and was approved by the 
City Council on December 3, 2018. Following that, in January 2020, the site plan for Outbuilding 
#4 was approved, which is currently under construction and the current proposal is for the last 
remaining Outbuilding # 2. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The property is zoned PC-2, Planned Commercial District. The PC-2 District is a predominantly 
commercial project containing retail and general service facilities on larger tracts of land that is 
designed and improved in accordance with a comprehensive project plan and developmental 
procedures agreement. It is further the purpose of these regulations to encourage high 
standards of building architecture and site planning which will foster commercial development 
that maximizes pedestrian convenience, comfort, and pleasure. 
 
As indicated in the Background section, several site plan reviews on this property have already 
been approved. The overall development plan for the property shows a total of five buildings; 
three buildings have already been completed, and one is currently under construction. This 
approval is for the last building. A detailed site plan review of each building when it is proposed 
to be constructed is required to ensure that the development site satisfies a number of 
standards.  Details such as building design and location, parking, signage, dumpster location, 
and other similar criteria are reviewed to ensure orderly and quality development in the PC-2 
Planned Commercial District. 
 
Following is a review of the zoning ordinance requirements: 
 
1) Proposed Use: The 6,050 square foot retail/professional office building is a permitted use in 

the PC-2 District. Use permitted. 
 
2) Setbacks: The setbacks apply to the building, parking lot, and signage. The PC-2 District 

normally requires a 30-foot setback around the perimeter of the "district”. The PC-2 District 
also states that for areas less than 10 acres in size, the setback area may be reduced to 
20’, subject to review and approval from the Planning & Zoning Commission and City 
Council. The developer did ask that the 30-foot open space buffer setback be reduced to 
20 feet in width for the entire site which was slightly over 10 acres of land area, which was 
approved by the City Council in 2017. 

 
The proposed outbuilding is located approximately 35 feet from the west property line, 
which meets the 20-foot minimum buffer requirement. And the proposed outbuilding will be 
placed 40 feet south of the existing outbuilding at 936 Viking Rd. All parking area for the 
entire site is at least a 40-foot setback from surrounding property lines except the parking 
lot south of the gymnasium building. The south parking lot is 11-foot setback from the south 
lot line, about 57-foot setbacks from the west lot line, and about 138-foot setback from the 
east property line. Building and Parking Area setbacks are satisfied. 

 
3) Parking: The parking requirement was previously calculated for the entire development, 

which included the gymnasium building and 4 outbuildings. Based on the anticipated uses 
and sizes of the buildings within this shopping center, the total parking required for all of the 
uses is 340 parking stalls. The overall site plan shows 393 parking stalls, which meets the 146

Item 15.



minimum requirement. For this parcel alone (930 Viking Rd), 26 parking stalls are shown. 
There is a shared parking agreement between the individual parcels that allow for shared 
parking between the properties. 
 
As per previously approved site plans for the entire site, the parking lot south of the 
gymnasium building was to be completed with the completion of the gymnasium building 
(approved in 2017). During the site plan approval of the 918 Viking Rd outbuilding in 2020, 
it was again noted that the parking lot needed to be constructed to meet ordinance 
requirements. Currently, the site is under-parked, as the parking lot south of the 
gymnasium building has not been constructed. Parking requirements will be satisfied 
once the parking lot south of the gymnasium building is completed. Staff has 
informed the applicant that occupancy permits for building #4 (918 Viking Rd 
currently under construction) and building #2 (930 Viking Rd.) will not be issued until 
all the remaining parking is constructed, including the parking lot behind the larger 
building.   

 
4) Open Space: Open green space must be provided on-site. The ordinance requires 10% of 

the total development site excluding the required setback area. In this case, the lot contains 
approximately 13.74 acres of land (598,514 ft²). When the perimeter setbacks are excluded 
(20-foot minimum), approximately 61,000 square feet can be deducted from the total: 
598,514 - 61,000=537,514 x 0.10 = 53,751 square feet of open green space must be 
provided on-site. The property has approximately 194,000 square feet of open space 
remaining, which exceeds the minimum open space requirement. Open green space 
satisfied. Staff notes that this will need to be recalculated if the parking lot is 
expanded further south on the remaining parcel in the future.  

 
5) Landscaping: The PC-2 District requires landscape plantings at the rate of 0.02 points per 

square foot of the total development site (0.02 x 598,514 ft²) = 11,970 basic site 
landscaping points. These points can be made up with any combination of trees, conifers, 
and shrubbery and distributed throughout the site, parking areas, and along the street. 

 
In addition to basic site landscaping points, there is a requirement of 0.75 points per linear 
foot of street frontage. The overall site has a street frontage of 630 feet. So, based on it the 
site is required to have 473 points (0.75 x 630 ft). A total of 12,443 points is required. The 
landscaping plan is 443 points short of the requirement. Staff recommends adding 
parking lot screening shrubs along the Viking Road Street frontage, as required in 
the parking chapter of the zoning ordinance to satisfy the additional required points.  

 
In addition to these points, landscaping must also be provided to satisfy parking lot 
landscaping. The parking area landscaping requirement is one tree for every 15 parking 
stalls or 2,500 square feet of the hard surface parking area. If the one tree for every 15 
stalls ratio is applied, the total tree planting for all parking lot would be 393/15 stalls = 27 
trees. The landscaping plan shows that the trees are distributed around the parking areas. 
 
A landscaping plan for the overall site was submitted when the gymnasium building went 
through the site plan review process in 2017. However, the applicant has provided with 
updated landscaping plan showing existing landscape work that was done over time and 
the pending landscaping to be added alongside the completion of this project. See attached 
landscaping plan for reference. 
 
 147

Item 15.



 
 
 
Overall, the applicant is 
providing landscaping 
equivalent to 12,470 
landscaping points, of which 
9,100 points of landscaping has 
already been planted. The site 
will have well-distributed 
landscaping areas, once all 
landscaping is complete. As 
noted above, staff recommends 
additional screening shrubs 
along Viking Road to satisfy the 
remaining 443 landscaping 
points required. A revised 
landscaping plan was submitted 
by the applicant to ensure its 
compliance with City Code. 

 
Staff notes that the landscaping work should be completed prior to obtaining the occupancy 
permit for the proposed outbuilding #2 (930 Viking Rd.) and outbuilding #4 (918 Viking Rd. 
currently under construction). Landscape Plan is acceptable.  

 
6) Sidewalks: A Sidewalk is identified along the building frontage. This sidewalk will connect 

this building to the building to the north (936 Viking Rd.), which will connect to the sidewalk 
that will be installed along Viking Road. The sidewalk along Viking Road was to be 
completed back in 2017, as mentioned in the staff report. And the same was also 
mentioned during the approval of 918 Viking Rd. building in 2019. However, the sidewalk is 
still pending. Staff notes that all the sidewalks need to be completed prior to issuance of an 
occupancy permit for the proposed building #2 (930 Viking Rd.) and building #4 (918 Viking 
Rd. currently under construction). The sidewalk plan is acceptable. Staff notes that all 
the pending sidewalks including between outbuildings and along Viking Road must 
be installed as planned before the issuance of an occupancy permit for Outbuilding 
#2 (930 Viking Rd.) and outbuilding #4 (918 Viking Rd.). 

 
7) Building Design: The proposed building will be constructed with a mixture of rock-faced 

block (gray), Cumaru wood shiplap siding, glass windows and doors, and two tones of 
corrugated metal paneling (silver and charcoal). Wall signage will also be located above 
each doorway. This building design is the same as Outbuilding #1, #3 and #4, which were 
previously approved. Overall Building Design is acceptable. 

 Front Design of Building 
148

Item 15.



 
 

8) Trash Dumpsters: The dumpster enclosure will be located just to the northeast of the 
building, between the gymnasium building and the proposed building. There are two 
dumpster enclosures for the entire site, located at each side of the gym/retail building 
would be used for all five outbuildings. A dumpster enclosure plan was submitted that 
includes a 6’ split face block wall with a slated gate for access. The dumpster enclosure 
plan is acceptable. However, the enclosures have never been constructed. Both the 
dumpster enclosures need to be constructed before the issuance of an occupancy 
permit for Outbuilding #2 (930 Viking Rd.) and outbuilding #4 (918 Viking Rd.). 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

9) Storm Water Management: There are two previously installed underground storm water 
collection areas located under the parking lot in front of Outbuilding #1 and Outbuilding #3. 
These detention basins release the water into the storm sewer located along Viking Road. 
Also, there is a storm water detention area located to the southwest of the gymnasium 
building. Water from around the gymnasium building and areas south of the gymnasium 
building will flow to this detention pond. This overall storm water management plan was 
reviewed and approved by the Engineering Division during the site plan review of the 
gymnasium building in 2016. An individual SWPPP application and permit will be required 
for this building. Staff notes that there have been issues with compliance, so staff will 
be monitoring to ensure that all SWPPP controls are installed and maintained 
properly (see technical comments below).  
 

10) Lighting Plan: A general lighting plan has 
been submitted and appears to be 
satisfactory. With this building, the 
applicant will be adding six 2-head light 
poles around the site, which will complete 
site lighting for the entire site. The 
fixtures are fully downcast to prevent 
nuisance light. See attached lighting plan 
for reference. The lighting fixtures will 
consist of LED die-cast aluminum box 
downlights.  

 
 

11) Signage: The PC-2 District permits wall signs to cover 20% of the surface area of any one 
wall space. However, no more than two wall faces can be utilized for signage in the PC-2 
District. Wall signage is identified on the front side of the building over each tenant space 
entry.  Signage requirements appear to be met but will be verified at the time of sign 
permit application. 

 149

Item 15.



TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, have few comments on the 
proposed site plan. All basic utility services are available to the site. Utility service and meter 
locations will need to be coordinated with Cedar Falls Utilities.  
 
The City Engineering Division has had comments regarding their Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) for the site. A number of deficiencies were noted by City staff during 
several past site visits; however, those items have been addressed by the developer. The 
developer and contractor for the site will need to address any changes that occur as 
construction continues on the site with continued maintenance, weekly inspections, seeding 
during appropriate times, and use of SWPPP approved stabilization techniques. The City is 
requiring that the developer obtain an individual SWPPP permit for each of the remaining 
buildings on the site prior to construction to help maintain control of the site during the duration 
of the remaining construction on the site.   
 
As this is the last outbuilding to be built on the site, the City Engineering Division 
recommends that all site final grading and stabilization take place prior to the final 
occupancy of said outbuilding. All improvements including the sidewalk along W. Viking 
Road, landscaping improvements, trash enclosure and the parking lot south of the 
Gymnasium will be required to be completed to fulfill City Code requirements for the site. 
All improvements will need to be made and in working order as the site will be 
considered fully developed upon the completion of the last outbuilding.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted PC-2 Site Plan for 
930 Viking Rd. building #2 at their regular meeting on 25h January 2023 with a vote of 6 ayes, 
and 0 nays. Staff also recommends approval, subject to compliance with the conditions noted in 
the staff report above and any comments or direction specified by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Discussion 
& 
Vote 
1/25/2023 

Acting Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that the site is located at 930 Viking Rd. and it is 
proposed to build a 6,005 square-foot retail outbuilding, which will be the last 
building in the area. Mr. Atodaria noted that alongside the new building, the 
applicant will also be completing previous commitments including parking lot, 
sidewalks both along Viking Rd and the ones between the outbuildings, trash 
enclosure, landscaping, and seeding. He also noted that as per the code, the site 
is currently under-parked, and the applicant needs to add landscaping for 
additional 443 planting points to meet the screening requirement. Mr. Atodaria 
noted that the building design was similar to the other buildings in the area and 
noted that the applicant will have to add the two-trash enclosure on site as 
previously approved. Mr. Atodaria also discussed that the applicant will have to 
ensure that SWPPP controls are installed and maintained and all needed 
improvements including previous commitments are completed to fulfill City Code 
requirements. Staff recommends approval subject to compliance with the 
conditions noted in the staff report and any comments or direction by the 
Commission.  

Applicant Dave Sund thanked Mr. Atodaria for his presentation and mentioned 
that they will do everything to satisfy all the comments from staff and all 
requirements to get the occupancy. 150

Item 15.



Mr. Larson made a motion to approve the plan subject to satisfying details for 
landscaping plan. Ms. Moser seconded the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously with 6 ayes (Crisman, Hartley, Larson, Leeper, Grybovych and 
Moser), and 0 nays. 

 
  

 

151

Item 15.



Dry

Ru
n

Cr
ee

k
(S

)

Technology
Park

Industrial
Park

CFU Solar
Garden

Prairie
Lakes
Park

Prairie Lakes Trail

Enterprise Dr

We
stm

ins
ter

 Dr

W Viking Rd

M-1 M-2

M-1-PA-1
PC-2

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
January 25, 2023

PC-2 Site Plan Review
for Outbuilding #2, 930 Viking Road
(SP22-019)

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

CenterS t

Ma
in

St

E Greenhill Rd

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

SM
ain

St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

152

Item 15.



32'-6"'

265'-0"'

FU
TU

RE
 P

AR
KI

NG

FU
TU

RE
 

SI
DE

W
AL

K

FU
TU

RE
 

SI
DE

W
AL

K

924 VIKING RD 

924 Viking Rd - Revised SWPPP Plan
0 50 100 150 200 250 300 FT

Dumpster

Re
ta

in
in

g 
W

al
l

FU
TU

RE
 P

AR
KI

NG

FU
TU

RE
 9

30
 V

IK
IN

G 
BU

IL
DI

NG
93

6 V
IK

IN
G 

RD
 

 9
18

 V
IK

IN
G 

RD
91

2 V
IK

IN
G 

RD
 

Future Patio

36'-6"

57'-5" 138'-8"

11
'-0

"

FUTURE
DUMPSTER

ENCLOSURE

FUTURE
DUMPSTER

ENCLOSURE

153

Item 15.



32'-6"'

265'-0"'

FU
TU

RE
 P

AR
KI

NG

FU
TU

RE
 

SI
DE

W
AL

K

FU
TU

RE
 

SI
DE

W
AL

K

924 VIKING RD 

924 Viking Rd - Revised SWPPP Plan
0 50 100 150 200 250 300 FT

Re
ta

in
in

g 
W

al
l

FU
TU

RE
 P

AR
KI

NG

FU
TU

RE
 9

30
 V

IK
IN

G 
BU

IL
DI

NG
93

6 V
IK

IN
G 

RD
 

 9
18

 V
IK

IN
G 

RD
91

2 V
IK

IN
G 

RD
 

Future Patio

7 x EXISTING AP

2 x EXISTING AP

REPLACE 2 x EXISTING BHS

4 x EXISTING AP

8 x EXISTING AP

3 x EXISTING AP

12 x EXISTING SM 2

1 x EXISTING AM 2

8 x EXISTING AM 2

5 x EXISTING RB 2

2 x EXISTING BHS

2 x EXISTING BHS

2 x EXISTING AM 2

3 x EXISTING RB 2

2 x EXISTING RB 2

6 x EXISTING RB 1

4 x EXISTING RB 23 x EXISTING RB 1

5 x EXISTING SM 14 x EXISTING AM 1

8 x EXISTING SM 1

2 x EXISTING RB 2

6 x EXISTING PFC2 x EXISTING PFC2 x EXISTING PFC

2 x EXISTING PFC

2 x EXISTING PFC

2 x EXISTING PFC

1 x EXISTING PFC

1 x EXISTING SP

1 x EXISTING SP

2 x EXISTING SP

2 x EXISTING SP

1 x EXISTING SP

3 x EXISTING SP

2 x EXISTING SP

1 x EXISTING SP
1 x EXISTING AL
1 x EXISTING BB

1 x EXISTING SP

1 x EXISTING SP

4 x EXISTING AL

1 x EXISTING SP

1 x EXISTING AL

3 x EXISTING SP

3 x EXISTING AL

1 x EXISTING SP
3 x EXISTING AL
1 x EXISTING JY

1 x EXISTING JY

3 x EXISTING SP
2 x EXISTING AL

3 x EXISTING SP
1 x EXISTING AL

PLANT MATERIAL SCHEDULE
TAG DESCRIPTION SIZE QUANTITY POINTS TOTAL POINTS

EXISTING AP

EXISTING AM 1

EXISTING BHS

EXISTING RB 1

EXISTING SM 1

EXISTING PFC

EXISTING AL

EXISTING JY

EXISTING ALLIUM
EXISTING AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE

EXISTING AUSTRIAN PINE

EXISTING BLACK HILLS SPRUCE
EXISTING JAPANESE YEW
EXISTING PRAIRIE FIRE CRABAPPLE
EXISTING RIVER BIRCH

EXISTING SUGAR MAPLE

2 x EXISTING SP

#5
4"

6'

6'
#5
2"
4"

4"

EXISTING AM 2 EXISTING AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE 2"

EXISTING SP EXISTING SPIREA #5
EXISTING SM 2 EXISTING SUGAR MAPLE 2"

EXISTING RB 2 EXISTING RIVER BIRCH 2"

EXISTING BB EXISTING BARBERRY #5

15
4

24

6
2

17
13

9

11

28
16

10

1

10
100

80

80
10
40

100

100

80

10
80

80

10

150
400

1,920

480
20

680
1,300

900

880

280
1,280

800

10

ROAD FRONTAGE: 630', POINTS REQUIRED AT FRONTAGE: 473, POINTS PROVIDED AT FRONTAGE: 2,540

TOTAL POINTS OF EXISTING 9,100

6 x NEW AP

9 x NEW AP

1 x NEW PFC

1 x NEW PFC
1 x NEW PFC

1 x NEW PFC

3 x NEW SP

3 x NEW AL

3 x NEW SP

4 x NEW RB 2

4 x NEW SP

3 x NEW AL

3 x NEW AL

3 x NEW SP

3 x NEW SP

3 x NEW SP

3 x NEW AL

3 x NEW AL

2 x NEW AM 2

1 x NEW AM 2

4 x NEW SP

1 x NEW PFC

7 x NEW SM 2

NEW AL
NEW AM 2
NEW AP
NEW PFC
NEW RB 2

NEW SP
NEW SM 2

NEW ALLIUM

NEW AUSTRIAN PINE
NEW AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE

NEW PRAIRIE FIRE CRABAPPLE
NEW RIVER BIRCH

NEW SPIREA
NEW SUGAR MAPLE

#5

6'
2"

2"
2"

#5
2"

15
3

5

7
23

15

4

10

10

80

80
80

80
40

150
240

1,200
200
320
560
230

3,370TOTAL POINTS OF NEW

GRAND TOTAL OF POINT 12,470

TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE: 598,514 SQ. FT., POINTS REQUIRED FOR SQUARE FOOTAGE 11,971 SQ. FT., POINTS PROVIDED FOR SQUARE FOOTAGE 12,000 SQ. FT.

19 x NEW WGB
28 x NEW WGB

NEW WGB NEW WINTER GEM BOXWOOD #5 47 10 470

154

Item 15.



 

Copyright R. Wayne Williamson, AIA

Date: 7/14/21

A3
Sheet Number

Sheet Name

ELEVATIONS
 

Drawn By Checked By

RWW RWW

CAD File Name
Building 2 Plans

Project Number

021012

Da
te

DK
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
TH

IS
 P

LA
N,

 IN
CL

UD
IN

G 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

AN
D 

CO
NC

EP
T,

 IS
 T

HE
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y 

O
F

R.
 W

AY
NE

 W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N,

 A
RC

HI
TE

CT
AN

D 
IS

 P
RO

TE
CT

ED
 U

ND
ER

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
LA

W
. U

NA
UT

OR
IZ

ED
 U

SE
IS

 S
TR

IC
TL

Y 
PR

OH
IB

IT
ED

.

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
  

©
 2

02
1

BY
 R

. W
AY

NE
 W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N,
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

A 
Ne

w
 F

ac
ili

ty
 a

t:

93
0 V

ik
in

g 
Ro

ad
Bu

ild
in

g 
#2

Ce
da

r F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

De
sc

rip
tio

n 
of

 R
ev

is
io

n

61
6 C

la
y 

St
re

et
, C

ed
ar

 F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

31
9-

76
8-

72
35

R.
 W

ay
ne

 W
ill

ia
m

so
n,

 A
rc

hi
te

ct

SIGNAGE SIGNAGESIGNAGE

18
'-0

"

18
'-0

"

18
'-0

"

301 B

B1

A A D 302 303D

D1

A B

4

4

1

1

2 1 2 1

13

2 1

3

2 1

1 4

4 1

1

2 1

3

2 2 1

3

2 1

1

4

5

4

5

6

6

6

6

7

7

8

7

8

9

A

1

1

7/8" VERTICAL CORRUGATED METAL PANEL - CHARCOAL

7/8" VERTICAL CORRUGATED METAL PANEL - SILVER

ROCK FACED CEMENT MASONRY UNITS - GRAY COLOR

CUMARU WOOD SHIPLAP SIDING WITH NATURAL COLOR SEALER

GALVANIZED STEEL FRAME PAINTED BONE WHITE, 2 COATS OVER PRIMER, SEMI-GLOSS

STEEL SOFFIT AND FASCIA TRIM - SILVER

GALVANIZED STEEL CHANNEL PAINTED BONE WHITE, 2 COATS OVER PRIMER, SEMI-GLOSS

CUMARU WOOD 2 x 8 OUTLOOKERS WITH NATURAL COLOR SEALER

STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF - GALVALUME

NOTE: ALL EXTERIOR MATERIALS MUST HAVE A SAMPLE APPROVED BY THE ARCHITECT BEFORE
MATERIALS ARE ORDERED

8 x 8 GUTTER & 4 x 6 DOWNSPOUTS - CHARCOAL

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

NORTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

2
A3

SOUTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

3
A3

EAST ELEVATION
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

4
A3

121

1 3 4

4

4

4

5

5

5

6

6

1

1

10

10

7
7

7

8

9

E

1 2 1

134

4

4

4

5

5

5

6

6

1

1

10

10

7
7

7

8

9

E

9 9 9

1

1 1 1 1 1

1 1

C C
305304

7

7

5

10

10

6

7

5

10

10

6

STOOP STOOP STOOP

306 307

SIGNAGE SIGNAGESIGNAGE

18
'-0

"

301 B

B1

A A D 302 303D

D1

A B

4

4

1

1

2 1 2 1

13

2 1

3

2 1

1 4

4 1

1

2 1

3

2 2 1

3

2 1

1

4

5

4

5

6

6

6

6

7

7

8

7

8

9

A

1

1

WEST ELEVATION
Scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

1
A3

STOOP STOOP STOOP

7/8" VERTICAL CORRUGATED METAL PANEL - CHARCOAL

7/8" VERTICAL CORRUGATED METAL PANEL - SILVER

ROCK FACED CEMENT MASONRY UNITS - GRAY COLOR

CUMARU WOOD SHIPLAP SIDING WITH NATURAL COLOR SEALER

GALVANIZED STEEL FRAME PAINTED BONE WHITE, 2 COATS OVER PRIMER, SEMI-GLOSS

STEEL SOFFIT AND FASCIA TRIM - SILVER

GALVANIZED STEEL CHANNEL PAINTED BONE WHITE, 2 COATS OVER PRIMER, SEMI-GLOSS

CUMARU WOOD 2 x 8 OUTLOOKERS WITH NATURAL COLOR SEALER

STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF - GALVALUME

EXTERIOR FINISH GUIDE
NOTE: ALL EXTERIOR MATERIALS MUST HAVE A SAMPLE APPROVED BY THE ARCHITECT BEFORE

MATERIALS ARE ORDERED

8 x 8 GUTTER & 4 x 6 DOWNSPOUTS - CHARCOAL

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

WALL FINISH PERCENTAGES

PERCENTAGESMATERIALS

FRONT       BUILDING

CORRUGATED METAL PANEL

ROCK FACED CMU

WOOD SHIPLAP SIDING

DOORS & WINDOWS

43%

8%

20%

29%

61%

6%

11%

22%

155

Item 15.



156

Item 15.



157

Item 16.



158

Item 16.



159

Item 16.



160

Item 16.



161

Item 16.



162

Item 16.



163

Item 16.



164

Item 16.



165

Item 16.



166

Item 16.



167

Item 16.



168

Item 16.



169

Item 16.



170

Item 16.



171

Item 16.



172

Item 16.



173

Item 16.



174

Item 16.



175

Item 16.



176

Item 16.



177

Item 16.



178

Item 16.



179

Item 16.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Luke Andreasen, PE 
 
 DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Main Street Reconstruction (6th St. to University) 
  City Project Number: RC-000-3283 
  Warranty Deed 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to reconstruct Main Street from 6th Street to 
University Avenue from a 4-lane roadway to a 3-lane roadway. Included in the project 
will be the intersections at Seerley Boulevard, 18th Street, 12th Street, and potentially 6th 
Street which will be replaced with single-lane roundabouts to improve the overall traffic 
safety and flow in all directions of travel. The project will also include improvements to 
the water main, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, sidewalks, and other miscellaneous 
roadway items. The project required partial acquisition for new city ROW from nine (9) 
properties. In addition, two (2) total take acquisitions were required to accommodate the 
new roundabout at the 12th/Main intersection. The City has closed on the following 
acquisition: 
 

Parcel # Owner Address/Parcel ID Acquisition Type 

130 DEV Properties, LLC 720 Main Street Partial 

 
Attached is a strip map of the entire project where these properties can by identified by 
parcel number. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends that the City 
Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving the warranty deed for 
this property acquisition. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 

180

Item 17.



p
w

:/
/f

o
th

-p
w

.b
e
n

tl
e
y

.c
o

m
:f

o
th

-p
w

-0
1

/D
o

c
u

m
e
n

ts
/C

li
e
n

ts
/C

e
d

a
r 

F
a
ll

s
 I

A
 C

/M
a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t 

R
e
c
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

/C
A

D
/D

is
p

la
y

s
/A

lt
e
rn

a
ti

v
e
s
/S

tr
ip

M
a
p

_
U

lt
im

a
te

_
P

U
B

5
/2

3
/2

0
2

2

11
14

15

16

17

18

21

22

23

24 27

28

29

30

31

33

32

40

39

38

37

36

41

44

42 43

45

46

47

50

51

52

53

54 55
56

57

58

59

62

63 64 65

66

67

68

71

72

73

74 75

76 79

80

81

82

83

84

87

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

102

103

104

105

106
107

108

109

110

111 114

115

116

117

120

121

122

123

124

125

126 129

130 131 132 133

134

135

138 139
142

150

151

154

155

156
157158

159

162

163

166

167

168

169
170

171

174

175

176177178179

180183

184

185

186

187

188

191

192

193

194

195

196

197

198

199

202

203

204

205

206

207

208
211

212213214

215

216

217

218

221

222223224225

226

227

230

231

232233

234

235

236

237240

241

242

244245

246

243

247
250

251

252

253

254

255

256

259

261

260

262
263

264

265
266

267
270

271

272

273

274

275

278

280

281

282

283

279

284

288

287

289

290

291

292

293

294295

296

298

300

299

BUS-45

AASHTO 2018 (US)
(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

B
U

S
-

4
5

A
A
S

H
T
O
 
2
0
1
8
 
(U

S
)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

B
U

S
-

4
5

A
A
S

H
T
O
 
2
0
1
8
 
(U

S
)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45
AASHTO 2018 (US)

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

BUS-45

AASHTO 2018 (US)
(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.

B
U

S
-

4
5

A
A
S

H
T
O
 
2
0
1
8
 
(U

S
)

(c)
 2

02
2 

Tra
ns

oft
 S

olu
tio

ns
, I

nc
. A

ll 
rig

hts
 re

se
rve

d.

FEET

0 100

 WASHINGTON ST

Cedar Falls, Iowa
Main Street Reconstruction

STATE ST

W
 2

0
T

H
 S

T

 W
 2

1
S

T
 S

T

W
 2

2
N

D
 S

T

 S
E
E

R
L
E

Y
 B

L
V

D

 E
 2

0
T

H
 S

T

E
 2

1
S

T
 S

T

 W
 1

7
T

H
 S

T

W
 1

8
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

5
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

6
T

H
 S

T

 WASHINGTON ST

 E
 1

6
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

5
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

4
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

3
T

H
 S

T

W
 7

T
H

 S
T

 E
 7

T
H

 S
T

 W
 9

T
H

 S
T

W
 1

0
T

H
 S

T

 W
 1

1
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

1
T

H
 S

T

STATE ST

 W
 6

T
H

 S
T

 WASHINGTON ST

 E
 6

T
H

 S
T

W
 8

T
H

 S
T

E
 8

T
H

 S
T

E
 9

T
H

 S
T

E
 1

0
T

H
 S

T

STATE ST

 W
 1

2
T

H
 S

T

 E
 1

2
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

3
T

H
 S

T

E
 1

4
T

H
 S

T

2604 MAIN ST

D AND J INVESTMENTS INC
110 E SEERLEY BLVD

HARDING ENTERPRISES L C 2310 MAIN ST

LINCOLN SAVINGS BANK

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

201 E 22ND ST

201 PROPERTIES LLC

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

2120 MAIN ST

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

TWIN CARD HOLDINGS LLC

107 E 21ST ST

105 E 21ST ST

WEVERINK, MICHELE L

115 E 21ST ST

TRAETOW, MARY A

2018 MAIN ST

2C PROPERTIES LLC

106 E 21ST ST

104 E 21ST ST

MAI, JASON J

114 E 21ST ST

SULLIVAN,DIANE M TRUST

SULLIVAN,DANIEL E TRUST

2C PROPERTIES LLC

ANGOVE,VICKI TRUST

ANGOVE,GREGORY TRUST

111 E 20TH ST

SCHWAN, EMILY

MASON, THOMAS

115 E 20TH ST

ROBERTS, DONALD

1934 MAIN ST

DJS PROPERTIES LLC

DJS PROPERTIES LLC

T & R RENTALS LLC

106 E 20TH ST

MANLEY, LYNN A

114 E 20TH ST

DAGIT, DEBORAH K

DAGIT, SCOTT K

1932 MAIN ST

1930 MAIN ST

T & R RENTALS LLC

1820 MAIN ST

DEERY INVESTMENTS INC

1922 MAIN ST

KLEIN STORAGE LLC

1904 MAIN ST

DEERY INVESTMENTS INC

103 E 18TH ST

PROPERTIES L C

GRACIE MAE 

113 E 18TH ST

111 E 18TH ST

109 E 18TH ST

107 E 18TH ST

HESSE,C AND L LLC

123 E 18TH ST

ROUNDABOUT CENTER LLC

CVVC PROPERTIES L L C

120 E 18TH ST

118 E 18TH ST

TRP PROPERTIES L L C

1718 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1702 MAIN ST

PERMANENT PLANNING INC

1624 MAIN ST

CREW, JUDY L

1616 MAIN ST

RENTALS LLC

CHRISTOPHERSON 1612 MAIN ST

BIENFANG, MARY K

1604 MAIN ST

HAND, MARCEY J

HAND, CHRISTOPHE M

115 E 16TH ST

CRONKHITE, SARA N

CRONKHITE, LEE J

CRONKHITE, SARA N

CRONKHITE, LEE J

120 E 16TH ST

MONAGHAN, BRIAN P

MONAGHAN, BRIDGETTE R

1524 MAIN ST

ROLFES, LANA

ROLFES, DENNIS

1516 MAIN ST

CRALL, MICHAEL G

1504 MAIN ST

CRALL, MICHAEL

115 E 15TH ST

GREDER, GRANT

KEW, BRANDON C

119 E 15TH ST

STRICKLAND, JANE M

121 E 15TH ST

PEVERILL, TAMARA K

PEVERILL, KENNETH W

116 E 15TH ST

GEMINI PROPERTIES L L C

110 E 15TH ST

KRAAYENBRINK, MARLA R

KRAAYENBRINK, RANDY L

1422 MAIN ST

PRIEBE, JOSHUA

PRIEBE, DANIELLE

1416 MAIN ST

VORLAND, DAVID E

1404 MAIN ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

1403 STATE ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

114 E 14TH ST

PAULI, JACOB

PAULI, NIKOLE

1322 MAIN ST

MALBEC PROPERTIES LLC

1316 MAIN ST

KOG PROPERTIES LLC

1310 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1303 STATE ST

PAGEL, LA DONNA K

PAGEL, LARRY E

110 E 13TH ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1121 STATE ST

KUEHL, JEANETTE M

1124 MAIN ST

MARTINEZ, SHEREE

MARTINEZ, MICHAEL R
1120 MAIN ST

LILLY, JAMES A

LILLY, JOSEPHINE A

1116 MAIN ST

COLLINS, JOHNPAUL

1112 MAIN ST

MC FARLANE, DIANE M

MC FARLANE, MONTELL G

1108 MAIN ST

CV PROPERTIES II LLC

1104 MAIN ST

TENTINGER, PETER

111 E 11TH ST

RENTALS OF IOWA LLC

115 E 11TH ST

GERKEN, SUSAN K

GERKEN, ROBERT D

1103 STATE ST

MB RENTALS II LLC

1021 STATE ST

SOUTER, JASMINE M

GASSMAN, MICHAEL

112 E 11TH ST

MC CARTY RENTALS LLC

1022 MAIN ST

SMITH, CHARLOTTE I

1018 MAIN ST

AIRJB LLC

1014 MAIN ST

1012 MAIN ST

1010 MAIN ST

WERNIMONT LLC 1006 MAIN ST

SMIGELSKI, JUSTIN P

1004 MAIN ST

WELSH INVESTMENTS LLC

109 E 10TH ST

HERNANDEZ, THERESA M

GRIFFIN, ELAINE C

117 E 10TH ST

RENTALS OF IOWA LLC

1003 STATE ST

JOHNSON, CHARLES T

JOHNSON, MELINDA C
921 STATE ST

JRICE, MIMI

114 E 10TH ST

MELICK, KENT

MELICK, JEAN

902 MAIN ST

FIRST PRESBYTER, IAN CHURCH C

FIRST PRESBYTER, IAN CHURCH C

124 E 9TH ST

KNAPP, WENDY S

114 E 9TH ST

RUSSELL, NATASHA K

RUSSELL, JAMES C

824 MAIN ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

816 MAIN ST

SHYMANSKY, BROCK JAMES

SHYMANSKY, JAMES ANDREW

SHYMANSKY, MICHAEL BOND

802 MAIN ST

800 MAIN ST

ST PATRICKS CHU, RCH

113 E 8TH ST

PIGGOTT, KAIA A

PIGGOTT, JUSTIN G

803 STATE ST

801 STATE ST

KEL MAR LC

721 STATE ST

PIGGOTT, KAIA A

PIGGOTT, JUSTIN G

720 MAIN ST

DEV PROPERTIES LLC

716 MAIN ST

WILCOX, PETER J

712 MAIN ST

710 MAIN ST

708 MAIN ST

706 MAIN ST

BAUCH, CHRISTINA B

BAUCH, JAMES C

702 MAIN ST

702 MAIN LLC

115 E 7TH ST

PROPERTIES LLC

RANDYS RENTAL 

703 STATE ST

123 E 7TH ST

RETH, ADAM

622 MAIN ST

KNUTSON, MARK L

KNUTSON, THERESA B
602 MAIN ST

FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF CF

528 MAIN ST

524 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

515 MAIN ST

FARMERS STATE BANK

516 WASHINGTON ST

CHEVROLET CO INC

RASMUSSON 

HI YIELD LLC

116 W 6TH ST

RICHARDSON FUNERAL HOME INC

601 MAIN ST

CASEYS MARKETING COMPANY

613 MAIN ST

NELSON FUNERAL HOME INCHI YIELD LLC

123 W 7TH ST

HI YIELD LLC

123 W 8TH ST

705 MAIN ST

ST PATRICK CHURCH

115 W 8TH ST

ST PATRICK CHURCH

804 WASHINGTON ST

KEISER, CAROLINE

KEISER, DOUGLAS B

801 MAIN ST

SCHMITT, THERESA D

SCHMITT, KASEY J

805 MAIN ST

CNC INVESTMENTS L L C

811 MAIN ST

M J KNOX LLC
815 MAIN ST

JUANITA LLC

822 WASHINGTON ST

BECKER, AMY L

BECKER, BRIAN C

904 WASHINGTON ST

HARTON, HELEN C

116 W 9TH ST

RICKARD, CLARK J

RICKARD, TWYLA J

903 MAIN ST

RICKARD, CLARK J

909 MAIN ST

HOVENGA, MICHELLE

HOVENGA, REGGIE S

915 MAIN ST

CHASE, SCOTT A

921 MAIN ST

SHUMAKER, CHARLES A

SHUMAKER, AMANDA L

920 WASHINGTON ST

NEWTON, MARK R

122 W 10TH ST

PITZENBERGER, MARY

112 W 10TH ST

STICKFORT, SUSAN G

STICKFORT, THOMAS E

1003 MAIN ST

CHRISTMAN, JESSICA A

CHRISTMAN, KEVIN J

1009 MAIN ST

WILSON CLASBY, NIKKI J

CLASBY, DANIEL B

1015 MAIN ST

CALVARY BAPTIST, CHURCH OF C

1022 WASHINGTON ST

BUTLER, BETTY J

BUTLER, MICHAEL J

120 W 11TH ST

RUSSELL, MEGHAN D

RUSSELL, BEN J

118 W 11TH ST

COLSCH, JOSHUA

COLSCH, JENNIFER

COLSCH, JONATHAN

1103 MAIN ST

1103 MAIN CO OP INC

1109 MAIN ST

MERSHON RENTALS LLC

1115 MAIN ST

CUNNINGHAM, MICHAEL E

1117 MAIN ST

ANDERSON, JOYCE E1123 MAIN ST

1125 MAIN ST

K3D LLC

109 W 12TH ST

K3D LLC

1124 WASHINGTON ST

BEARDSLEY, BRYAN L

1204 WASHINGTON ST

RASMUSSON, DONALD R

114 W 12TH ST

RASMUSSON,JACK R FAMILY TRUST

RASMUSSON,PATRICIA M

1203 MAIN ST

CHRISTOPHERSON, VALERIE K

CHRISTOPHERSON, DAVID J

1209 MAIN ST

TIGERHAWK RENTALS LLC

1217 MAIN ST

MOSSMAN, OLIVIA

MOSSMAN, JONATHAN

1221 MAIN ST

MEINDERS, KOREY J

MEINDERS, CLAYTON

1220 WASHINGTON ST

WINTERHOF, KIM A

WINTERHOF, GARY L

1304 WASHINGTON ST

LEEPER, JENNIFER R

LEEPER, BRADLY D

1303 MAIN ST

ASCHERL, NANCY L

1309 MAIN ST

TURNER, PATRICIA M

TURNER, JOSEPH W

1315 MAIN ST

TURNER, PATRICIA M

TURNER, JOSEPH W

1321 MAIN ST

PONTIOUS, BIANCA

111 W 14TH ST

PURDY, KENT N

115 W 14TH ST

SCHLICHER, MARY A

1322 WASHINGTON ST

PHILLIPS, ANDREA L

1404 WASHINGTON ST

FUCHS, MIKAYLA

FUCHS, BENJAMIN

1403 MAIN ST

COURTNEY, JAY J

1411 MAIN ST

1409 MAIN ST

1407 MAIN ST

MAIN PROPERTIES LLC

1415 MAIN ST

RICHTER, RENELL S

RICHTER, DOUGLAS A

1421 MAIN ST

WEBB, KAREN J

WEBB, DALE S

115 W 15TH ST

RIDENOUR, KIMIE A

1422 WASHINGTON ST

RIDENOUR, KIMIE A

1504 WASHINGTON ST

NORTHWESTERN BELL TELEPHONE CO

1503 MAIN ST

STINER, EMILY M

STINER, DAVID HENRY

1509 MAIN ST

KOTZ, SUE A
1515 MAIN ST

MORAN, AIDAN

1523 MAIN ST

BLOOMQUIST, KARIN

BLOOMQUIST, MITCHEL

115 W 16TH ST

GILGEN, JAMES D

117 W 16TH ST

WERNIMONT REALTY LLC

1520 WASHINGTON ST

WERNIMONT REALTY LLC

1604 WASHINGTON ST

PROPERTIES L L C

OTTER CREEK

114 W 16TH ST

SWAYNE, JENNIFER

110 W 16TH ST

EVERSON, JULIE

1609 MAIN ST

BUNDY, STEVEN J

1615 MAIN ST

KOTZ, LINDSEY A1621 MAIN ST

MB RENTALS II LLC

1603 MAIN ST

MAKA PROPERTIES LLC

1622 WASHINGTON ST

FAUSER, JANE A

FAUSER, RICHARD D

1702 WASHINGTON ST

HOUG, DUSTIN W

1703 MAIN ST

KOG PROPERTIES LLC

1709 MAIN ST

MORD, SHARON J

MORD, JAN K

1711 MAIN ST

FISHER, MARY C

1715 MAIN ST

FREED RENTALS L L C

1721 MAIN ST

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1722 WASHINGTON ST

DT RENTALS LLC

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

1907 MAIN ST

SLINKER, GEORGIA M

SLINKER, DARYL R

1901 MAIN ST

VETTER, LEANN M

VETTER, THOMAS J

1915 MAIN ST

KELLY R & J FAM TRUST

1925 MAIN ST

REISETTER, JENNIFER A

REISETTER, MATTHEW T

1929 MAIN ST

CLAYTON, JENNIFER

CLAYTON, JEREMY

1931 MAIN ST

ROBERT, RICHARD L

1935 MAIN ST

BUDKE, PATRICIA L

BUDKE, KENNETH A

115 W 20TH ST

ROBERT, RICHARD L
2004 WASHINGTON ST

HOEL, TERRY D

2003 MAIN ST

DOLLYS RENTALS LLC

2009 MAIN ST

NUSS, JAMES B

2017 MAIN ST

CHRISTOPHERSON, DAVID J

2021 MAIN ST

CBJ HOLDINGS LLC

2022 WASHINGTON ST

KERR, KATHLEEN A

110 W 21ST ST

SOUTHGATE PROPERTIES L C

2109 MAIN ST

REFSHAUGE, BONITA M

2115 MAIN ST

SOUTHGATE PROPERTIES L C

2121 MAIN ST

HICKS, BONNIE K

HAHN, JERRY W

2125 MAIN ST

PURDY, KENT N

2103 MAIN ST

THOMPSON, SANDRA L

117 W 22ND ST

ANDERA, JORDAN D

2203 MAIN ST

JACOBSON, DONALD L

2204 WASHINGTON ST

THOMPSON, JOANNA L

2205 MAIN ST

COULTHARD, VERLA F

COULTHARD, ALVIN E2215 MAIN ST

2217 MAIN ST

SCHWAKE, MARY L

SCHWAKE, JEFFREY A

2221 MAIN ST

RIVERSIDE INVESTMENTS LLC

2301 MAIN ST

RIVERSIDE INVESTMENTS LLC

2303 MAIN ST

CV PROPERTIES II LLC

2309 MAIN ST

EMAAD LLC

2323 MAIN ST

EMAAD LLC

2322 WASHINGTON ST

PARTNERSHIP

IVERSON AND REIGHARD

204 SEERLEY BLVD

Z PROPERTIES LLC

7404 UNIVERSITY AVE

D AND J INVESTMENTS INC

STATE OF IOWA

181

Item 17.

AndreasenL
Line



182

Item 17.



183

Item 17.



184

Item 17.



185

Item 17.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February, 6, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Fiber Optic License Agreement 
   Aureon Network Services 
   The Quarters 
 
Enclosed is a proposed License Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Aureon 
Network Services to install an additional long-distance telecommunications system 
consisting of fiber optic cable within the public right-of way of the City, in order to extend 
and upgrade services owned by Aureon Network Services across W. 27th Street near the 
Greenhill Road intersection.  
 
The City of Cedar Falls has entered into previous license agreements with Iowa Network 
Services, now Aureon Network Services. The proposed License Agreement follows the 
terms and conditions set forth in the earlier agreements and is intended to protect the City 
of Cedar Falls right-of way and manage and regulate in a manner consistent with federal 
and state law. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends your approval of 
this proposed License Agreement. 
 
 
xc:  David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  
 
 
  
 

186

Item 18.



187

Item 18.



188

Item 18.



189

Item 18.



190

Item 18.



191

Item 18.



192

Item 18.



193

Item 18.



194

Item 18.



195

Item 18.



196

Item 18.



197

Item 18.



EXHIBIT A 

TEXT DESCRIPTION OF ALIGNMENT FOR AUREON FIBER OPTIC CABLE INSTALLATION IN CEDAR FALLS 

Page 1 of 1 

 

The facility shall consist of one (1) two (2”) inch diameter High-Density Polyethylene (HDPE) duct with 96 

count fiber cable installed at minimum depths of: sixty (60”) inches below public roadways, forty-eight 

(48”) inches below private driveways, and forty-two (42”) inch “plan depths” in grassed areas.  

In general terms, within the north & south right-of-way of W 27TH Street and more particularly described 

as follows: 

1. The facility shall begin at a proposed handhole located in the north right-of-way of W 27th  

Street at a point being three hundred seventy-eight (378’) feet easterly of the centerline of 

Greenhill Rd and thirty-seven (37’) feet northerly of the W 27th Street centerline at station 

103+78 also being station 1+00 of the facility alignment as shown on sheet “2 of 4”, Project 

No. 2210.714, Exhibit B, a copy of which is attached to this Exhibit A. 

2. Thence southerly ten (10’) feet to the north edge of W 27th Street @ 60” min. depth to station 

103+78 & twenty-six (26’) feet Lt of W 27th Street centerline as shown on sheet “2 of 4” of said 

Exhibit B. 

3. Thence southerly from the north edge of W 27th Street ten (10’) feet to station 103+78 & 

sixteen (16’) north of W 27th Street centerline and underpass the existing east-west water 

main by twenty-four (24”) inch minimum as shown on sheet “2 of 4” of said Exhibit B. 

4. Thence continue south undercrossing W 27th Street @ a 60” min. depth to the southerly right-

of-way of W 27th Street and being station 103+78 forty-six and a half (46.5’) feet Rt of the W 

27th Street centerline alignment and out of City of Cedar Falls right-of way. Proposed fiber 

continues south on private property as shown on sheet “2 of 4” of said Exhibit B. 

198

Item 18.



EXHIBIT B

C
IV

IL
 D

ES
IG

N
 A

D
VA

N
TA

G
E

A
U

R
EO

N
 - 

C
ED

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
AT

E

C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

, I
O

W
A

FI
R

ST
 S

U
BM

IT
TA

L
11

/8
/2

02
2

PH
O

N
E:

 (5
15

) 3
69

-4
40

0

41
21

 N
W

 U
R

BA
N

D
AL

E 
D

R
IV

E
U

R
BA

N
D

AL
E,

 IA
 5

03
22

2210.714

11/8/2022
DATE:

SHEET NUMBER:

SE
C

O
N

D
 S

U
BM

IT
TA

L
01

/2
5/

20
23

1/4

AUREON NETWORK SERVICES

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

UTILITY WARNING
ANY UTILITIES SHOWN HAVE BEEN LOCATED FROM MAPS AND RECORDS
OBTAINED BY THIS SURVEYOR. THE SURVEYOR MAKES NO GUARANTEE THAT THE
UTILITIES SHOWN COMPRISE ALL THE UTILITIES IN THE AREA, EITHER IN SERVICE
OR ABANDONED. THE SURVEYOR FURTHER DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE
UTILITIES SHOWN ARE IN THE EXACT LOCATION SHOWN.

NOTES

PROPOSED:
2" ORANGE CONDUIT = 96' (REFLECTS ESTIMATED VERTICAL AND/ OR
CURVED ALIGNMENT SECTION LENGTHS).
HANDHOLES = 1

1. CONTACT THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AT 319-273-8629 AT FORTY-EIGHT (48HRS) HOURS PRIOR TO STARTING CONSTRUCTION.
a. THE WORK CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT ALLOW ANY ENTITIES' VEHICLES THAT ARE, IN ANY WAY, ON SITE BECAUSE OF THE PROJECT WORK, TO BE DRIVEN ON ANY RECREATIONAL TRAIL

SECTIONS. ANY AND ALL DAMAGED SECTION(S) SHALL BE REPLACED BY THE CONTRACTOR, TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE CITY ENGINEER, AT NO COST TO THE CITY.
2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT PLACE ANY HANDHOLES IN ANY EXISTING OR PLANNED FUTURE SIDEWALK, HANDICAPPED RAMP OR RECREATIONAL TRAIL..
3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BORE UNDER ALL EXISTING OR PLANNED FUTURE STREETS, ROADS, DRIVEWAYS, SIDEWALKS AND RECREATIONAL TRAILS, AS PER OTHER NOTES, VARIOUS
EXISTING AND PLANNED FUTURE UTILITY INFRASTRUCTURES.
4. CONTRACTOR PRACTICES AND ALL FINISHED WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE CURRENT STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS (SUDAS) PROGRAM, INCLUDING ALL LOCAL
GOVERNMENTAL SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS AND CEDAR FALLS SPECIFICATIONS IN EFFECT WITHIN THE APPLICABLE JURISDICTION. ALL AREAS WHERE WORK IS PERFORMED OR
AFFECTED BY THE WORK SHALL BE RETURNED TO A CONDITION EQUAL TO OR BETTER THAN THEIR ORIGINAL CONDITION, THE CEDAR FALLS CITY ENGINEER WILL GIVE FINAL DETERMINATION
WHETHER ALL "RETURNED CONDITIONS" ARE EQUAL TO OR BETTER THAN THE ORIGINAL AND ACCEPTABLE.
5. THE MINIMUM UNDERCROSSING CLEARANCE AT ALL STORM SEWERS AND STORM SEWER CULVERTS SHALL BE TWENTY-FOUR (24") INCHES. THE MINIMUM UNDERCROSSING CLEARANCE
UNDER WATERWAYS SHALL BE THIRTY-SIX (36") INCHES.

6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN AT LEAST ONE FOOT (1') OF HORIZONTAL CLEARANCE FROM STORM SEWER PIPES AND STRUCTURES WITH THE ALIGNMENT. THE FIBER OPTIC CABLE
SHALL ALWAYS BE PLACED BELOW (UNDERPASS) AN EXISTING STORM SEWER OR POSSIBLE FUTURE STORM SEWER BOTTOM OF PIPE ELEVATION BY A MINIMUM CLEARANCE OF 2'
7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN AT LEAST FOUR FEET (4') OF HORIZONTAL CLEARANCE FROM SANITARY SEWER PIPES AND STRUCTURES WITH THE ALIGNMENT. WHEN A 2' VERTICAL
CLEARANCE ABOVE AN EXISTING SANITARY SEWER OR POSSIBLE FUTURE SANITARY SEWER IS IN CONFLICT WITH A MINIMUM DEPTH BELOW GRADE, THE FIBER OPTIC CABLE SHALL BE PLACED
BELOW (UNDERPASS) THE SANITARY SEWER BOTTOM OF PIPE ELEVATION BY THE MINIMUM CLEARANCE OF 2'.
8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN AT LEAST THREE FEET (3') OF HORIZONTAL CLEARANCE AND TWO FEET (2') VERTICAL CLEARANCE FROM WATER MAINS WITH THE ALIGNMENT. WHEN A 2'
VERTICAL CLEARANCE ABOVE A WATER MAIN OR SERVICE IS IN CONFLICT WITH A MINIMUM DEPTH BELOW GRADE, THE FIBER OPTIC CABLE SHALL BE PLACED BELOW (UNDERPASS) THE WATER
MAIN OR SERVICE BOTTOM OF PIPE ELEVATION BY THE MINIMUM CLEARANCE OF 2'.
9. DISTANCES SHOWN ARE APPROXIMATE ONLY. CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY CONDITIONS AND MATERIALS NEEDED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.
10. IOWA STATE LAW REQUIRES EXCAVATORS TO NOTIFY IOWA ONE-CALL AT LEAST 48 (FORTY-EIGHT) HOURS PRIOR TO ALL EXCAVATIONS (EXCLUDING SATURDAYS, SUNDAYS, AND LEGAL
HOLIDAYS).  CONTRACTORS MUST CAREFULLY HAND DIG WITHIN THE 24” SAFETY ZONE WHEN EXPOSING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES. IOWA ONE-CALL DOES NOT MARK ALL PRIVATE UTILITIES.
11. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL CURRENT AND APPLICABLE OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEATH ADMINISTRATION (OSHA), FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL RULES AND
REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE SAFETY OF EMPLOYEES AND PROPER MATERIAL HANDLING DURING THE CONSTRUCTION, INSTALLATION, AND RESTORATIONS ON THIS PROJECT.
12. WHEN PLOWING/TRENCHING FOR PLACEMENT OF FIBER OPTIC CABLE OR DUCT, A MARKER TAPE SHALL ALSO BE PLACED 18” BELOW EXISTING SURFACE, DIRECTLY ABOVE THE CABLE OR
DUCT BEING PLACED.
13. NO TRENCH OR EXCAVATION SITE SHALL BE LEFT UNATTENDED AT ANY TIME OR LEFT OPEN OVERNIGHT.
14. THE FOLLOWING SPECIAL PROVISIONS SHALL APPLY TO TRAFFIC REGULATIONS DURING THE ENTIRE EXTENT OF THIS PROJECT WORK:

a. THERE SHALL BE AT ALL TIMES ADEQUATE VEHICLE AND PEDESTRIAN ACCESS FOR INGRESS AND EGRESS FOR THE PROPERTIES ADJACENT TO THE PROJECT WORK.
b. DURING NON-WORKING HOURS THE CONTRACTOR SHALL KEEP THE EXISTING TRAFFIC LANES CLEAR FROM INTERFERENCE, INCLUDING ALL APPROACHES AND INTERSECTIONS.
c. IF LANE BLOCKAGE IS UNAVOIDABLE, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE CITY ENGINEERING DIVISION, THE CITY MUNICIPAL OPERATIONS AND PROGRAMS DEPARTMENT, POLICE

DEPARTMENT, FIRE DEPARTMENT, AMBULANCE SERVICES, SCHOOL BUS GARAGES AND ALL OTHER AGENCIES OPERATIONS AS APPROPRIATE SO THAT THESE AGENCIES MAY PLAN TO
RE-ROUTE THEIR VEHICLES AROUND THE CONSTRUCTION WORK ZONE(S).
15. FOR ALL PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY AND PUBLIC PROPERTIES; ALL CONDUITS AND FIBER OPTIC CABLE SHALL BE PLACED AT A MINIMUM DEPTH OF SIXTY (60”) INCHES BELOW PUBLIC ROADWAYS
AND PUBLIC DITCH LINES, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED WITHIN A NOTE PERTAINING TO AN INDIVIDUAL UNIQUE AREA ALONG AN ALIGNMENT ON THIS PLAN VIEW SHEET.  ALL CONDUITS AND
FIBER OPTIC CABLE SHALL BE PLACED AT A MINIMUM DEPTH OF TWENTY FOUR (24”) BELOW PUBLIC STORM SEWERS, PUBLIC SUBDRAINS, PUBLIC CULVERTS, AND /OR PUBLIC WATERWAYS
BEING CROSSED. ALL FIBER OPTIC CABLE IN AREAS WITH GRASS COVER SHALL BE PLACED AT A MINIMUM DEPTH OF FORTY-TWO (42") INCHES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY AND AT A MINIMUM
DISTANCE OF 2' FROM OTHER UTILITIES, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED ON THIS PLAN VIEW SHEET. WHEN A 2' VERTICAL CLEARANCE ABOVE A UTILITY IS IN CONFLICT WITH ANY MINIMUM
BURY DEPTH WHETHER IT BE 42" IN GRASSED AREAS, 48" UNDERCROSSING DRIVEWAYS OR 60" UNDERCROSSING STREETS, THE FIBER OPTIC CABLE SHALL UNDERPASS THE UTILITIES BY A
MINIMUM CLEARANCE OF 2'.
16. PLAN SET / DESIGN DEVELOPMENT BY: CIVIL DESIGN ADVANTAGE-WAYNE HOUSER 515-369-4400
17. THE CONTACTS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS ENGINEERING DIVISION ARE MATTHEW TOLAN AND DAVE WICKE AT 319-268-5161.
18. BACKFILL COMPACTION FOR ALL AREAS EXCAVATED SHALL BE AS PER THE CURRENT IOWA STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS (SUDAS) AND THE CURRENT CITY OF CEDAR
FALLS, IOWA SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS AS FOLLOWS: USE NO MORE THAN EIGHT (8") INCH THICK LIFTS FOR BACKFILL AREAS MORE THAN THREE (3') FEET BELOW THE BOTTOM OF
PAVEMENT. USE NO MORE THAN SIX (6") INCH THICK LIFTS FOR BACKFILL AREAS LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO THREE (3') FEET BELOW THE BOTTOM OF PAVEMENT. COMPACTION TO AT LEAST 95%
OF STANDARD PROCTOR DENSITY WITHIN RIGHT-OF-WAY. OBTAIN REQUIRED COMPACTION WITHIN A SOIL MOISTURE RANGE OF OPTIMUM TO 4% ABOVE OPTIMUM MOISTURE CONTENT. IN
AREAS TO REMAIN UNPAVED, TERMINATE BACKFILL MATERIAL EIGHT (8") INCHES BELOW FINISHED GRADE. USE TOPSOIL FOR THE FINAL EIGHT (8") INCHES ABOVE BACKFILL MATERIAL.

ROUND STORM SEWER INTAKE

TELEVISION PEDESTAL

SIGN

STORM SEWER MANHOLE

WATER VALVE
TELEPHONE PEDESTAL

SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

STORM SEWER INTAKE

FIRE HYDRANT

FIBER OPTICS LINE
CABLE TELEVISION LINE
TELEPHONE LINE

POWER POLE
WATERMAIN
STORM SEWER
SANITARY SEWER
GAS LINE
ELECTRIC LINE
OVERHEAD ELECTRIC LINE

UNDERGROUND CONDUIT
HANDHOLE
FIBER OPTIC VAULT

H

MHFIBER OPTIC MANHOLE
FO

LEGEND

UTILITY PROVIDERS - IOWA ONE CALL DESIGN TICKET #552206852:
MEDIACOM
CONTACT NAME : BRIAN KADNER
CONTACT PHONE: 8455449656
CONTACT EMAIL: BKADNER@MEDIACOMCC.COM

CEDAR FALLS UTILITIES
CONTACT NAME : JERALD LUKENSMEYER
CONTACT PHONE: 3192685330
CONTACT EMAIL: JERALD.LUKENSMEYER@CFUNET.NET

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS
CONTACT NAME : TYLER GRIFFIN
CONTACT PHONE: 3192738600
CONTACT EMAIL: TYLER.GRIFFIN@CEDARFALLS.COM

CENTURYLINK
CONTACT NAME : SADIE HULL
CONTACT PHONE: 9185470147
CONTACT EMAIL: SADIE.HULL@LUMEN.COM

AUREON NETWORK SERVICES
CONTACT NAME : JEFF KLOCKO
CONTACT PHONE: 5158300445
CONTACT EMAIL: JEFF.KLOCKO@AUREON.COM

LENGTH OF UTILITY, IN CEDAR FALLS CITY RIGHT OF WAY
BEGINNING @ PROPOSED AUREON HH & BORE PIT IN THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY OF W 27TH STREET, THEN BORE SOUTH TO THE SOUTH RIGHT-OF WAY OF W 27TH STREET .

ENDING STA AND OFFSET                          BEGINNING STA AND OFFSET DISTANCE L.F.
103+78 46.5' RT (W 27TH ST. ALIGN) 83.5

 TOTAL L.F. OF 2" ORANGE CONDUIT IN CITY OF CEDAR FALLS RIGHT-OF-WAY 83.5 L.F.

103+78 36' LT- BP (W 27TH ST. ALIGN)

199

Item 18.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE: H:\2022\2210714\DWG\2210.714-AUREON-ICS(CEDAR FALLS).DWG H:\2022\2210714\DWG\2210.714-AUREON-ICS(CEDAR FALLS).DWG FILE DATE: 1/25/23  DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 1:33 PM COMMENT: 1/25/23  DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 1:33 PM COMMENT:   DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 1:33 PM COMMENT: DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 1:33 PM COMMENT: 1/25/2023 1:33 PM COMMENT: COMMENT: PLOTTED BY: WAYNE HOUSER TECH:  ENG: WAYNE HOUSER TECH:  ENG: TECH:  ENG: ENG: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MICHAEL A. BROONER, P.L.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAGES OR SHEETS COVERED BY THIS SEAL:

AutoCAD SHX Text
MY LICENSE RENEWAL DATE IS DECEMBER 31, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
MICHAEL A. BROONER 15980

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS LAND SURVEYING DOCUMENT WAS PREPARED AND THE RELATED SURVEY WORK WAS PERFORMED BY ME OR UNDER MY DIRECT PERSONAL SUPERVISION AND THAT I AM A DULY LICENSED PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF IOWA.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEETS 1 - 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LICENSE NUMBER 15980

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
OE

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

MBrooner
Typewritten Text
1-25-2023

tolanm
Stamp

tolanm
Text Box
2210.714

tolanm
Text Box
1/30/2023

tolanm
PowerPoint Presentation



36.0'
HH TO ℄

10
2+

00

10
3+

00

10
4+

00

10
5+

00

10
6+

00

10
7+

00

1+00

1+84

H

46.5'
 ℄ to
ROW

W 27TH STREET

PROPOSED AUREON (INS) 32"X48"x48"
HANDHOLE & BORE PIT OVER EXISTING

AUROEN 2" HDPE CONDUIT @ STA 103+78
36' LT (W 27TH STREET ALIGN)

CEDAR FALLS
WATERCEDAR FALLS

STORM SEWER

PROPOSED 2" CONDUIT
 W/96CT FIBER OPTIC CROSSING

W 27TH STREET ALIGNMENT
@ STA 103+78 @ 60" MINIMUM
DEPTH BELOW TOP OF CURB

CEDAR FALLS
GAS

CEDAR FALLS
FIBER OPTIC

POTHOLE TO VERIFY
DEPTH OF HIGH PRESSURE GAS

POTHOLE TO VERIFY
DEPTH OF HIGH PRESSURE GAS

CEDAR FALLS
ELECTRIC

EXISTING AUREON
CONDUIT W/FIBER OPTIC

CRITICAL
CROSSING

CEDAR FALLS
STORM TILE

CEDAR FALLS
STORM TILE

CENTURYLINK

ICN-FIBER

PROPOSED 2" CONDUIT ON
PRIVATE PROPERTY

CEDAR FALLS
ELECTRIC

PROPOSED 18"X30"60"
BORE PIT
STA 103+78 37'(FEET) LT

10.0' PROPOSED TRAIL

6.0'
PROPOSED
SIDEWALK

940

945

950

955

960

965

970

975

940

945

950

955

960

965

970

975

0+75 1+00 2+00

EXHIBIT B

C
IV

IL
 D

ES
IG

N
 A

D
VA

N
TA

G
E

A
U

R
EO

N
 - 

C
ED

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
AT

E

C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

, I
O

W
A

FI
R

ST
 S

U
BM

IT
TA

L
11

/8
/2

02
2

PH
O

N
E:

 (5
15

) 3
69

-4
40

0

41
21

 N
W

 U
R

BA
N

D
AL

E 
D

R
IV

E
U

R
BA

N
D

AL
E,

 IA
 5

03
22

2210.714

11/8/2022
DATE:

SHEET NUMBER:

SE
C

O
N

D
 S

U
BM

IT
TA

L
01

/2
5/

20
23

2/4
200

Item 18.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2124 W 27TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
2124 W 27TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED PROFILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING RIGHT OF WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE: H:\2022\2210714\DWG\2210.714-AUREON-ICS(CEDAR FALLS).DWG H:\2022\2210714\DWG\2210.714-AUREON-ICS(CEDAR FALLS).DWG FILE DATE: 1/25/23  DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT: 1/25/23  DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT:   DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT: DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT: COMMENT: PLOTTED BY: JOSH MACKIE TECH:  ENG: JOSH MACKIE TECH:  ENG: TECH:  ENG: ENG: 



3/4

EXHIBIT B

C
IV

IL
 D

ES
IG

N
 A

D
VA

N
TA

G
E

A
U

R
EO

N
 - 

C
ED

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
AT

E

C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

, I
O

W
A

FI
R

ST
 S

U
BM

IT
TA

L
11

/8
/2

02
2

PH
O

N
E:

 (5
15

) 3
69

-4
40

0

41
21

 N
W

 U
R

BA
N

D
AL

E 
D

R
IV

E
U

R
BA

N
D

AL
E,

 IA
 5

03
22

2210.714

11/8/2022
DATE:

SHEET NUMBER:

SE
C

O
N

D
 S

U
BM

IT
TA

L
01

/2
5/

20
23

TYPICAL STREET CROSS SECTION

TYPICAL HANDHOLE

NOTE
FOR ALL PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY AND PUBLIC PROPERTIES; ALL FIBER
OPTIC SHALL BE PLACED AT A MINIMUM DEPTH OF SIXTY (60") INCHES
BELOW PUBLIC ROADWAYS AND PUBLIC DITCH LINES, UNLESS OTHERWISE
SPECIFIED ON A SHEET OF THE PLAN SET. ALL FIBER OPTIC CABLE SHALL
BE PLACED A MINIMUM DEPTH OF TWENTY FOUR (24") INCHES BELOW
PUBLIC STORM SEWERS, PUBLIC SUBDRAINS, PUBLIC CULVERTS, AND/OR
PUBLIC WATERWAYS BEING CROSSED. ALL FIBER OPTIC CABLE IN AREAS
WITH GRASS COVER SHALL BE PLACED AT A MINIMUM DEPTH OF FORTY
TWO (42") INCHES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY AND AT A MINIMUM
DISTANCE OF 2' FROM OTHER UTILITIES, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED
ON THIS SHEET. WHEN A 2' VERTICAL CLEARANCE ABOVE A UTILITY IS IN
CONFLICT WITH A MINIMUM DEPTH BELOW GRADE, THE FIBER OPTIC
CABLE SHALL UNDERPASS THE UTILITY BY A MINIMUM CLEARANCE OF 2'.

STANDARD DETAIL: 32"X48"X48" HANDHOLE

201

Item 18.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE: H:\2022\2210714\DWG\2210.714-AUREON-ICS(CEDAR FALLS).DWG H:\2022\2210714\DWG\2210.714-AUREON-ICS(CEDAR FALLS).DWG FILE DATE: 1/25/23  DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT: 1/25/23  DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT:   DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT: DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT: 1/25/2023 11:00 AM COMMENT: COMMENT: PLOTTED BY: JOSH MACKIE TECH:  ENG: JOSH MACKIE TECH:  ENG: TECH:  ENG: ENG: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-6" DIA.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CABLE HOOKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(4) REQUIRED

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUSHINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-6" DIA.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" LAYER OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
COARSE AGGREGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUT OPENINGS IN HANDHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALLS AFTER PLACEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF CONDUIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDUIT SHALL ENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANDHOLE @ 42" MIN DEPTH 

AutoCAD SHX Text
42" MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNLESS SPECIFIED IN CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN 42"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 2" HDPE DUCT AT ROAD CROSSING  (TYPICAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN 60" BELOW TOP OF CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" HDPE  DUCT PARALLEL WITH PAVEMENT (TYPICAL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN 24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM SEWER SUBDRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUBDRAIN CROSSING DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN 24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM SEWER PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM SEWER CROSSING DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
48"



4/4

EXHIBIT B

C
IV

IL
 D

ES
IG

N
 A

D
VA

N
TA

G
E

A
U

R
EO

N
 - 

C
ED

A
R

 F
A

LL
S

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
AT

E

C
ED

AR
 F

AL
LS

, I
O

W
A

FI
R

ST
 S

U
BM

IT
TA

L
11

/8
/2

02
2

PH
O

N
E:

 (5
15

) 3
69

-4
40

0

41
21

 N
W

 U
R

BA
N

D
AL

E 
D

R
IV

E
U

R
BA

N
D

AL
E,

 IA
 5

03
22

2210.714

11/8/2022
DATE:

SHEET NUMBER:

SE
C

O
N

D
 S

U
BM

IT
TA

L
01

/2
5/

20
23

202

Item 18.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE: H:\2022\2210714\DWG\2210.714-AUREON-ICS(CEDAR FALLS).DWG H:\2022\2210714\DWG\2210.714-AUREON-ICS(CEDAR FALLS).DWG FILE DATE: 1/25/23  DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:01 AM COMMENT: 1/25/23  DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:01 AM COMMENT:   DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:01 AM COMMENT: DATE PLOTTED: 1/25/2023 11:01 AM COMMENT: 1/25/2023 11:01 AM COMMENT: COMMENT: PLOTTED BY: JOSH MACKIE TECH:  ENG: JOSH MACKIE TECH:  ENG: TECH:  ENG: ENG: 



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: 2/6/2023 
 
 SUBJECT: 2022 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project 
  City Project Number: SA-000-3297 
   Final Acceptance  
 
The 2022 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project is completed and ready for final 
acceptance. This project involved furnishing and installing a cured in place liner within 
existing 8 and 12 inch diameter sewer lines in selected areas of the city and in 
accordance with the contract documents. This project was under contract with Municipal 
Pipe Tool Company, LLC of Hudson, Iowa. Attached please find the following final 
documents: 
  -  Final Pay Estimate (releases retainage) 
  -  Final Breakdown of Costs 
   -  Maintenance Bond, Municipal Pipe Tool Company, LLC 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) $235,000.00 

Sewer Rental Fund (SRF) $42,290.05 

 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2022 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation 
Project were completed in reasonable compliance with the project plans and 
specifications. 
                                                     
                                                          
 
 
          ______________________________________ 
            Matthew Tolan, EI   Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  
Tyler Griffin, Acting Water Reclamation Manager 

 

1/30/23 

203

Item 19.



204

Item 19.



205

Item 19.



206

Item 19.



207

Item 19.



208

Item 19.



209

Item 19.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 6th, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Snyder & Associates, Inc. 
  W. Viking Road Industrial Park Phase VI (SU-364-3189) 
  2019 Engineering Services Agreement (EN-000-3174) 
  Supplemental Agreement No. 4C 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval is the Supplemental Agreement No. 4C to the 
Professional Services Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. under the 2019 Engineering Services Agreement for the new West 
Viking Road Industrial Park Phase VI.  
 
This Supplemental Agreement provides for additional platting services for the final plat 
and engineering services for the extension of Technology Parkway for the next phase of 
the W. Viking Industrial Park. Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis 
and in a total amount not to exceed $8,000.  
 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for the 2019 Engineering Services on December 3, 2018. The project 
will be funded by the Industrial Park TIF funds.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration 
and approval of this Supplemental Agreement No. 4C with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for 
the W. Viking Road Industrial Park Phase VI.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

210

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls  

220 Clay Street  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   

www.cedarfalls.com  
 

Engineering Division  

Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 4C 
 

2019 Engineering Services 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number EN-000-3174 
 

 

WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement was entered into by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
(CLIENT), and Snyder & Associates, Inc. (CONSULTANT), of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, dated 
December 3, 2018 for the municipal engineering support services; and 
 
WHEREAS, Supplemental Agreement No. 4 was approved on March 18, 2019 for development of 
an expansion to the Industrial Park, and 
 
WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement(s) to include 
Scope of Services and Compensation for additional items required,  
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to amend the original Professional Services Agreement 
as follows:  
 

I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 This Scope of Services and basis for Compensation derivation are as follows: 
 

A. The CONSULTANT shall complete additional design work based on CLIENT requested 
major revisions, made via email on November 28, 2022, pertaining to the inclusion of 
needs to accommodate new future development opportunities including: 

 
1. Final platting of an additional preliminary plat lot 22, including adjacent right-of-way. 
2. Design extension of Technology Parkway to the approximate westerly lot line of 

preliminary plat lot 22, including the associated extension of municipal utilities. 
3. Development of change order materials of the designed extension for inclusion in the 

existing construction contract with PCI, Inc.  
 

B. The estimated schedule for the plat revisions should be prepared for approval at the 
February 2023 P&Z meeting and the addition to construction is proposed to commence in 
April 2023.  
 

C. The CONSULTANT shall complete additional  
 

D. ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

211

Item 20.



 

 2019 Engineering Services 
 Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. EN-000-3174 
 

 

1. The CLIENT may request Additional Services from the CONSULTANT not included 
in the Scope of Services as outlined.  Additional Services may include, but are not 
necessarily limited to, providing testing services which are currently to be performed 
outside the scope of construction engineering services; expanding the scope of the 
project or the work to be completed; requesting the development of various 
documents; extending the time to complete a project through no fault of the 
CONSULTANT; or requesting additional work items that increase the Engineering 
Services and corresponding costs.   
 

II.  COMPENSATION 
 
 Compensation for the Services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly 

fees and other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total 
compensation is a not to exceed fee of Eight thousand Dollars $8,000. The compensation 
for this supplemental agreement is to be integrated into the original agreement.  

 
III.  ASSIGNABILITY 
 

1. The CONSULTANT shall not assign any interest in this AGREEMENT and shall not 
transfer any interest in the same without the prior written consent of the CLIENT. 
Subconsultants designated as part of this AGREEMENT shall be deemed to be 
approved when this AGREEMENT is executed. No subconsultants are anticipated. 

 
IV.  In all other aspects, the obligations of the CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall remain as 

specified in the Professional Services Agreement dated December 16, 2019.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year 
written below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT. 
 
By:  By:  
 
 
Printed Name:  Printed Name:   Lindsay Beaman               
 
 
Title:  Title:        Business Unit Leader                       
 
 
Date:  Date:        December 11, 2022                             

212

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 6th, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Snyder & Associates, Inc.   
  2019 Engineering Services 
  Supplemental Agreement No. 10B 

West Viking Road Reconstruction 
  City Project No. RC-362-3212 
 
Please find attached Supplemental Agreement No. 10B to the Professional Services 
Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Snyder & Associates, Inc. for 2019 
Engineering Services. This supplemental agreement includes design of the new 
connection of Innovation Drive to Viking Road, addition of trail connections from Viking 
Road to the W. Viking Industrial Park, Phase V, design of watermain, design of an HMA 
overlay, design of pedestrian intersection improvements to Hudson Road, provide 
Right-Of-Way services, additional design survey needed for integration to the newly 
constructed W. Viking Industrial Park Phase V, and construction survey services, as 
described in Supplemental Agreement No. 10B, from Union Road to Hudson Road.  
  
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for the 2019 Engineering Services on December 3, 2018.  Funding for 
the Supplemental Agreement #10B will be provided by the Industrial Park TIF funds in 
the amount of $233,600. This project is included in the City of Cedar Falls’ Capital 
Improvements Program. 
 
The Department of Public Works requests your consideration and approval of this 
Supplemental Agreement No. 10B with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for the design of the 
Recreational Trail Infill.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 

213

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 
FAX 319-268-5197` 

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 
319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 10B 
 

2019 Engineering Services 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number: RC-362-3212 
 

 
WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement (PSA) was entered into by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
(CLIENT), and Snyder & Associates, Inc. (CONSULTANT), of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, dated December 3, 2018 
and amended on December 2, 2019 for the municipal engineering support services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement to include Scope of 
Services and Compensation for additional items to be included as part of the W. Viking Road Reconstruction, 
 
WHEREAS, the improvements associated with the adjacent Industrial Park development and continued 
development in the area has led to the need for additional transportation and utility improvements in this 
corridor, 
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to amend the original Professional Services Agreement by adding 
the following items: 
 

I. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
The Scope of Services indicated in the origination Agreement and City approved amendment shall 
be amended as follows: 
 
PHASE 2 FINAL DESIGN 
 
DESIGN SURVEY 
 
The CONSULTANT shall complete additional topographic survey at the intersection of Viking and 
Hudson Road for the improvements noted above and at the Industrial Park basin outfall north of 
Viking Road.  
 
ADDITIONAL DESIGN ITEMS 
 
The CONSULTANT shall coordinate with the Cedar Falls Industrial Park Development design team 
to integrate the pertinent portions of the site grading and storm sewer plan into the W. Viking Road 
Reconstruction project. This shall generally include street and trail construction further detailed below.  
 
The CONSULTANT shall design and incorporate approximately 600 linear feet (LF) of Innovation 
Drive construction at the north end of the Industrial Park into the W. Viking Road Reconstruction 
project. This street construction shall include design and plan updates for storm sewer and water 
main.  
 
The CONSULTANT shall design and incorporate approximately 5,500 LF of 10-foot wide trail through 
the Industrial Park Development. The trail shall generally be added to the northern and western limits 

214

Item 21.



West Viking Road Reconstruction 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-362-3212 
 

of the Industrial Park including around the detention basin adjacent to Viking Road. The south end of 
the trail is to include closure signage including closed ahead signage, and additional development is 
to take place.  
 
The CONSULTANT shall design and incorporate approximately 2,400 LF of 12-inch water main to 
be included within the W. Viking Road right-of-way (ROW) west of Innovation drive. This shall include 
service stubs for the adjacent developed properties.  
 
The CONSULTANT shall design and incorporate approximately 3,400 square yards (SY) of milling, 
HMA overlay and sawcutting of Viking Road immediately west of Hudson Road.  
 
The CONSULTANT shall design and incorporate intersection improvements at Hudson and Viking 
Road included with the Pedestrian Improvements at Hudson Road – Option 2 prepared by the 
CONSULTANT and previously approved by the CLIENT. 
 
The CONSULTANT shall modify the trail design currently included with the project so that the 
proposed trail is adjacent to the south side of Viking Road in lieu of the north side. This modification 
shall include grading and driveway design updates.  
 
The CONSULTANT shall design and prepare an exhibit for the W Viking Road and Innovation Drive 
intersection to include a conceptual roundabout to determine the future Right-of-Way acquisition 
needs at the intersection. It is anticipated the ROW for the roundabout will be acquired and installed 
in the future to accommodate the future growth in the corridor. This work shall also include a traffic 
review to provide information to the CLIENT regarding thresholds for when the roundabout would be 
applicable based on projected traffic volumes. This exhibit shall be utilized by the City for future 
planning associated with development.  
 
The CONSULTANT shall update the traffic control and staging plans to account for the additional 
scope items included herein and to utilize Innovation Drive as a temporary detour route for local traffic. 
Temporary access to properties that utilize the proposed trail location is to be incorporated. The 
staging is to generally include 1) the construction of Innovation drive, 2) the construction of Viking 
Road east of Innovation Drive and then 3) the construction of Viking Road west of Innovation Drive. 
Viking Road is to be fully built while “local traffic only” uses a temporary gravel frontage road. The 
trail improvements adjacent to the roadway shall be constructed after the roadway is completed 
and “local traffic only” can utilize the roadway to park and access their property. 
 
The CONSULTANT shall review the Industrial Park basin outfall north of Viking Road, design and 
incorporate outlet and/or pipe modifications to improve downstream drainage if agreed to by the City.  
 
The CONSULTANT shall participate in one (1) additional public information meeting open house. The 
purpose of the meeting will be to provide an update to the adjacent property owners/businesses and 
stakeholders with what the project will include and the general schedule. The CLIENT shall be 
responsible for public notices and mailings. The CONSULTANT shall provide the following services 
for the public meeting: participation in one (1) virtual pre-planning meeting, 4-8 strip maps and/or 
exhibits showing the proposed improvements and attendance of up to two staff members at the public 
meeting.  
 
ROW SERVICES 
 
The CONSULTANT shall provide the following ROW services: 
 

  Right-of-Way Plats and Exhibits  

The following lists the estimated number of acquisition documents and easement exhibits. 
Provide 3 signed copies of each plat. 
 

215

Item 21.



West Viking Road Reconstruction 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-362-3212 
 

1. Right-of-way (fee title; plat signed by an LS) – 0 
2. Permanent Utility easement (exhibit; signed by an LS) – 1  
3. Temporary easement (exhibit without legal description; no signature required) – 17 
 
The CONSULTANT shall provide plats and/or exhibits for each acquisition required.   
 
Plats showing individual ROW acquisitions shall comply with the requirements of Iowa Code 
Section 354.4. Staking of proposed right-of-way and/or easements shall be provided if 
requested by the property owner. The CONSULTANT has budgeted for the staking of up to 
eight properties during two trips.  
 
Utilize Iowa DOT-style symbols when preparing ROW and property boundary exhibits for use 
during design and easement acquisitions. 
 

Right-of-Way Acquisition Services  
CONSULTANT will provide State of Iowa licensed real estate agents who will negotiate and 
endeavor to acquire for the CLIENT all of the necessary easements and/or real property parcels 
needed for the Project based on the quantities noted above.  Ben Alison is an employee of the 
CONSULTANT, and is a state of Iowa licensed real estate broker with SNYDER & 
ASSOCIATES RIGHT-OF-WAY SERVICES, LLC, Ankeny, Iowa, a State of Iowa licensed real 
estate broker and a wholly owned subsidiary of CONSULTANT.  Ben Alison will be designated 
as “Appointed Agents” and will represent the CLIENT in a “Buyer Exclusive Agency” capacity 
in all matters pertaining to the negotiation and acquisition of easements and/or real property 
for said public improvement project.  CLIENT shall also be a CLIENT of Appointed Agent. 
 
 
CLIENT and CONSULTANT acknowledge and agree that the Appointed Agents are required 
to adhere to Federal and State of Iowa statutes; the rules of the Supreme Court of Iowa as they 
may pertain to real estate agents; the rules and regulations promulgated by the Iowa Real 
Estate Commission; and, the Iowa Administrative Rules and regulations in regards to real 
estate agents’ conduct, responsibilities, and duties.  Said statutes, rules and regulations will 
supersede and be paramount to any provision contained herein, anything to the contrary 
notwithstanding. 
 
In regard to acquisitions, CONSULTANT will: 
 
1. Attend initial project meetings with the representatives of CLIENT to establish lines of 

communication regarding elements of the scope and schedule and to set property 
acquisition parameters for the Project;  

2. Complete a parcel file for each property involved with the Project in accordance with the 
needs of CLIENT and/or the Project requirements; 

3. Retain and coordinate the services of a licensed, certified appraiser (hereinafter referred 
to as “Appraiser”) who, subject to the approval of the CLIENT, will be a subconsultant to 
CONSULTANT.  The Appraiser or Broker will prepare project data books and of brokers 
opinion of value, as needed. The Appraiser will prepare, sign and furnish to the 
CONSULTANT and CLIENT appraisal documentation following accepted appraisal 
principles and techniques in accordance with the Iowa DOT “Appraisal Policy & Procedures 
Manual”.  The CLIENT will review and forward written approval of all findings by the 
Appraiser. It is assumed that individual appraisals are not required or included with this 
scope; 

4. Retain and coordinate the services of an abstractor, who will be a subconsultant to 
CONSULTANT, who will prepare Certificates of Title for parcels where fee title and 
permanent easements are required. 

5. Use acquisition forms and documents provided by CLIENT or prepare acquisition 
documents under the direction, review and approval of the CLIENT’s legal department.  

216

Item 21.



West Viking Road Reconstruction 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-362-3212 
 

Acquisition documents may include, but not be limited to: (1) Offer to Purchase, (2) 10 day-
waiver, (3) real estate purchase agreement, (4) Easements, (5) Warranty Deed, (6) title 
clearing documents as directed by CLIENT’s attorney, and (7) release of tenant interest 
and leasehold claims; 

6. Make (through the Appointed Agent) personal and private contacts with each property 
owner and tenant (the Parties) or their representative to explain the effect of the acquisition, 
answer questions, present a written offer, and consider counter offers and to make 
approved offers for administrative settlements.  Non-resident property owners will be 
contacted by certified or registered mail or by U.P.S. 

7. Make a good faith effort to acquire the necessary property within 90 days after a written 
offer has been submitted to the owner and tenant.  Negotiations will be considered 
complete upon occurrence of one of the following: (1) the parties accept the offer, (2) the 
parties accept an administrative settlement, (3) the parties fail or refuse to accept the offer 
or administrative settlement, and/or (4) in the judgment of the CONSULTANT, negotiations 
have reached an impasse; 

8. Notify the CLIENT of every parcel on which negotiations have reached an impasse or which 
cannot be acquired by negotiated Agreement at the completion of the negotiations phase 
of the work.  If the CLIENT is to condemn, the CONSULTANT will deliver as much of the 
file to the CLIENT as is necessary for the CLIENT’s condemnation attorneys to begin 
preparation for the condemnation of the parcel.  The CLIENT will provide written notice to 
the parties that the parcel is being prepared for condemnation.  The CONSULTANT, when 
notified in writing by the CLIENT, will continue in an attempt to negotiate an Agreement 
after notice has been sent that condemnation is being prepared, but before notice of 
condemnation has been served.  Once notice of condemnation has been served, 
negotiations will cease unless requested by CLIENT to continue as additional services. 

9. Deliver all signed acquisition documents and title clearing (as directed by CLIENT’s 
attorney), to CLIENT for payment and closing tasks. 

10. No relocation services are included by the CONSULTANT. 
11. If the CLIENT would like additional services after negotiations have reached an impasse 

(e.g. attending the condemnation hearings) this would be an additional service.  
 
CLIENT’S ACQUISITION RESPONSIBILITIES: CLIENT understands and agrees that it will be 
responsible for and will provide the following, in a timely manner: 
 
1. Unless produced by Snyder & Associates, Inc. survey and engineering staff, provide to 

CONSULTANT all known and existing plans, specifications and data pertaining to the 
project that may affect CONSULTANT’s Services to be provided.  Unless otherwise noted 
by CLIENT, CONSULTANT may rely upon the plans, specifications and data provided 
being accurate and complete; 

2. Provide all licenses, permits, and government or agency approvals that may be necessary 
to complete the Work and/or Project; 

3. Unless produced by Snyder & Associates, Inc. survey and engineering staff, provide to 
CONSULTANT legal descriptions and acquisition plats for each parcel to be acquired, 
unless CLIENT requests CONSULTANT to provide said legal descriptions and acquisition 
plats and incorporates this request as a part of CONSULTANT’s scope of work. 

4. Provide all necessary forms and/or documents to complete each acquisition and/or provide 
the services of CLIENT’s attorney to supervise, review and approve any and all legal 
documents prepared by CONSULTANT.   

5. Coordinate the timing and sequence of CONSULTANT’s Services with the Services of 
others to the Project;  

6. Make interim and final decisions utilizing information supplied by CONSULTANT. 
7. Process Council Roll Calls/Requisitions. 

Perform the following task for closings: Provide title opinions; prepare and distribute 
proceed checks to owners and tenants; prepare closing statements; prepare 1099 tax 
forms; update abstracts; record all pertinent documents. 

217

Item 21.



West Viking Road Reconstruction 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-362-3212 
 

PHASE 3 – CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 
 
CONSTRUCTION STAKING & MONUMENTATION 
 
The CONSULTANT shall be responsible for providing construction staking for the Project. The 
construction documents will contain a provision that the CONSULTANT will provide one set of stakes 
for each construction operation of the Project. Any staking that is destroyed due to construction will 
be replaced at the Contractor’s expense.  
 
The CONSULTANT shall, after the completion of construction, perform a field survey as required to 
verify which monuments found during the original survey and identified in the construction plans, if 
any, were disturbed or removed during construction. All disturbed or missing monuments identified 
shall be reset at their original location and a Monumentation Preservation Certificate in accordance 
with Iowa Code Section 355.6A shall be prepared and filed with the Black Hawk County Recorder.  
 

III. COMPENSATION 

 
The Compensation is hereby amended to include the following fees: 
 
a. PHASE 1 SERVICES 

Additional compensation for Phase 1 Services as outlined in Article I shall be hourly, not to 
exceed, as follows: 
 

Task Original Fee Sup. Agmt. 
10A 

Sup. Agmt. 
10B 

Amended 
Total 

Contract Management $9,500 $0 $0 $9,500 

Survey, Field, and Other Services $26,800 $7,500 $0 $34,300 

Traffic Study $16,700 $0 $0 $16,700 

Functional Design and Concept $15,900 $3,100 $0 $19,000 

Preliminary Design (30%) $36,200 $8,900 $0 $45,100 

Total $105,100 $19,500 $0 $124,600 

 
 

b. PHASE 2 SERVICES 
Additional compensation for Phase 2 Services as outlined in Article I shall be hourly, not to 
exceed, as follows: 
 

Task Original Fee Sup. Agmt. 
10A 

Sup. Agmt. 
10B 

Amended 
Total 

Contract Management $6,800 $0 $0 $6,800 

Check Plans (60%) $84,100 $14,800 $0 $98,900 

Design Survey $0 $0 $4,100 $4,100 

Additional Design Items $0 $0 $52,600 $52,600 

Print Documents $12,500 $2,900 $0 $15,400 

ROW Services $0 $0 $61,900 $61,900 

Letting Services $7,400 $0 $0 $7,400 

Total $110,800 $17,700 $118,600 $247,100 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

218

Item 21.



West Viking Road Reconstruction 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-362-3212 
 

 
c. PHASE 3 SERVICES 

Additional compensation for Phase 3 Services as outlined in Article I shall be hourly, not to 
exceed, as follows: 
 

Task Original Fee Sup. Agmt. 
10A 

Sup. Agmt. 
10B 

Amended 
Total 

Construction Staking & Monumentation $0 $0 $115,000 $115,000 

Total $0 $0 $115,000 $115,000 

 
d. ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
Additional Services will be provided upon authorization to proceed with the selected Tasks. 
Compensation for Additional Services as outlined in Article IV shall be hourly, not to exceed, as 
follows: 
 

Task Hourly Fee 

Other Services Per Attached Fee Schedule 

 
IV. In all other aspects, the obligations of the CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall remain as specified in 

the Professional Services Agreement dated December 3, 2018, and as supplemented. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written 
below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT. 
 
 

By:  By:  
 
 

Printed Name:  Printed Name:   Lindsay Beaman               
 
 

Title:  Title:        Business Unit Leader                       
 
 

Date:  Date:    

219

Item 21.

lbeaman
LRB Signature

lbeaman
Text Box
January 30, 2023



2023STANDARD FEE SCHEDULE

Billing Classification/Level Billing Rate

PROFESSIONAL

Engineer, Landscape Architect, Land Surveyor, GIS, Environmental Scientist 
Project Manager, Planner, Right-of-Way Agent, Graphic Designer 

Principal II $245.00/hour

Principal I $230.00/hour

Senior $210.00/hour

VIII $192.00/hour

VII $182.00/hour 

VI $173.00/hour 

V $161.00/hour 

IV $149.00/hour 

III $137.00/hour 

II $123.00/hour 

I $109.00/hour 

TECHNICAL

CADD, Survey, Construction Observation

Lead $146.00/hour 

Senior $140.00/hour 

VIII $130.00/hour 

VII $120.00/hour 

VI $108.00/hour 

V $98.00/hour 

IV $88.00/hour 

III $80.00/hour 

II $73.00/hour 

I $64.00/hour 

ADMINISTRATIVE

II $75.00/hour 

I $61.00/hour 

REIMBURSABLES

Mileage current IRS standard rate

Outside Services As Invoiced   

220

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: February 6, 2023 
 
 SUBJECT: Highway 58 & Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction 
  Request for Plans, Specifications, & Estimate Approval 
  Preconstruction Agreement #: 2023-6-012 
  DOT Project: NHSX-027-7(3)—2H-07         
  City Project: RC-294-3250 
 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the Highway 58 & Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction. 
 
This project is under the direction of the Iowa Department of Transportation. The Iowa 
DOT is the contracting authority and will conduct the letting for this project. This project 
involves the redesign and construction of the Highway 58 and Ridgeway Avenue 
intersection including the area from Nordic Drive east to Highway 58. Additionally, this 
will include the widening of Ridgeway Avenue west to Nordic Drive, including a traffic 
signal at Nordic Drive. 
 
On October 3, 2022, the City Council approved the Preconstruction Agreement between 
the Iowa DOT and the City of Cedar Falls. The overall estimated project cost is 
$14,903,139.05. The estimated City cost share is $2,782,176.59 from the Tax 
Increment Financing – South Cedar Falls (TIF-STF) funds.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving the 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the Highway 58 & 
Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction. 
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

221

Item 22.



 Iowa DOT SubTotal: $348,766.00
$2,670.00$30.0089.000 TON  SPECIAL BACKFILL    2102-0425070

$1,530.00$15.00102.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, CHANNEL    2104-2710020

$48,750.00$25.001,950.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 20    2402-2720000

$182,000.00$1,300.00140.000 LF PRECAST CONCRETE BOX CULVERT, 12 
FT. X 6 FT.   

 2415-2111206

$38,000.00$19,000.002.000 EA PRECAST CONCRETE BOX CULVERT 
STRAIGHT END SECTION, 12 FT. X 6 FT.   

 2415-2201206

$13,000.00$13,000.001.000 EA TEMPORARY STREAM DIVERSION    2418-0000010

$30,000.00$30,000.001.000 LS TEMPORARY SHORING    2501-8400172

$976.00$4.00244.000 SY ENGINEERING FABRIC    2507-3250005

$9,840.00$60.00164.000 TON  REVETMENT, CLASS E    2507-6800061

$4,000.00$4,000.001.000 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 2526-8285000 1.16 %

$0.001.000 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY    2526-8285000

$18,000.00$18,000.001.000 LS MOBILIZATION 2533-4980005 6.67 %

$0.001.000 LS MOBILIZATION    2533-4980005

 City of Cedar Falls SubTotal: $316,594.00
$2,274.00$30.0075.800 TON  SPECIAL BACKFILL    2102-0425070

$2,100.00$15.00140.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, CHANNEL    2104-2710020

$37,500.00$25.001,500.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 20    2402-2720000

$160,800.00$1,200.00134.000 LF PRECAST CONCRETE BOX CULVERT, 10 
FT. X 6 FT.   

 2415-2111006

$36,000.00$18,000.002.000 EA PRECAST CONCRETE BOX CULVERT 
STRAIGHT END SECTION, 10 FT. X 6 FT.   

 2415-2201006

$12,000.00$12,000.001.000 EA TEMPORARY STREAM DIVERSION    2418-0000010

$30,000.00$30,000.001.000 LS TEMPORARY SHORING    2501-8400172

$1,240.00$4.00310.000 SY ENGINEERING FABRIC    2507-3250005

$13,680.00$60.00228.000 TON  REVETMENT, CLASS E    2507-6800061

$3,500.00$3,500.001.000 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 2526-8285000 1.24 %

$0.001.000 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY    2526-8285000

$17,500.00$17,500.001.000 LS MOBILIZATION 2533-4980005 6.71 %

$0.001.000 LS MOBILIZATION    2533-4980005

Estimate Items Report
Version RCB Culvert Replacement - Single Box

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-3

Page 1 of 2Report Date: 9/13/2022 12:06:17 PM

222

Item 22.



 City of Cedar Falls SubTotal: $291,281.91
$4,914.00$30.00163.800 TON  SPECIAL BACKFILL    2102-0425070

$2,100.00$15.00140.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, CHANNEL    2104-2710020

$44,750.00$25.001,790.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 20    2402-2720000

$113,750.00$650.00175.000 CY STRUCTURAL CONCRETE (RCB CULVERT)    2403-0100020

$50,347.91$1.7029,616.420 LB REINFORCING STEEL    2404-7775000

$12,000.00$12,000.001.000 EA TEMPORARY STREAM DIVERSION    2418-0000010

$30,000.00$30,000.001.000 LS TEMPORARY SHORING    2501-8400172

$1,240.00$4.00310.000 SY ENGINEERING FABRIC    2507-3250005

$13,680.00$60.00228.000 TON  REVETMENT, CLASS E    2507-6800061

$3,500.00$3,500.001.000 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 2526-8285000 1.30 %

$0.001.000 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY    2526-8285000

$15,000.00$15,000.001.000 LS MOBILIZATION 2533-4980005 6.74 %

$0.001.000 LS MOBILIZATION    2533-4980005

 Iowa DOT SubTotal: $341,818.10
$5,766.00$30.00192.200 TON  SPECIAL BACKFILL    2102-0425070

$1,530.00$15.00102.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, CHANNEL    2104-2710020

$57,375.00$25.002,295.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 20    2402-2720000

$135,356.00$650.00208.240 CY STRUCTURAL CONCRETE (RCB CULVERT)    2403-0100020

$66,475.10$1.7039,103.000 LB REINFORCING STEEL    2404-7775000

$13,000.00$13,000.001.000 EA TEMPORARY STREAM DIVERSION    2418-0000010

$30,000.00$30,000.001.000 LS TEMPORARY SHORING    2501-8400172

$976.00$4.00244.000 SY ENGINEERING FABRIC    2507-3250005

$9,840.00$60.00164.000 TON  REVETMENT, CLASS E    2507-6800061

$3,500.00$3,500.001.000 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 2526-8285000 1.17 %

$0.001.000 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY    2526-8285000

$18,000.00$18,000.001.000 LS MOBILIZATION 2533-4980005 6.68 %

$0.001.000 LS MOBILIZATION    2533-4980005

Total: $1,298,460.01

Estimate Items Report
Version RCB Culvert Replacement - Single Box

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-3

Page 2 of 2Report Date: 9/13/2022 12:06:17 PM

223

Item 22.



 City of Cedar Falls SubTotal: $2,465,582.59
$2,200.00$5,500.000.400 ACRE  CLEARING AND GRUBBING    2101-0850001

$83,184.00$8.0010,398.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY AND 
BORROW   

 2102-2710070

$16,965.00$9.001,885.000 CY TOPSOIL, STRIP, SALVAGE AND SPREAD    2105-8425015

$1,110.00$25.0044.400 CY COMPACTING BACKFILL ADJACENT TO 
BRIDGES, CULVERTS OR STRUCTURES   

 2107-0425020

$9,362.60$1.009,362.600 CY COMPACTION WITH MOISTURE CONTROL    2107-0875100

$180,268.50$47.003,835.500 CY MODIFIED SUBBASE    2115-0100000

$714,231.00$70.0010,203.300 SY STANDARD OR SLIP FORM PORTLAND 
CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENT, CLASS C, 
CLASS 3 DURABILITY, 9 IN.   

 2301-1033090

$34,055.00$70.00486.500 SY MEDIAN, P.C. CONCRETE, 6 IN.    2301-4875006

$11,938.00$1.0011,938.000 EA PAYMENT ADJUSTMENT 
INCENTIVE/DISINCENTIVE FOR PCC 
PAVEMENT THICKNESS (BY SCHEDULE)   

 2301-7000110

$37,710.00$90.00419.000 SY TEMPORARY PAVEMENT    2304-0101000

$7,652.00$1.007,652.000 EA PAYMENT ADJUSTMENT 
INCENTIVE/DISINCENTIVE FOR PCC 
PAVEMENT SMOOTHNESS (BY SCHEDULE)   

 2316-0000110

$3,000.00$1,000.003.000 EA REMOVAL OF CONCRETE FOOTINGS OF 
LIGHT POLES   

 2401-6745356

$9,000.00$20,000.000.450 LS REMOVAL OF EXISTING STRUCTURES    2401-6745650

$1,800.00$600.003.000 EA REMOVAL OF LIGHT POLES    2401-6745765

$6,072.00$40.00151.800 CY FLOODED BACKFILL    2402-0425040

$13,688.40$22.00622.200 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 20    2402-2720000

$4,600.00$2,300.002.000 EA APRONS, CONCRETE, 18 IN. DIA.    2416-0100018

$6,200.00$3,100.002.000 EA APRONS, CONCRETE, 42 IN. DIA.    2416-0100042

$5,500.00$5,500.001.000 EA MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 60 IN.    2435-0140160

$24,400.00$6,100.004.000 EA INTAKE, SW-507    2435-0250700

$59,500.00$8,500.007.000 EA INTAKE, SW-509    2435-0250900

$56,000.00$11,200.005.000 EA INTAKE, SW-510    2435-0251000

$11,250.00$25,000.000.450 LS TEMPORARY SHORING    2501-8400172

$9,653.00$7.001,379.000 LF SUBDRAIN, LONGITUDINAL, (SHOULDER) 4 
IN. DIA.   

 2502-8212034

$6,270.00$285.0022.000 EA SUBDRAIN OUTLET, DR-303    2502-8221303

$54,180.00$105.00516.000 LF STORM SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, 
TRENCHED, REINFORCED CONCRETE 
PIPE (RCP), 2000D (CLASS III), 15 IN.   

 2503-0114215

Estimate Items Report
Version PCC Pavement - Replace

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-1

Page 1 of 8Report Date: 12/20/2022 1:26:07 PM

224

Item 22.



$77,330.00$110.00703.000 LF STORM SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, 
TRENCHED, REINFORCED CONCRETE 
PIPE (RCP), 2000D (CLASS III), 18 IN.   

 2503-0114218

$71,000.00$200.00355.000 LF STORM SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, 
TRENCHED, REINFORCED CONCRETE 
PIPE (RCP), 2000D (CLASS III), 36 IN.   

 2503-0114236

$85,250.00$250.00341.000 LF STORM SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, 
TRENCHED, REINFORCED CONCRETE 
PIPE (RCP), 2000D (CLASS III), 42 IN.   

 2503-0114242

$12,565.00$35.00359.000 LF REMOVE STORM SEWER PIPE LESS THAN 
OR EQUAL TO 36 IN.   

 2503-0200036

$160.00$4.0040.000 SY ENGINEERING FABRIC    2507-3250005

$1,430.00$65.0022.000 TON  REVETMENT, CLASS E    2507-6800061

$82,381.00$10.008,238.100 SY REMOVAL OF PAVEMENT    2510-6745850

$4,500.00$900.005.000 EA REMOVAL OF INTAKES AND UTILITY 
ACCESSES   

 2510-6750600

$8,071.20$12.00672.600 SY REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK    2511-6745900

$90,496.00$80.001,131.200 SY SIDEWALK, P.C. CONCRETE, 6 IN.    2511-7526006

$4,400.00$55.0080.000 SF DETECTABLE WARNINGS    2511-7528101

$70,000.00$7,000.0010.000 EA LIGHTING POLES    2523-0000100

$43,182.00$18.002,399.000 LF ELECTRICAL CIRCUITS    2523-0000200

$5,500.00$2,750.002.000 EA HANDHOLES AND JUNCTION BOXES    2523-0000310

$1,650.00$150.0011.000 EA REMOVAL OF TYPE A SIGN ASSEMBLY    2524-6765210

$900.00$300.003.000 EA OBJECT MARKER, TYPE 1    2524-9100010

$1,088.00$16.0068.000 LF PERFORATED SQUARE STEEL TUBE 
POSTS   

 2524-9276010

$3,500.00$500.007.000 EA PERFORATED SQUARE STEEL TUBE POST 
ANCHOR, TRIANGULAR SLIP BASE 
ASSEMBLY   

 2524-9276027

$1,575.00$25.0063.000 SF TYPE A SIGNS, SHEET ALUMINUM    2524-9325001

$219,780.00$666,000.000.330 LS TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION    2525-0000100

$9,900.00$30,000.000.330 LS REMOVAL OF TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION    2525-0000120

$13,110.00$69,000.000.190 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY    2526-8285000

$2,534.76$27.0093.880 STA PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, HIGH-
BUILD WATERBORNE   

 2527-9263112

$3,000.00$200.0015.000 EA SAFETY CLOSURE    2528-2518000

$49,840.00$16.003,115.000 LF TEMPORARY BARRIER RAIL, CONCRETE    2528-8400048

$102,000.00$17,000.006.000 EA TEMPORARY TRAFFIC SIGNALS    2528-8400256

$8,550.00$45,000.000.190 LS TRAFFIC CONTROL    2528-8445110

Estimate Items Report
Version PCC Pavement - Replace

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-1

Page 2 of 8Report Date: 12/20/2022 1:26:07 PM

225

Item 22.



$30,411.00$9.003,379.000 LF TEMPORARY LANE SEPARATOR SYSTEM    2528-9109020

$38,000.00$200,000.000.190 LS MOBILIZATION    2533-4980005

$13,800.00$300.0046.000 LF ('LINEAR FEET' ITEM) Safety Rail   2599-9999009

$10,120.00$220.0046.000 LF ('LINEAR FEET' ITEM) SAFETY RAIL   2599-9999009

$1,111.95$2.10529.500 LF SILT FENCE FOR DITCH CHECKS    2602-0000030

$2,400.00$400.006.000 EA SILT BASINS    2602-0000050

$132.38$0.25529.500 LF REMOVAL OF SILT FENCE OR SILT FENCE 
FOR DITCH CHECKS   

 2602-0000071

$1,800.00$300.006.000 EA REMOVAL OF SILT BASINS    2602-0000080

$211.80$0.40529.500 LF MAINTENANCE OF SILT FENCE OR SILT 
FENCE FOR DITCH CHECK   

 2602-0000101

$9,450.00$3.502,700.000 LF PERIMETER AND SLOPE SEDIMENT 
CONTROL DEVICE, 12 IN. DIA.   

 2602-0000312

$1,620.00$0.602,700.000 LF REMOVAL OF PERIMETER AND SLOPE OR 
DITCH CHECK SEDIMENT CONTROL 
DEVICE   

 2602-0000351

$6,800.00$400.0017.000 EA TEMPORARY INTAKE OR MANHOLE 
COVER ASSEMBLY   

 2602-0000400

$204.00$12.0017.000 EA MAINTENANCE OF TEMPORARY INTAKE 
OR MANHOLE COVER ASSEMBLY   

 2602-0000410

$289.00$17.0017.000 EA REMOVAL OF TEMPORARY INTAKE OR 
MANHOLE COVER ASSEMBLY   

 2602-0000420

$2,550.00$15.00170.000 LF OPEN-THROAT CURB INTAKE SEDIMENT 
FILTER, EC-602   

 2602-0000500

$850.00$5.00170.000 EA MAINTENANCE OF OPEN-THROAT CURB 
INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER   

 2602-0000510

$850.00$5.00170.000 EA REMOVAL OF OPEN-THROAT CURB 
INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER   

 2602-0000520

$500.00$500.001.000 EA MOBILIZATIONS, EROSION CONTROL    2602-0010010

$1,000.00$1,000.001.000 EA MOBILIZATIONS, EMERGENCY EROSION 
CONTROL   

 2602-0010020

 Iowa DOT SubTotal: $10,898,631.39
$11,000.00$5,500.002.000 ACRE  CLEARING AND GRUBBING    2101-0850001

$4,320.00$27.00160.000 TON  SPECIAL BACKFILL    2102-0425070

$3,120.00$8.00390.000 LF INTERCEPTING DITCHES AND FLUMES    2102-2200000

$88,120.00$8.0011,015.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY AND 
BORROW   

 2102-2710070

$277,822.50$7.5037,043.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, WASTE    2102-2710090

$5,000.00$100.0050.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 12, BOULDERS OR 
ROCK FRAGMENTS   

 2102-2712015

$8,700.00$150.0058.000 STA LOCATING TILE LINES    2102-4560000

$139,851.00$9.0015,539.000 CY TOPSOIL, STRIP, SALVAGE AND SPREAD    2105-8425015

Estimate Items Report
Version PCC Pavement - Replace

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-1

Page 3 of 8Report Date: 12/20/2022 1:26:07 PM

226

Item 22.



$1,852.50$25.0074.100 CY COMPACTING BACKFILL ADJACENT TO 
BRIDGES, CULVERTS OR STRUCTURES   

 2107-0425020

$10,460.30$1.0010,460.300 CY COMPACTION WITH MOISTURE CONTROL    2107-0875100

$1,249,485.60$47.0026,584.800 CY MODIFIED SUBBASE    2115-0100000

$71,169.00$30.002,372.300 TON  GRANULAR SHOULDERS, TYPE A    2121-7425010

$1,295,178.00$60.0021,586.300 SY PAVED SHOULDER, P.C. CONCRETE, 10.5 
IN.   

 2122-5190105

$129,387.00$170.00761.100 SY REINFORCED PAVED SHOULDER FOR 
CONCRETE BARRIER   

 2122-5191005

$51,775.00$250.00207.100 STA SHOULDER CONSTRUCTION, EARTH    2123-7450000

$3,425,415.20$67.0051,125.600 SY STANDARD OR SLIP FORM PORTLAND 
CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENT, CLASS C, 
CLASS 3 DURABILITY, 10.5 IN.   

 2301-1033105

$186,249.00$70.002,660.700 SY MEDIAN, P.C. CONCRETE, 6 IN.    2301-4875006

$59,817.00$1.0059,817.000 EA PAYMENT ADJUSTMENT 
INCENTIVE/DISINCENTIVE FOR PCC 
PAVEMENT THICKNESS (BY SCHEDULE)   

 2301-7000110

$70,380.00$90.00782.000 SY TEMPORARY PAVEMENT    2304-0101000

$38,344.20$1.0038,344.200 EA PAYMENT ADJUSTMENT 
INCENTIVE/DISINCENTIVE FOR PCC 
PAVEMENT SMOOTHNESS (BY SCHEDULE)   

 2317-7000110

$11,050.00$850.0013.000 EA REMOVAL OF CONCRETE FOOTINGS OF 
LIGHT POLES   

 2401-6745356

$12,000.00$750.0016.000 EA REMOVAL OF CONCRETE FOUNDATIONS 
OF HIGHWAY SIGNS   

 2401-6745358

$11,000.00$20,000.000.550 LS REMOVAL OF EXISTING STRUCTURES    2401-6745650

$7,800.00$600.0013.000 EA REMOVAL OF LIGHT POLES    2401-6745765

$19,800.00$45.00440.000 LF REMOVAL OF P.C. CONCRETE MEDIAN 
BARRIER   

 2401-6745830

$13,072.00$40.00326.800 CY FLOODED BACKFILL    2402-0425040

$30,555.80$22.001,388.900 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 20    2402-2720000

$12,600.00$2,100.006.000 EA APRONS, CONCRETE, 15 IN. DIA.    2416-0100015

$8,000.00$2,000.004.000 EA APRON, LOW CLEARANCE CONCRETE, 
EQUIVALENT DIAMETER 24 IN.   

 2416-0102224

$14,400.00$3,600.004.000 EA APRON, LOW CLEARANCE CONCRETE, 
EQUIVALENT DIAMETER 30 IN.   

 2416-0102230

$11,310.00$145.0078.000 LF CULVERT, LOW CLEARANCE CONCRETE 
ROADWAY PIPE, EQUIVALENT DIAMETER 
24 IN.   

 2416-1200224

$8,580.00$165.0052.000 LF CULVERT, LOW CLEARANCE CONCRETE 
ROADWAY PIPE, EQUIVALENT DIAMETER 
30 IN.   

 2416-1200230

$15,500.00$155.00100.000 LF CULVERT, 3000D LOW CLEARANCE 
CONCRETE ROADWAY PIPE, EQUIVALENT 
DIAMETER 24 IN.   

 2416-1202224

Estimate Items Report
Version PCC Pavement - Replace

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-1

Page 4 of 8Report Date: 12/20/2022 1:26:07 PM

227

Item 22.



$11,100.00$185.0060.000 LF CULVERT, 3000D LOW CLEARANCE 
CONCRETE ROADWAY PIPE, EQUIVALENT 
DIAMETER 30 IN.   

 2416-1202230

$42,700.00$6,100.007.000 EA INTAKE, SW-507    2435-0250700

$136,000.00$17,000.008.000 EA BARRIER INTAKE, SW-547    2435-0254700

$10,000.00$10,000.001.000 EA INTAKE, SW-563    2435-0256300

$13,750.00$25,000.000.550 LS TEMPORARY SHORING    2501-8400172

$22,625.00$25.00905.000 LF SUBDRAIN, LONGITUDINAL, (BACKSLOPE) 
4 IN. DIA.   

 2502-8212024

$112,658.00$7.0016,094.000 LF SUBDRAIN, LONGITUDINAL, (SHOULDER) 4 
IN. DIA.   

 2502-8212034

$11,685.00$285.0041.000 EA SUBDRAIN OUTLET, DR-303    2502-8221303

$23,600.00$400.0059.000 EA SUBDRAIN OUTLET, DR-306    2502-8221306

$99,645.00$105.00949.000 LF STORM SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, 
TRENCHED, REINFORCED CONCRETE 
PIPE (RCP), 2000D (CLASS III), 15 IN.   

 2503-0114215

$41,580.00$135.00308.000 LF STORM SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, 
TRENCHED, REINFORCED CONCRETE 
PIPE (RCP), 3000D (CLASS IV), 15 IN.   

 2503-0114415

$24,745.00$35.00707.000 LF REMOVE STORM SEWER PIPE LESS THAN 
OR EQUAL TO 36 IN.   

 2503-0200036

$4,050.00$10.00405.000 LF REMOVAL OF STEEL BEAM GUARDRAIL    2505-4008120

$11,661.30$3.503,331.800 LF REMOVAL OF CABLE GUARDRAIL    2505-4008130

$10,372.50$225.0046.100 CY FLOWABLE MORTAR    2506-4984000

$720.00$4.00180.000 SY ENGINEERING FABRIC    2507-3250005

$6,435.00$65.0099.000 TON  REVETMENT, CLASS E    2507-6800061

$656,994.00$10.0065,699.400 SY REMOVAL OF PAVEMENT    2510-6745850

$9,000.00$900.0010.000 EA REMOVAL OF INTAKES AND UTILITY 
ACCESSES   

 2510-6750600

$2,499.60$12.00208.300 SY REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK    2511-6745900

$48,416.00$80.00605.200 SY SIDEWALK, P.C. CONCRETE, 6 IN.    2511-7526006

$5,335.00$55.0097.000 SF DETECTABLE WARNINGS    2511-7528101

$344,250.00$150.002,295.000 LF CONCRETE BARRIER, BA-100    2513-0001000

$10,000.00$2,500.004.000 EA CONCRETE BARRIER, BA-105    2513-0001050

$10,000.00$2,500.004.000 EA CONCRETE BARRIER RAIL, BA-107    2513-0001070

$129,200.00$250.00516.800 LF CONCRETE BARRIER, REINFORCED, AS 
PER PLAN   

 2513-0474990

$10,000.00$2,500.004.000 EA CONCRETE BARRIER TRANSITION 
SECTION   

 2513-0475000

Estimate Items Report
Version PCC Pavement - Replace

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-1

Page 5 of 8Report Date: 12/20/2022 1:26:07 PM

228

Item 22.



$23,562.00$85.00277.200 SY DRIVEWAY, P.C. CONCRETE, 8 IN.    2515-2475008

$2,822.00$10.00282.200 SY REMOVAL OF PAVED DRIVEWAY    2515-6745600

$20,000.00$20,000.001.000 EA FIELD OFFICE    2520-3350015

$56,000.00$7,000.008.000 EA LIGHTING POLES    2523-0000100

$40,824.00$18.002,268.000 LF ELECTRICAL CIRCUITS    2523-0000200

$5,500.00$2,750.002.000 EA HANDHOLES AND JUNCTION BOXES    2523-0000310

$8,250.00$750.0011.000 EA REMOVE AND REINSTALL SIGN AS PER 
PLAN   

 2524-6765010

$5,700.00$150.0038.000 EA REMOVAL OF TYPE A SIGN ASSEMBLY    2524-6765210

$9,350.00$850.0011.000 EA REMOVAL OF TYPE B SIGN ASSEMBLY    2524-6765220

$6,400.00$1,600.004.000 EA CONCRETE FOOTING FOR BREAKAWAY 
SIGN POST, 2'-8" DIA. X 7'-6"   

 2524-9081275

$4,800.00$100.0048.000 EA DELINEATOR, RIGID - TYPE I    2524-9089100

$2,200.00$100.0022.000 EA DELINEATOR, RIGID - TYPE IA    2524-9089110

$3,600.00$100.0036.000 EA DELINEATOR, RIGID - TYPE II    2524-9089200

$1,500.00$300.005.000 EA OBJECT MARKER, TYPE 1    2524-9100010

$2,000.00$250.008.000 EA OBJECT MARKER, TYPE 2    2524-9100020

$9,545.60$16.00596.600 LF PERFORATED SQUARE STEEL TUBE 
POSTS   

 2524-9276010

$26,000.00$500.0052.000 EA PERFORATED SQUARE STEEL TUBE POST 
ANCHOR, TRIANGULAR SLIP BASE 
ASSEMBLY   

 2524-9276027

$6,910.00$100.0069.100 LF STEEL BREAKAWAY SIGN POSTS FOR 
TYPE A OR B SIGNS, W 8 X 21   

 2524-9281210

$8,400.00$300.0028.000 EA SIGN MOUNTING BRACKETS, SPECIAL    2524-9290009

$13,782.50$25.00551.300 SF TYPE A SIGNS, SHEET ALUMINUM    2524-9325001

$9,000.00$1,000.009.000 EA INSTALL TYPE B SIGN    2524-9680250

$502,500.00$750,000.000.670 LS TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION    2525-0000100

$21,976.00$32,800.000.670 LS REMOVAL OF TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION    2525-0000120

$52,650.00$65,000.000.810 LS CONSTRUCTION SURVEY    2526-8285000

$9,327.15$17.50532.980 STA PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKING, 
WATERBORNE OR SOLVENT-BASED   

 2527-9263109

$9,898.74$27.00366.620 STA PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, HIGH-
BUILD WATERBORNE   

 2527-9263112

$108,692.55$135.00805.130 STA WET RETROREFLECTIVE REMOVABLE 
TAPE MARKINGS   

 2527-9263131

$1,400.00$175.008.000 EA PAINTED SYMBOL+LEGEND,HIBUILD 
WATERBORNE

 2527-9263138

$11,763.50$35.00336.100 STA PAVEMENT MARKINGS REMOVED    2527-9263180

Estimate Items Report
Version PCC Pavement - Replace

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-1

Page 6 of 8Report Date: 12/20/2022 1:26:07 PM

229

Item 22.



$3,800.00$200.0019.000 EA SAFETY CLOSURE    2528-2518000

$143,600.00$16.008,975.000 LF TEMPORARY BARRIER RAIL, CONCRETE    2528-8400048

$10,000.00$5,000.002.000 EA TEMPORARY FLOODLIGHTING LUMINAIRE    2528-8400157

$102,000.00$17,000.006.000 EA TEMPORARY TRAFFIC SIGNALS    2528-8400256

$60,750.00$75,000.000.810 LS TRAFFIC CONTROL    2528-8445110

$156,105.00$9.0017,345.000 LF TEMPORARY LANE SEPARATOR SYSTEM    2528-9109020

$0.00$1.000.000 CDAY PORTABLE DYNAMIC MESSAGE SIGN 
(PDMS)   

 2528-9290050

$162,000.00$200,000.000.810 LS MOBILIZATION    2533-4980005

$5,680.35$45.00126.230 STA MILLED SHOULDER RUMBLE STRIPS, PCC 
SURFACE   

 2548-0000200

$15,000.00$7,500.002.000 EA TEMP CRASH CUSHION, SEVERE USE (SU)    2551-0000130

$90,000.00$30,000.003.000 EA PERMANENT CRASH CUSHION, SEVERE 
USE (SU)   

 2551-0000230

$2,400.00$800.003.000 EA PERMANENT CRASH CUSHION SPARE 
PARTS KIT   

 2551-0000300

$6,960.00$8.00870.000 SQ SLOPE PROTECTION, WOOD EXCELSIOR 
MAT   

 2601-2638352

$9,185.40$2.104,374.000 LF SILT FENCE FOR DITCH CHECKS    2602-0000030

$11,200.00$400.0028.000 EA SILT BASINS    2602-0000050

$1,093.50$0.254,374.000 LF REMOVAL OF SILT FENCE OR SILT FENCE 
FOR DITCH CHECKS   

 2602-0000071

$8,400.00$300.0028.000 EA REMOVAL OF SILT BASINS    2602-0000080

$1,749.60$0.404,374.000 LF MAINTENANCE OF SILT FENCE OR SILT 
FENCE FOR DITCH CHECK   

 2602-0000101

$3,290.00$3.50940.000 LF PERIMETER AND SLOPE SEDIMENT 
CONTROL DEVICE, 12 IN. DIA.   

 2602-0000312

$564.00$0.60940.000 LF REMOVAL OF PERIMETER AND SLOPE OR 
DITCH CHECK SEDIMENT CONTROL 
DEVICE   

 2602-0000351

$6,400.00$400.0016.000 EA TEMPORARY INTAKE OR MANHOLE 
COVER ASSEMBLY   

 2602-0000400

$192.00$12.0016.000 EA MAINTENANCE OF TEMPORARY INTAKE 
OR MANHOLE COVER ASSEMBLY   

 2602-0000410

$272.00$17.0016.000 EA REMOVAL OF TEMPORARY INTAKE OR 
MANHOLE COVER ASSEMBLY   

 2602-0000420

$500.00$500.001.000 EA MOBILIZATIONS, EROSION CONTROL    2602-0010010

$1,000.00$1,000.001.000 EA MOBILIZATIONS, EMERGENCY EROSION 
CONTROL   

 2602-0010020

 City of Hudson SubTotal: $240,465.06
$23,208.00$8.002,901.000 CY EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY AND 

BORROW   
 2102-2710070

$12,600.00$9.001,400.000 CY TOPSOIL, STRIP, SALVAGE AND SPREAD    2105-8425015

Estimate Items Report
Version PCC Pavement - Replace

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-1

Page 7 of 8Report Date: 12/20/2022 1:26:07 PM

230

Item 22.



$35,818.70$47.00762.100 CY MODIFIED SUBBASE    2115-0100000

$10,224.00$30.00340.800 TON  GRANULAR SHOULDERS, TYPE A    2121-7425010

$925.00$250.003.700 STA SHOULDER CONSTRUCTION, EARTH    2123-7450000

$132,673.40$67.001,980.200 SY STANDARD OR SLIP FORM PORTLAND 
CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENT, CLASS C, 
CLASS 3 DURABILITY, 10.5 IN.   

 2301-1033105

$3,600.00$30.00120.000 TON  SURFACING, DRIVEWAY, CLASS A 
CRUSHED STONE   

 2315-8275025

$20,074.00$10.002,007.400 SY REMOVAL OF PAVEMENT    2510-6745850

$741.96$27.0027.480 STA PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, HIGH-
BUILD WATERBORNE   

 2527-9263112

$600.00$200.003.000 EA SAFETY CLOSURE    2528-2518000

Total: $13,604,679.04

Estimate Items Report
Version PCC Pavement - Replace

 Item Description Units Quantity Cost Used Item Number Suggested Cost Line TotalEstimator Notes

Project PRJ-21075 PHASE-1

Page 8 of 8Report Date: 12/20/2022 1:26:07 PM

231

Item 22.



232

Item 23.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 2/6/23 COUNCIL MEETING



233

Item 23.



234

Item 23.



235

Item 23.



236

Item 23.



237

Item 23.



238

Item 23.



239

Item 23.



240

Item 23.



241

Item 23.



242

Item 23.



243

Item 23.



244

Item 23.



245

Item 23.



246

Item 23.



247

Item 23.



248

Item 23.



249

Item 23.



250

Item 23.



251

Item 23.



252

Item 23.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 2/6/23 MEETING



253

Item 23.



254

Item 23.



255

Item 23.



256

Item 23.



257

Item 23.



258

Item 23.



259

Item 23.



260

Item 23.



261

Item 23.



262

Item 23.



263

Item 23.



264

Item 23.



265

Item 23.



266

Item 23.



267

Item 23.



268

Item 23.



269

Item 23.



270

Item 23.



271

Item 23.



272

Item 23.



273

Item 23.



274

Item 23.



275

Item 23.



276

Item 23.



277

Item 23.



278

Item 23.



279

Item 23.



280

Item 23.



281

Item 23.



282

Item 23.



283

Item 23.



284

Item 23.



285

Item 23.



286

Item 23.



287

Item 23.



288

Item 23.



289

Item 23.



290

Item 23.



291

Item 23.



292

Item 23.



293

Item 23.



294

Item 24.



295

Item 25.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular meeting of January 17, 2023
	230117MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH - Various Intersection Improvements
	1. Memo PH  - Various Intersection Improvements
	4. Estimate

	Item 3.	PH - Oak Park Sanitary Sewer Repair Project
	1. Memo PH - Oak Park Sanitary Sewer
	2. EOPC_2023-01-06_OakParkBlvd_Updated

	Item 4.	Ord. 3023-Rezoning Midway Business Park
	1. - CC staff Report on midway park zoning amendment 1-17-2022
	2. - ZoningLocationMap (1)
	3. - Lots where assisted living facility is proposed
	4. - Request Letter
	5. - 1994 Zoning Agreement
	6. - New Zoning Agreement.signed.12.7.22
	7_Ord-Rezoning-Midway Business Park RZ22-003

	Item 5.	Ord. 3024-Rezoning Midway 2nd Addition
	1. - CC staff Report on Rezone of Lovejoy Cul-de-sac
	2_ZoningLocationMap
	3_Ord-Rezoning-Lovejoy Cul-de-sac RZ22-005

	Item 6.	Standing Committee Minutes - 01/17/23
	01-17-23 Standing Committees Minutes

	Item 7.	Boards & Commission - Appointments
	2023-01-26_HPC_EtheredgeTimmer_Reppoint

	Item 8.	Departmental Monthly Report
	12  December 2022 DMR

	Item 9.	Retail alcohol
	2-6-23 Retail alcohol

	Item 11.	Mutual Release - Bostwick
	Mutual Release Agreement

	Item 12.	Courier Advertising Agreement Renewal
	WlooCourierAgreeMemo1-23
	Waterloo Courier Ad Agreement 2023-2024

	Item 13.	Amendment to Berry Dunn Contract
	Berry Dunn Admendment Council Memo
	First Amendment to Professional Services Agreement wiht Berry Dun 013123
	Berry Dunn City of CF SOW and Fee Schedule - Exhibit A - Amended 103123

	Item 14.	Hearst 2.0 Master Plan Contract
	1.Memo-Consulant Contract -OPN (002)
	2.B101-2017 - Owner-Architect_Hearst Center for the Arts_forMayorSignature
	3.Exhibit A - Hearst Contract
	4.OPN Certificate
	5.OPN-City of Cedar Falls_Hearts_ProfLiab
	6.gov imm

	Item 15.	PC-2 Site Plan Review for building #2 at 930 Viking Road
	1_CC staff report 930 Viking Rd building #2 SP
	2 ZoningLocationMap
	3 924 Viking Lot Plans - 1-19-23
	4. 924 Viking Landscaping Plan 1-30-23
	5 Building 2 Shell A3 - FOR CITY
	6 Dumpster Enclosure

	Item 16.	Owner Purchase Agreements-Main Street Reconstruction
	4218_001

	Item 17.	Warranty Deed - Main Street Reconstruction
	1. Warranty Deed Memo - Main Street Reconstruction
	2. Main Street Strip Map (2022-0523)
	Parcel 130 (720 Main St)

	Item 18.	Aureon License Agreement
	1.  Fiber Optic Memo - Aureon - The Quarters
	Aureon Fiber Optic agreement
	3. Exhibit A - Aureon the Quarters
	4. Exhibit B - signed Aureon-ICS(Cedar Falls)-2023-1-25

	Item 19.	Final - 2022 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project
	1. Final Out - 2022 CDBG Sanitary
	2. Retainage Release & Breakdown of Cost
	3. Performance Payment Maintenance Bond - Municipal Pipe Tool Company

	Item 20.	SA No. 4C - W. Viking Road Industrial Park Phase VI
	1. SA Memo - W Viking Industrial Park VI
	PSA_2023-01-18_SuppAgr4C

	Item 21.	SA No. 10B - Snyder-West Viking Road Reconstruction Project
	1. Memo_Viking Road Recon SA 10B
	2. PSA_SuppAgr10B_VikingRd

	Item 22.	PS&E - Hwy 58 & Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction
	1. PSE - Highway 58 and Ridgeway
	2. 07-0277-006_Cost Estimate
	3. 07-0277-008_Cost Estimate

	Item 23.	Bills and Claims
	1 Daily Invoices 020623
	2 Council Invoices 020623

	Item 24.	Referral-Bluebell Road
	Referral-Bluebell Road Parking

	Item 25.	Refer Snow Removal
	Referrals-PW Committee Items

	Bottom

